
SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Tuesday 5 July 2022 at 5.30 pm 

 
 

Council Chamber - Civic Suite 
 
 

 
COVID SAFETY PRECAUTIONS IN THE CIVIC SUITE 

 
When visiting the Civic Suite we encourage you to continue practicing the ‘hands, 
face, space, fresh air’ guidance and follow the measures below: 
 

 Undertake Lateral Flow Testing twice a week and preferably before attending a 
Council building to minimise the risk of bringing COVID-19 into the building. If 
you do test positive after being in a Council building, you must report this to 
enable appropriate action to be taken. 

 Support the NHS Test and Trace by using the QR Code 

 Where possible, open windows, doors and vents to allow fresh air to circulate. 

 If using equipment in Group Rooms or on the Members floor please clean 
workspace after use including your desk, chair, phone, keyboard, mouse, 
monitor and any shared spaces such as photocopiers. 

 We recommend you consider all colleagues and wear face coverings in all 
general communal areas and when walking around the building. 

 Continue with good hygiene standards by regularly washing your hands and 
using the hand sanitiser that is located around the buildings. 

To view the live meeting paste this link into your browser: 

https://solihull.public-i.tv/core/portal/home 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Council  
 

Public Document Pack

https://solihull.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


Disclosing Pecuniary Interests - What Must You Do? 

 

 (a) You must complete a declaration of your disclosable pecuniary interests, including those of 
your spouse/civil partner (or someone with whom you are living as such) and send it to the 
Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your election or appointment to the Council. 

(b)  When you attend a meeting of the Council, Cabinet, Scrutiny Board, Committee, Sub-
Committee or Joint Committee etc, and a matter arises in which you have a disclosable pecuniary 
interest, unless you have been granted a dispensation, you must: 

 Declare the interest if you have not already registered it 

 Not participate in any discussion or vote 

 Leave the meeting room until the matter has been dealt with 

 Give written notice of any unregistered interest to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of 
the meeting 

(c) If you are the Leader or a Cabinet Portfolio Holder you may not exercise any of your 
delegated powers as a single member in relation to a matter in which you have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or take any other step except to give written notice of any unregistered interest 
to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your becoming aware of the interest, or arrange for 
another person or body to deal with the matter. 

 

Disclosable Interest 

 

Description 

Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain by you 
or your partner. 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the Council) 
made or provided within 12 months of your declaration of interests in respect of any 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election 
expenses. 

Contracts Any contract between you or your partner (or a firm or body corporate in which you or 
your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities of which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest)) and the Council  
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Council and which gives you 
or your partner a right to occupy the land or receive income. 

Licences Any licence held by you or your partner (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 
area of the Council for a month or longer. 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge)— 
(a) the landlord is the Council; and 
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial interest i.e. a firm or 
body corporate in which you or your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities 
of which you or your partner has a beneficial interest. 

Securities Any beneficial interest held by you or your partner in securities of a body where— 
 
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of the 
Council; and 
(b) either— 

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of 
the total issued share capital of that body; or 
 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal 
value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner has a 
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
class. 

“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a 
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets 
Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a 
building society. 



 
  

SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN  
BOROUGH COUNCIL 



 
To: The Mayor and Members of Solihull 
Council 

 
NICK PAGE 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
Council House, Manor Square 
Solihull, West Midlands. B91 3QB 
Tel. 0121-704 6000  
 
Jane Game 
Tel: 0121 704 6051 
Email: jgame@solihull.gov.uk 
 
Date Tuesday 28 June 2022 
 

 
COUNCIL - Tuesday 5 July 2022 

 
AGENDA 

 

1.  APOLOGIES.  
 

2.  COUNCIL MINUTES (Pages 9 - 24) 
 

To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the previous Council meetings. 
 

3.  DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY OR CONFLICTING INTERESTS FROM 
MEMBERS  
 

To receive declarations of interest from Members in accordance with the Code 
of Conduct (Members are directed to the guidance sheet attached) 
 

4.  PETITIONS (5.35PM)  
 

To receive petitions from Members of the Council. 
 

5.  ANNOUNCEMENTS (5:40PM)  
 

To receive any announcements from the Mayor, Leader of the Council or 
Members of the Cabinet. 
 

6.  QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS UNDER STANDING ORDER 9 AND 12 
(5:45PM)  
 

To answer questions asked by residents of the Borough under Standing Order 9 
and to hear petitioners or deputations in accordance with Standing Order 12.  



 
7.  QUESTIONS UNDER STANDING ORDER 8 (30 MINUTES) (6:15PM)  

 

To answer questions asked under Standing Order 8 by Councillors (30 Minutes) 
 

8.  COUNCIL TOPIC OF DEBATE  
 

To deal with any Topic of Debate submitted. 
 

9.  NOTICE OF MOTION (6.45PM)  
 

To consider a motion which has been submitted, which is detailed below: 
 
From Cllr L McCarthy to be seconded by Cllr Thomas 
 
This Council notes that:  
 

 On 1 April 2022, Ofgem increased the energy price cap by 54 per cent. 
 In light of the increased energy price cap, the average standard tariff 

energy bill will increase by £693 per year. The average pre-pay meter 
energy bill will increase by £708 per year (Ofgem, 2022). 

 On 6 April 2022, the Government increased National Insurance by 1.25 
percentage points, which is projected to cost the average family in 
Solihull an additional £600 a year. 

 In 2021/22 Solihull Foodbanks distributed 2,201 food parcels (Trussell 
Trust, 2022) 

 Council notes the decision taken in June 2022 to impose a ‘Windfall Tax’ 
on the super-profits of oil and gas companies and to redistribute this as a 
one-off payment of £400 to households later this year. Council notes that 
the Windfall Tax was first proposed by Sir Ed Davey MP, leader of the 
Liberal Democrats, in May 2022. Though the Windfall Tax is welcome, 
Council believes it does not go nearly far enough and the Government 
should be doing much more to support local people through the Cost of 
Living crisis. 
 

This Council therefore declares a ‘Cost of Living Emergency’ and calls on the 
Government to: 

(i) Immediately reduce the standard rate of VAT from 20 per cent to 17.5 per 
cent for one year, saving the average household in Solihull a further 
£600 this year; 
 

(ii) Immediately restore the Universal Credit supplement of £20, which was 
cancelled by the Government in September 2021; 

 
(iii) Council instructs the Leader to write to the Secretary of State for Work 

and Pensions to express the Council’s demands for VAT to be cut to 
17.5%, for the re-introduction of the pensions triple-lock and for the 
£20 Universal Credit supplement to be restored; and 

 
(iv) Finally, Council calls for a local Cost-of-Living Emergency Summit, with 

stakeholders, including Citizens Advice, Food Banks, Local Trades 
Unions, and Chambers of Commerce and will invite local MPs to 
attend this hybrid meeting. 



 
10.  RECOMMENDATIONS FROM COMMITTEES (7:00PM)  

 

To deal with a number of recommendations from Committees. 
 
Audit Committee 20 June 2022 
Minute 9 Treasury Management Outturn Report 2021/22 (pages 182-183) 
 

RECOMMENDED: 
That Council approves the Treasury Management Outturn Report 2021/22, 
attached at Appendix A to the report. 

 
 
 
Governance Committee 23 June 2022 
Minute 9 Appointment of Honorary Alderman (page 198-199) 
 

RECOMMENDED: 
 
1.  That the nomination relating to Mr Stuart Davis be accepted, and 
 
2. A Special meeting of the Council be convened immediately prior to the 
scheduled meeting on 11th October 2022 to confer on Mr Davis the title 
of Honorary Alderman of the Borough of Solihull. 

 
11.  REPORTS FROM CABINET (7:10PM) (Pages 25 - 82) 

 

To receive a summary of decisions, reports from and to deal with any 
subsequent questions in relation to the following Cabinet Portfolios: 
 
a) Leader of the Council and Lead Member for the Economy  
(pages 25-33) 
 
b) Deputy Leader of the Council and Lead Member for Partnerships and 
Wellbeing including Solihull Health and Wellbeing Board minutes (pages 35-49) 
 
c) Cabinet Member for Resources (pages 51-56)* 
 
d) Cabinet Member for Communities and Leisure (pages 57-61)* 
 
e) Cabinet Member for Climate Change, Planning and Housing (pages 63-66)* 
 
f) Cabinet Member for Children and Education (pages 67-68)* 
 
g)  Cabinet Member for Environment and Infrastructure (pages 69-75) 
 
h) Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and Health (pages 77-81)   
 
 
(*Decision tables from these meetings which are held after the minute book has 
been published, will be circulated separately.) 
 

12.  MINUTES OF SCRUTINY BOARDS (7:40PM) (Pages 83 - 178) 



 

The minutes of the following Scrutiny Board are presented for information: 
 

a) Resources and Delivering Value (pages 83-103) 
 

b) Children’s Services, Education and Skills (pages 105-129) 
 
c) Stronger Communities and Neighbourhood Services (pages 131-144) 
 
d) Health and Adult Social Care (pages 145-159) 

 
e) Economic Development and Managed Growth (pages 161-178) 

 
 
 

13.  MINUTES OF COMMITTEES (7:40PM) (Pages 179 - 200) 
 

The minutes of the following Committees are presented for information: 
 

a) Audit Committee (pages 179-195) 
 

b) Governance Committee (pages 197-199) 
 
 

14.  QUESTIONS BY LEADERS OF POLITICAL GROUPS UNDER SO5 (2) (T) 
(7:45PM)  
 

To deal with any questions by Leaders of political groups to the Leader of the 
Council, a member of the Cabinet, a Chairman of a Committee, Board, Sub-
Committee or Task and Finish Group. 
 

15.  CHIEF EXECUTIVE REPORTS (7:50PM) (Pages 201 - 206) 
 

To receive the following report from the Chief Executive: 
 

a) Appointment of Director of Children’s Services (pages 201-202) 
To seek Council approval to designate an officer as the statutory Director 
of Children’s Services.   
 

b) Council Appointment – University Hospital  Birmingham NHS Foundation 
Trust (pages 203-205) 
Council is asked to appoint one member as a stakeholder governor to the 
Council of Governors of the University Hospital Birmingham NHS 
Foundation Trust 

 
16.  CHIEF EXECUTIVE URGENT MATTERS (7:55PM)  

 

The Chief Executive to report on any urgent matters. 
 

17.  QUESTIONS UNDER STANDING ORDER 8  
 

To answer any remaining questions not dealt with under item 7. 
 



18.  EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS  
 

That, pursuance of Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
press and public be now excluded from the meeting for the remainder of the 
business to be transacted, on the grounds that there would be disclosure to 
them of exempt information in terms of paragraph 3 of Part 9 of Schedule 12A to 
the said Act. 
 
 

19.  REPORT FROM THE DIRECTOR OF RESOURCES AND DEPUTY CHIEF 
EXECUTIVE (Pages 207 - 210) 
 

To receive a report from the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive: 
 

a) Treasury Management Investment Strategy – Loan Agreement  
 

20.  PRIVATE MINUTES (Pages 211 - 214) 
 

To receive the following private minutes for information: 
 

a) Resources and Delivering Value Scrutiny Board 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
COUNCIL - 5 April 2022 

 
 

 

1  

MINUTES 
 
 
Present: The Mayor Cllr K Meeson and Councillors: M Allen, K Allsopp, S Ashraf MBE, 

K Blunt, M Brain, J Burn, J Butler, S Caudwell, Y Clements, D Cole, I Courts, 
S Davis, T Dicicco, D Gibbin, M Gough, K Grinsell, R Grinsell, B Groom, 
K Hawkins, T Hodgson, P Hogarth MBE, Mrs D Holl-Allen MBE, R Holt, 
D Howell, R Long, A Mackenzie, A Mackiewicz, M McCarthy, M McLoughlin, 
N Moses, J O'Nyons, M Parker, D Pinwell, W Qais, A Rolf, A Sandison, 
R Sexton, S Sheshabhatter, R Sleigh OBE, K Thomas, P Thomas, J Tildesley 
and M Wilson 
 

  
  

 

1. APOLOGIES  
 
Apologies were received from Cllrs Hamilton *A Hodgson, L McCarthy *A Rebeiro, 
Macnaughton and Ryan. 
 
(* with the Mayor’s permission both Councillors joined remotely but did not vote on any 
items). 
 

2. COUNCIL MINUTES  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 24 February 2022 were presented for approval. 
 

RESOLVED: 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 24 February 2022 be approved. 

 

3. DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY OR CONFLICTING INTERESTS FROM 
MEMBERS  
 
None received. 
 

4. PETITIONS  
 
From Cllr Allen – We the undersigned call upon SMBC to install a pedestrian crossing 
on Hurdis Road opposite the entrance to Shirley Park. 

 
From Cllr Clements – Requesting from Elmdon Ward the renaming of Elmdon Park 
Beacon to The Queen Elizabeth II Platinum Jubilee. 
 
From Cllr Howell – Submitted a petition against HS2 Ltd applying for planning 
permission to run construction lorries through Balsall Common. 
 
From Cllr Sleigh OBE – We the undersigned call upon Solihull MBC to work with Royal 
Mail to return the post box to a location close to the original site at the junction of Land 
Lane/Elmdon Road, Marston Green B37 7BD. 
 
From Cllr Courts – We the undersigned residents of Hockley Heath oppose the 
allocation of any of the sites around Hockley Heath in the South Warwickshire Joint 
Development Plan and oppose any further erosion of the green belt in that area. 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 2



 
COUNCIL - 5 April 2022 

 
 

 

2  

From Cllr O’Nyons – We the undersigned, support the campaign to encourage Solihull 
Council to start footpath improvements around Barn Lane Recreation Ground to link up 
all the entrances/existing footpaths thereby providing a footpath around the entire park 
and grassed area. 

 
From Cllr M McCarthy – We the undersigned, residents of Castle Bromwich, call upon 
Solihull MBC and Birmingham CC Environmental Officers to agree the re-instatement 
of access to Tameside Drive HWRC for the residents of Castle Bromwich. 

 
From Cllr Rolf – We the undersigned residents of Blackfirs Lane, Marston Green call 
upon Solihull MBC to support us by providing signage at the entrance to Blackfirs 
Lane, to advise goods vehicle drivers that there is no access to Progress Way on 
Birmingham Business Park via Blackfirs Lane. 

 
From Cllr K Grinsell – Submitted a petition requesting the re-instatement of the Minor 
Injuries Unit at Solihull Hospital. 8,029 people had signed the petition. 

 
From Cllr K Thomas – Submitted a petition on behalf of residents of Solihull calling for 
more community police on our streets and a fully functioning police station in the Town 
Centre. 

 
From Cllr Long- Submitted a petition from residents of Elmdon regarding the lack of 
community centre services. 
 

5. ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
Election Campaign Compact 
The Mayor invited all Group Leaders and independent Members to sign the election 
campaign compact. 
 
First Magazine for Councillors 
The Mayor advised of two articles from Solihull Councillors which appeared in the 
latest First Magazine for Councillors. 
 
Nomination for Mayor 
The Leader advised Members that he would be nominating Cllr Ken Meeson as Mayor 
for the next municipal year. 
 

6. QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS UNDER STANDING ORDER 9 AND 12  
 
No questions or deputations were received. 
 

7. QUESTIONS UNDER STANDING ORDER 8 (30 MINUTES)  
 
Cllr Rebeiro to Councillor Holt Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children, Education and 
Skills 

 

I acknowledge the proactive work of the Council in preparations for supporting 

Ukrainian refugees to this Borough. How advanced is the Council’s engagement with 

the Borough’s Education sector in preparation for the provision of appropriate 

education and special needs support for young Ukrainian refugees? 

Page 10



 
COUNCIL - 5 April 2022 

 
 

 

3  

The Cabinet Member responded that Education services were working with the 
settlement team to ensure effective planning for all children coming into the borough. 
We have already seen significant numbers of children moving into Solihull through the 
Hong Kong repatriation scheme and have worked with many schools to increase their 
capacity so all children have access to a school place; and will continue that approach. 
Where children with special needs move into Solihull we will be carrying out the 
necessary assessments to determine the most appropriate provision for them.  
 
Cllr Rebeiro questioned whether there had been a dialogue with the Schools Strategic 
Accountability Board regarding this matter. The Cabinet Member assured Members 
that Officers had been in communication with many agencies, including the DfE. The 
Leader also advised that he had, had a meeting with the refugee minister regarding 
schools and education and this issue was very much on his radar. 
 

Cllr Clements to Cllr Mackiewicz Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Climate Change, 
Planning and Housing 

 
I noticed in the Cabinet Member's report that a part of Elmdon has been included in the 
net zero neighbourhood’s pilot. Can the Cabinet Member provide more details? 
 
The Cabinet Member advised that SMBC had been successful in applying to the 
WMCA to include Elmdon in its Sustainable Warmth Programme for 2022/23. Several 
Local Authorities submitted applications but SMBC and Coventry City Council were the 
two preferred partners. Elmdon was put forward because it is an area with particularly 
high levels of fuel poverty, based on the energy efficiency of properties and household 
income. WMCA will be working with SMBC to put in place a range of retrofit measures 
that can improve the energy efficiency of properties in the area, as well as connect 
residents to energy advice and help with fuel bills. Further details can be found in the 
WMCA press release concerning the delivery of their Sustainable Warmth Programme 
An additional three hundred homes in the West Midlands to receive deep retrofit from 
WMCA. 
 
SMBC has also been successful in its own application for Sustainable Warmth funding 
and will be working with the Midlands Energy Hub to deliver a £1.265 million 
programme in the borough. This will see up to 150 low income, fuel poor households 
receiving energy efficiency improvements. The scheme will be open to households 
across the borough but with some directed work in fuel poverty hotspots such as 
Chelmsley Wood and Shirley. 
 
The Council is also in the process of completing its proposal to include Chelmsley 
Wood in WMCA’s Net Zero Neighbourhood programme. The outcome of this process 
won’t be known until July but if the application is successful then it would bring 
additional investment and support into the neighbourhood covering housing, 
community spaces, skills and mobility, for instance. 
 
Cllr Clements questioned how those who would benefit from the investment would be 
informed and what the time scale was for works. The Cabinet Member advised that a 
communication and engagement plan had been developed and this would go live after 
the local election. 
 

Cllr L McCarthy to Cllr Rolf Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Stronger and Safer 
Communities 
 

Page 11

https://www.wmca.org.uk/news/an-additional-three-hundred-homes-in-the-west-midlands-to-receive-deep-retrofit-from-wmca/
https://www.wmca.org.uk/news/an-additional-three-hundred-homes-in-the-west-midlands-to-receive-deep-retrofit-from-wmca/


 
COUNCIL - 5 April 2022 

 
 

 

4  

Can the Cabinet Member please tell me how many fixed penalty notices for littering 
and how many prosecutions for fly tipping have been issued or taken place over the 
21/22 financial year please? 
 
In the absence of Cllr McCarthy the Cabinet Member undertook to provide a written 
response. The written response is detailed below: 
 
Enforcement activity particularly for fly tipping and waste crime is complex and involves 
prosecutions for serious offences involving organised crime for instance and £400 
fixed penalty notices for the less serious offences such as individual bags of household 
rubbish: 
 

 6 - £400 fixed penalty notices issued for fly tipping.  

 1 caution letter administered for household duty of care breach.  

 2 x fly tipping prosecutions – The first trial is this Friday 8th April two 
defendants. The second trial has been adjourned and the defendant has 
agreed to a formal caution that is being administered on Wednesday 6th April. 

 Pending Prosecutions – 1 case being submitted to Legal for authority to 
summons. 

 1 vehicle seized for fly tipping later found to be stolen at time of offence. 

 2 Illegal Waste sites used for the depositing of waste – Stop Letters served and 
Environment Agency now involved with joint enforcement working taking place. 
One of the fly tipping prosecutions is in relation to this site. 

 2 Multi Agency Checks carried out re Waste Carriers – 1 authorised waste 
carrier found to be overweight – excess weight removed and Warning letter 
administered. 

 5 ongoing investigations with viable lines of enquiry – Interviews under caution 
to be arranged.  
 

The new contract for the environmental enforcement patrolling officers is now fully up 
and running. The enforcement staff have mainly been targeted around the borough in 
areas such as Crooks Lane and Hobbs Moat. Where it has been identified that there 
are issues. The officers are highly visible and present a distinct deterrent to litterers 
and have become well known in those areas. Because they are so visible and the 
number of people out at any one time is smaller than in say the town centre, 
witnessing littering taking place is hard. This combined with the reduction of smoking 
on the streets due to the adoption of vapes means that obtaining fixed penalty notices 
is extremely difficult. The presence of the officers, engagement with the communities 
they visit, as well as their deterrent effect is all highly beneficial however. 
Consequently, so far one fixed penalty notice for littering has been served. 
 
With the potential adoption of the Environmental Crime Strategy post-election the 
number of littering fixed penalty notices and fly tipping enforcement will be reported 
regularly. 
 
 
Cllr Pinwell to Cllr Mackiewicz Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Climate Change, Planning 
and Housing 

 
I was dismayed to see the appeal decision upheld at the Wyndley Garden Centre in 
Knowle.  This could send a dangerous precedent. Can the Cabinet Member comment 
on what the Council response will be? 
 

Page 12



 
COUNCIL - 5 April 2022 

 
 

 

5  

The Cabinet Member advised that following the decision of Planning Committee to 
refuse the proposal, which in itself followed the recommended refusal of our officers, I 
share Cllr Pinwell’s dismay with the decision made by the Planning Inspectorate. In 
terms of how we address this decision, I can confirm that we are currently seeking 
legal advice regarding our options around challenging the decision.  
 
Cllr Pinwell asked whether there was any prospect of constraining the growth of 
retirement facilities. The Cabinet Member referenced the new draft local plan and P4 
(e) which dealt with older person’s accommodation. 
 
Cllr Pinwell queried whether the measures in the draft local plan would address the 
issue that many of the retirement properties were left empty for some time. The 
Cabinet Member commented that this was a national issue. 
 
Cllr K Thomas to Cllr Courts Leader of the Council 

 
It’s been reported in the media about one of our MPs’ membership of the anti-climate 
change group. Will their views and lack of support have any impact on the Council's 
delivery of its net zero plan? 
 
The Leader of the Council advised that it has recently been confirmed by two 
independent organisations, we are one of the leading local authorities when it comes 
to the climate change and net-zero agenda. At his last decision session, Cllr 
Mackiewicz received an update on the progress we are making with the NZAP and 
approved the timetables for reporting, so that all members can see the positive 
improvements that we are delivering, and that we will continue to deliver.  
 
The Leader confirmed that local MP’s were supporting the Council’s plans on climate 
change and he went on to detail what work the Council was doing. The Leader also 
referenced the fact that Cllr Thomas had recently voted against the Council’s carbon 
budget. 
 
Cllr Thomas questioned whether in future years the carbon change budget could be 
voted on separately. The Leader advised this was unlikely, and rather than vote 
against Cllr Thomas could have abstained. 
 
Cllr O’Nyons to the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Environment and Infrastructure 
 
Would the Cabinet Member please help me find a solution and fix to the flooding which 
often occurs at Olton Jubilee Park. As the footpath beside Hatchford Brook 
regularly becomes impassable in places after heavy rainfall rendering it unfit for 
use especially over the winter months. 
 
The Cabinet Member advised that he was pleased to advise that our Highway 
Infrastructure officers are currently finalising a design to alleviate the flooding at this 
location and that this is in our programme for delivery this financial year (2022/23), 
working in partnership with our parks team to deliver wider environmental benefits 
alongside the flooding improvements. 
 
 
Cllr L McCarthy to Cllr Sleigh OBE Cabinet Portfolio for Resources 
 
What is the Council doing to support the hospitality industry as it tries to recover and 
rebuild after the impact of Covid? 

Page 13



 
COUNCIL - 5 April 2022 

 
 

 

6  

 
In the absence of Cllr McCarthy the Cabinet Member undertook to provide a written 
response. The written response is detailed below: 
That since the onset of COVID, the hospitality sector has been supported through 
business grant schemes and through a series of interventions to build the sustainability 
of businesses. These have been both place-based and specific to individual 
businesses.  Support has included:  
 

 £27m has been distributed to 1,976 businesses through the Small Business 

Grants Fund and the Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Business Grants Fund. 

 £1.285m has been paid out in grants to 317 businesses as part of the Omicron 

Hospitality and Leisure Business Grant.  A further £387,000 of discretionary 

funding has been awarded to 131 businesses that were not eligible for the main 

Omicron grant.  

 For the current financial year 2022/23, the Council has recently implemented 

the Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Business Rates Relief Scheme.  This gives 

50% relief to business rates bills for those businesses in the retail, hospitality 

and leisure sectors.  

 £384,000 received through the Reopening the High Street and the Welcome 

Back Fund has been allocated. 

It is important to note that the Council has implemented a number of discretionary 
grant schemes that have provided significant financial support to local businesses.  
 
Over the course of the pandemic, the Council has engaged in street dressing, 
commissioned footfall counters to support future funding bids, made public realm 
improvements, supported local campaigns and events, and developed heritage trails.  
These activities have been promoted through the Visit Solihull webpage and 
associated social media channels. 
 
We are also promoting the hospitality sector through the recent Solihull Going for the 
Win in 2022 event to help businesses get the best from the Commonwealth Games.  
Future activity includes promoting the opportunities for hospitality from the Queen’s 
Baton Relay in the Borough. 
 
More broadly, the Council has committed funds to recruit staff to support the 
development of Visit Solihull within the economic development team.  This will allow 
the continuation of some of the activities previously funded through the High Streets 
Reopening Fund, which will directly benefit the hospitality sector. The newly 
commissioned economic strategy, due to be completed by September, will set out 
actions to further support the sector. 
 

8. COUNCIL TOPIC OF DEBATE  
 
No Topic of Debate was received. 
 

9. NOTICE OF MOTION  
 
Motion from Councillor Courts: 
 
“The unlawful invasion of Ukraine by the Russian Federation and the escalating 
humanitarian crisis facing the Country, represents a direct threat to peace and security 
in Europe.  

Page 14



 
COUNCIL - 5 April 2022 

 
 

 

7  

This Council Resolves to:- 
 
(i) condemn unequivocally the unprovoked Russian invasion of Ukraine 
and stands in solidarity with the people of Ukraine and their families and 
friends, including those local to Solihull; 
 
(ii) Stand ready to provide support to those affected by this War and will 
open our arms to people displaced and affected. 
 
(iii) Work with and support the efforts of our local communities to provide 
help and comfort to those in need.” 

 
Councillor Mackiewicz seconded the motion. 
 
The following amendment was proposed by Cllr Caudwell with the addition of (iv) 
below and seconded by Cllr Burn. 
 
(iv) Call on the Home Office to follow the example of many other countries and drop 
the requirement for Ukrainian nationals to have completed visa applications before 
being eligible for evacuation to the United Kingdom 
 
The amendment was put and lost.  
 

Council RESOLVED: 
 
(i) To condemn unequivocally the unprovoked Russian invasion of Ukraine and 
stands in solidarity with the people of Ukraine and their families and friends, 
including those local to Solihull; 
 
(ii) To stand ready to provide support to those affected by this War and will 
open our arms to people displaced and affected; and 
 
(iii) To work with and support the efforts of our local communities to provide 
help and comfort to those in need. 

 
 

Motion from Cllr L McCarthy –in the absence of Cllr L McCarthy the motion was 
moved by Cllr K Tomas and seconded by Cllr Brain 
 
“Council recognises the contribution that health care workers have made during the 
pandemic and beyond. Council is committed to ensuring that all residents have access 
to appropriate medical care at all times and recognises the impact that the loss of 
services in Solihull in recent years has had on residents.  
 
Council notes that: 
 
a)  Due to high demand and ongoing technical issues, many residents are unable to 
secure appointments with their local GPs. 
b) The loss of the A&E, Maternity Unit, and Ambulance Station at Solihull Hospital has 
left a gap in care provision for residents of the borough. 
c) Ambulance response times in the region are consistently missing their target in 
recent months. 
d) There is concern that the Minor Injuries Unit has not yet returned in its full capacity 
to Solihull Hospital. 

Page 15



 
COUNCIL - 5 April 2022 

 
 

 

8  

 
Council Resolves to: 
 

(i) Request an extraordinary scrutiny meeting to look at the issues around GP 
access for patients; 
. 

(ii) Ask the Leader of the Council or the Chief Executive to write to WMAS 
encouraging the re-opening of the ambulance station at Solihull Hospital; 
 

(iii) Ask the Leader of the Council or the Chief Executive to write to all relevant 
partners requesting the full reinstatement of the Minor Injuries Unit at 
Solihull Hospital.” 

 
 

The following amendment was proposed by Cllr Dr Sexton and seconded by Cllr Long. 
 
“Council recognises the contribution that health care workers have made during the 
pandemic and beyond. Council is committed to ensuring that all residents have access 
to appropriate medical care at all times and recognises the impact that the loss of 
services in Solihull in recent years has had on residents.  
 
Council notes that: 
 

a) Due to high demand and ongoing technical issues, many residents are unable 
to secure appointments with their local GPs. 

b) There is concern that the Minor Injuries Unit has not yet returned in its full 
capacity to Solihull Hospital. 

 
Council Resolves to: 
 

(i) Request an extraordinary scrutiny meeting to look at the issues around GP 
access for patients; 
 

(ii) Ask the Leader of the Council or the Chief Executive to write to all relevant 
partners requesting the full reinstatement of the Minor Injuries Unit at 
Solihull Hospital.” 

 
The amendment was accepted by the proposer of the Motion. 
 
The Mayor asked Council to confirm whether they wanted to debate the motion as 
amended of refer it on.  
 
Council agreed to refer the motion on to the Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny 
Board for their consideration in the next municipal year. 
 

10. RECOMMENDATION FROM CABINET - DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL 
REPORT 2021:  COUNTING THE COST OF COVID  
 
Council were invited to receive and approve the Director of Public Health’s annual 
statutory report the topic of the report was the impact of and response to Covid-19 in 
Solihull. 
 

Page 16



 
COUNCIL - 5 April 2022 

 
 

 

9  

RESOLVED: 
That the report and next steps that have been set out as part of recovering from 
and living with Covid-19 be approved. 

 

11. REPORT FROM THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL -THE COUNCIL PLAN 2020 - 
2025  
 
Council approval was sought for the Solihull Council Plan, 2022/23 update.  
 

RESOLVED: 
That the Solihull Council Plan, 2022/23 update be approved. 

 

12. RECOMMENDATIONS FROM COMMITTEES  
 
Council received three recommendations from Cllr Hogarth the Chairman of the 
Governance Committee: – 
 
Audit Committee Terms of Reference 
 

RESOLVED: 
That the revised Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee attached as 
Appendix A to the minutes be approved. 

 
Financial Regulations Update – March 2022 
 

RESOLVED: 
That the revised Financial Regulations and other associated guidance 
documents as set out in Appendices A and B to the report be approved with the 
revised Regulations to be enforced from April 2022.  
 

 
Independent Remuneration Panel Review of Members' Allowances 
 

RESOLVED: 
That the Members’ Allowances Scheme for 2022-23, as attached at Appendix 
B to the minutes be approved. 

 

13. REPORTS FROM CABINET  
 
Leader of the Council and Lead Member for the Economy  
 
The Leader of the Council presented his report covering decisions of Cabinet made on 
10 February and 10 March 2022, including an update on the Economic Strategy 
Portfolio he covered and highlighted a number of issues, including options for a police 
station in Solihull. 
 
Deputy Leader of the Council and Lead Member for Partnership and Wellbeing 
including Solihull Health and Wellbeing Board minutes  
 
The Deputy Leader presented the minutes of the Solihull Health and Wellbeing Board 
1 March 2022 and highlighted a number of issues. 
 
Cabinet Member for Resources  
 

Page 17



 
COUNCIL - 5 April 2022 

 
 

 

10  

The Cabinet Member presented decisions taken at meetings held on 22 February and 
29 March 2022. 
 
 Cabinet Member for Stronger and Safer Communities  
 
The Cabinet Member presented decisions taken at the meeting held on 22 February 
2022 and highlighted a number of issues. 
 
Cabinet Member for Climate Change, Planning and Housing  
 
The Cabinet Member presented decisions taken at the meetings held on 15 February 
and 23 March 2022. 
 
Cabinet Member for Children Education and Skills  
 
The Cabinet Member presented decisions taken at the meeting held on 17 February 
2022. 
 
Cllr Thomas questioned whether the Cabinet Member was satisfied with the quality of 
the consultation that had been undertaken in relation to Summerfield Education 
Centre, given the concerns raised by Lyndon School. The Cabinet Member advised he 
would discuss this with officers. 
 
Cabinet Member for Environment and Infrastructure 
  
The Cabinet Member presented decisions taken at the meetings held on 14 February 
and 17 March 2022 and highlighted a number of issues. 
 
Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and Health  
 
The Cabinet Member presented decisions taken at the meetings held on 28 February 
and 29 March 2022 and highlighted a number of issues. 
 
Cabinet Member for Leisure Tourism and Sport  
 
The Cabinet Member presented decisions taken at the meeting held on 16 March 
2022. 
 
Cllr Gough questioned whether Solihull Shining Stars programme was open to all 
schools. The Cabinet Member advised that the programme was targeted based on 
need. Cllr Dr Sexton questioned how programmes such as eat well move more would 
be effected by the recent announcement to cuts in funding. The Cabinet Member 
advised this area would be monitored and reviewed across all programmes, but she 
was not anticipating any adverse impact for the next year. Cllr K Thomas queried 
whether Bookfest would be returning next year, the Cabinet Member hoped it was. 
 

14. MINUTES OF SCRUTINY BOARDS  
 
The minutes of the following Scrutiny Boards were presented for information: 
 

a) Resources and Delivering Value 1 March 2022 
 

b) Stronger Communities and Neighbourhood Services 16 February and 9 
March 2022 

Page 18



 
COUNCIL - 5 April 2022 

 
 

 

11  

 
c) Health and Adult Social Care 23 February and 14 March 2022 
 
d) Children’s Services, Education and Skills 3 March 2022 

 
e) Economic Development and Managed Growth 8 March 2022 

 

15. MINUTES OF COMMITTEES  
 
The minutes of the following Committees were presented for information: 
 

a) HS2 Implementation Advisory Group – 7 March 2022 
 

b) Audit Committee 14 February and 14 March 2022 
 

c) Remuneration Committee 21 March 2022 
 

d) Governance Committee 29 March 2022 
 

16. JOINT ARRANGEMENTS AND EXTERNAL ORGANISATIONS  
 
The Minutes of the WMCA Overview and Scrutiny 10 January 2022 were noted. 
 

17. QUESTIONS BY LEADERS OF POLITICAL GROUPS UNDER SO5 (2) (T)  
 
There were no questions. 
 

18. CHIEF EXECUTIVE URGENT MATTERS  
 
There were no urgent matters to report. 
 

19. QUESTIONS UNDER STANDING ORDER 8  
 
There were no outstanding questions to deal with. 
 

20. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS  
 
That, pursuance of Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and 
public be now excluded from the meeting for the remainder of the business to be 
transacted, on the grounds that there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information in terms of paragraph 3 of Part 9 of Schedule 12A to the said Act. 
 
 

21. MINUTES  
 
The following sets of minutes were received for information: 
 

a) Resources and Delivering Value Scrutiny Board 1 March 2022 
 

b) Audit Committee 14 February and 14 March 2022 
 

c) Stronger Communities & Neighbourhood Services Scrutiny Board 9 March 
2022 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



 
COUNCIL - 17 May 2022 

 
 

 

1  

MINUTES 

 
 
Present: Councillors: M Allen, M Brain, Burrow, J Butler, Carthew, S Caudwell, 

Y Clements, I Courts, T Dicicco, Donnelly, Feeney, Gethen, D Gibbin, 
M Gough, K Grinsell, R Grinsell, B Groom, J Hamilton, K Hawkins, 
A Hodgson, P Hogarth MBE, Mrs D Holl-Allen MBE, R Holt, D Howell, 
R Long, A Mackenzie, A Mackiewicz, K Macnaughton, L McCarthy, 
M McLoughlin, K Meeson, N Moses, J O'Nyons, M Parker, D Pinwell, 
W Qais, A Rebeiro, J Ryan, Rymer, A Sandison, R Sexton, 
S Sheshabhatter, Mrs G Sleigh, R Sleigh OBE, K Thomas, J Tildesley, 
Wilson and M Wilson 
 

  
 

  
  

 
1. PRAYERS  

 
Prayers were offered by the Mayor’s Chaplain. 
 

2. APOLOGIES  
 
Apologies were received from Cllrs Adeyemo, Ashraf and M McCarthy. 
 

3. ELECTION OF MAYOR  
 
On the motion of Councillor Mrs Holl-Allen MBE, seconded by Councillor 
Courts, it was: 
 
 RESOLVED: 

That Councillor Ken Meeson be Mayor of the Metropolitan Borough of 
Solihull for the year 2022/23. 
 
(Councillor K Meeson made and subscribed before the Chief Executive, 
the Declaration of Office.) 

 
4. MAYORAL ADDRESS  

 
The Mayor expressed his thanks to the Council for his re-election. He also 
addressed Council on the forthcoming municipal year. 
 

5. INVESTITURE OF THE MAYORS CONSORT  
 
The Mayor invested his wife Annette, as Mayoress with her badge and chain. 
 

6. APPOINTMENT OF DEPUTY MAYOR  
 
On the motion of Councillor K Grinsell, seconded by Councillor Gethen, it was: 

Page 21



 
COUNCIL - 17 May 2022 

 
 

 

2  

 
RESOLVED: 
That Councillor Tildesley be Deputy Mayor of the Metropolitan Borough 
of Solihull for the year 2022/23. 

 
7. APPOINTMENT OF THE MAYOR'S CHAPLAIN  

 
The Mayor informed Council that his Chaplain for the year would be Caz 
Hague. 
 

8. RETURNING OFFICERS REPORT  
 
The Chief Executive, as Returning Officer, presented his report for the elections 
held on 5 May 2022. 
 

RESOLVED: 
That the Returning Officers report for the election held on 5 May 2022 be 
received. 

 
9. MEMBERSHIP OF POLITICAL GROUPS  

 
The Chief Executive presented a report on the membership of political groups 
on the Council following the 2022 local elections. 
 

RESOLVED: 
That in accordance with the Local Government (Committee and Political 
Groups) Regulations 1990 the membership of political groups on the 
Council following the 2022 local elections be noted. 

 
10. APPOINTMENT OF THE CABINET  

 
The Leader of the Council informed Council that the Cabinet would comprise of 
the following Members: 
 

 Councillor Ian Courts – Leader of the Council, Lead Member for the 
Economy; 

 Councillor Karen Grinsell – Deputy Leader of the Council, Lead Member 
for Partnerships and Wellbeing; 

 Councillor Ken Hawkins – Environment and Infrastructure Portfolio; 

 Councillor Bob Sleigh OBE – Resources Portfolio; 

 Councillor Diane Howell – Communities and Leisure Portfolio; 

 Councillor Michael Gough – Children & Education Portfolio; 

 Councillor Tony Dicicco – Adult Social Care & Health Portfolio; and  

 Councillor Any Mackiewicz – Climate Change, Planning & Housing 
Portfolio 

 
11. DETERMINATION OF BOARDS AND COMMITTEES  

 

Page 22



 
COUNCIL - 17 May 2022 

 
 

 

3  

The Chief Executive informed Council of the proposed Boards, Committees, 
Sub-Committees and Advisory Group to be appointed for the 2022/23 Municipal 
Year, as follows: 
 
Scrutiny Boards 
Resources and Delivering Value Scrutiny Board  

Children’s Services, Education & Skills Scrutiny Board  

Economic Development and Managed Growth Scrutiny Board  

Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Board  

Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee   

Stronger Communities and Neighbourhood Services Scrutiny Board  

Committees, Sub-Committees and Advisory Group 

Governance Committee  

Planning Committee  

Remuneration Committee  

Licensing Committee  

Conservation Advisory Committee  

Audit Committee  

Licensing Sub-Committee  

HS2 Implementation Advisory Group 

RESOLVED: 

(i) That the Boards, Committees, Sub-Committees and HS2 
Implementation Advisory Group referred to above be approved for 
the 2022/23 municipal year; and 

(ii) That having regard to the wishes of representatives of the political 
groups in accordance with the Local Government and Housing 
Act 1989 the seats on Boards, Committees, Sub-committees and 
Advisory Group be allocated to Members as set out in the tabled 
document and in light of the decisions just made. 

 
12. APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES  

 
Council was invited to make appointments to Outside Bodies. 
 

Page 23



 
COUNCIL - 17 May 2022 

 
 

 

4  

RESOLVED: 
That the appointments to all Outside Bodies be approved as set out in 
the attached document to the minutes. 

Page 24



FULL COUNCIL  

5 JULY 2022 

REPORT OF THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 

1. COUNCIL UPDATE REGARDING CABINET  

1.1 Purpose of Report 

To advise Council of the main decisions taken at the Cabinet meetings on 19 May 
and 16 June 2022. 

1.2 Background 

1.2.1 This report highlights some of those decisions which have been made, but not all. 
Members wishing to view all decisions made can find these at 
http://eservices.solihull.gov.uk/mgInternet/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1 

1.2.2 Attached to this report are the lists of decisions made. 

1.3 Decision – 19 May 2022 

1.3.1 Energy Rebate Discretionary Scheme – Cabinet reviewed and approved the 
Council’s Energy Bill Rebate Discretionary Scheme policy, intended to provide support 
to households not eligible for the main council tax rebate scheme. Eligibility criteria 
were discussed and agreed, with payments to be made in two phases. 

1.3.2 It was agreed that the Cabinet Member for Resources in conjunction with the Director 
of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive be authorised to make any changes 
necessary to the policy to ensure all the funding for the discretionary scheme is 
allocated within the specified time frame. 

1.4 Decisions – 16 June 2022 

1.4.1 Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021/22 Final Outturn (31 March 2022) – 
Members were provided with the Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) financial 
position as at 31 March 2022 incorporating the revenue, capital, reserves and Covid-
19 final outturns.  

1.4.2 Approval was given to the 2020/21 General Fund Revenue Accounts final position, 
including the endorsement of budget movements undertaken in the final quarter. 
Members approved contributions to the Children’s Services Risk Reserve, the 
Severance Reserve, the Homelessness Reserve and to three Dedicated Schools 
Grant Reserves. 

1.4.3 Approval was also given to the creation of a new Hospital Discharge Reserve within 
the Adult Social Care and Health portfolio and the creation of a new Fairer Futures 
Fund Reserve as well as contributions to the Budget Strategy Reserve.   

1.4.4 The re-allocation of the Placemaking Fund Reserve to a Planting for the Future 
Reserve was approved and it was agreed for the annual budgeted contribution to the 
Recycling Projects Reserve to be removed.  

1.4.5 The continuation of the Budget Strategy Group for the 2023/24 Budget Framework and 
MTFS for 2023/24 to 2025/26 was endorsed. 

1.4.6 Risk Management Information Report – Cabinet was provided with an annual 
update on the Council’s corporate risk register. It was noted that the total number of 
corporate risks had dropped to 15, this included 3 corporate net red risks. Members 
noted that the net risk levels for the risks relating to financial pressures on Children’s 
services, due to unprecedented demand, and risk to MTFS delivery had increased 
compared to the last year. Page 25

Agenda Item 11

http://eservices.solihull.gov.uk/mgInternet/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1


This page is intentionally left blank



FULL COUNCIL   

5TH JULY 2022 

REPORT OF THE LEADER  

1. COUNCIL UPDATE ON THE ECONOMIC STRATEGY RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE 

LEADER’S PORTFOLIO 

1.1 Purpose of Report  

To inform Council of matters of interest in relation to the economic strategy responsibilities of 
my portfolio.  

1.2 Economic Recovery & Growth  

1.1.1 Since my last report, the global economic recovery has slowed.  The OECD project that 

global GDP growth will be around 3% this year including a UK growth rate of 3.64% which is 

less than half the estimated UK growth rate last year of 7.4% (source: ONS). 

1.1.2 Despite challenging global economic conditions, Solihull’s economy and assets have shown 

strong signs of recovery with 14 inward investments into the Borough recorded during the 

first three months of the year including significant investments at Birmingham Business Park 

and Blythe Valley Park, a return to activity at the NEC and Airport, and recovery in footfall 

levels in Touchwood.    

1.1.3 During the current quarter, the Borough has recorded a large, as yet unnamed, government 

transaction of over 37,000 sq.ft. on Birmingham Business Park, restaurant group Boparan 

took space at Trinity Park for a Midlands training hub, and orthodontic manufacturing 

specialists, Align Technology expanded on Birmingham Business Park.  

1.1.4 The number of people claiming unemployment benefit in the Borough has continued to fall – 

to a rate of 3.6% in May (compared to 5.0% in the West Midlands and 3.9% in England).  

However, the number of claimants remains +27% above pre-pandemic levels – 6% above in 

North Solihull where the rate is 8.3%, and 1% above amongst young people aged 18 to 24.  

1.1.5 We continue to support unemployed residents to move into employment and training.  Since 
the Recruitment and Training Centre reopened last year, we have supported 200 
unemployed young people, 90 of whom have moved into employment or training.  We have 
also supported 76, mainly unemployed, residents considering self-employment, seven of 
whom have since set up in business.  
 

1.1.6 We continue to support local businesses, and have developed a programme of ‘bite-sized’ 

business support and networking events with the Growth Hub, FSB and College on topics 

including business planning, “scale-up”, skills and apprenticeships, access to finance, 

procurement and payment terms.  We are linking tourism businesses into the “Getting 

Games Ready” training programme and supporting ‘drop in’ information sessions on the 

Games for businesses in Solihull Town Centre, Knowle and Chelmsley Wood town centres.  

We recently exhibited at the Solihull Chamber ‘Expo’ event, joining over 50 local businesses 

in showcasing their services and supporting local B2B (business to business) opportunities.    

1.1.7 We continue to progress implementation of the Solihull Town Centre masterplan and to work 
with our partners to support our towns and local centres, including progressing the 
implementation of the Shirley Economic Plan.   

Page 27



 
 

1.1.8 Key milestones continue to be achieved to bring forward development opportunity at the 
UKC Hub.  These include the recent appointment of VINCI Construction UK to design and 
build the multi-storey car parks on the HS2 Interchange site, which will enable land release 
for major development on the site. 
  

1.1.9 Work is underway to develop a new economic strategy for the Borough aligned to our 
objectives for inclusive, green growth and net zero, including engagement with key 
stakeholders and our local and regional partners.    
 

1.1.10 In summary, the Council continues to work with our partners to support our residents and 
businesses and to bring forward our plans for inclusive growth that at the same time as 
reducing the Borough’s carbon emissions, including by taking advantage of major 
investments including HS2 and the Commonwealth Games.   
 
 

 

 

Page 28



Decisions taken at the Cabinet  
Meeting held on Thursday 19 May 2022 

 
In attendance Councillors: I Courts, K Grinsell, T Dicicco, K Hawkins, A Mackiewicz, 
R Sleigh OBE, M Gough, D Howell and Opposition Spokespersons M McLoughlin 

 
 

Title Decision Taken 

Apologies Cllr L McCarthy Liberal Democrat Group Leader and opposition 
spokesperson attended the meeting virtually with the Leaders 
permission. 
 

Declarations of 
Interest 

None received. 

Questions and 
Deputations 

None received. 
 

Minutes RESOLVED: 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 7 April 2022 be 
received for information. 

 

Energy Bill 
Rebate 
Discretionary 
Scheme 

RESOLVED: 

 
(i) That the Council’s Energy Bill Rebate Discretionary 

Scheme policy attached at appendix A be approved; 
and 
 

(ii) That it be agreed that the Cabinet Member for 
Resources in conjunction with the Director of 
Resources and Deputy Chief Executive be 
authorised to make any changes necessary to the 
policy to ensure all of the funding for the 
discretionary scheme is allocated within the 
specified time frame. 

 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



Decisions taken at the Cabinet  
Meeting held on Thursday 16 June 2022 

 
In attendance Councillors: I Courts, K Grinsell, T Dicicco, M Gough, K Hawkins, D Howell, 
A Mackiewicz and  Opposition Spokespersons A Adeyemo and M McLoughlin 

 

Title Decision Taken 

Apologies Apologies were received from Cllrs Bob Sleigh and Laura 
McCarthy, Cllr Adeyemo substituted for Cllr McCarthy. 
 

Declarations of 
Interests 

None received. 
 

Questions and 
Deputations 

None received. 
 

Minutes RESOLVED: 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 19 May 2022 be 
received for information. 

 

Medium Term 
Financial 
Strategy 2021/22 
Final Outturn (31 
March 2022) 

RESOLVED: 
 

(i) That the 2021/22 final position on the General 
Fund Revenue Accounts, as summarised in section 
3 and detailed in Appendices A to F, including 
endorsing the budget movements undertaken in 
the final quarter, detailed at Appendix F be 
approved; 

 

(ii) That the carry forwards and the creation of, and 
contribution to, new Reserve requests as per 
paragraph 3.6 and summarised at Appendix B. 
These requests will deliver a net nil position for the 
Council be approved; 

 

(iii) That the diversion of the budgeted contribution to 
the Severance Reserve in 2021/22 of £1.000 
million to part fund the 2021/22 Pay Award as per 
paragraph 3.8. be approved; 

 

(iv) That the creation of a new Hospital Discharge 
reserve within the Adult Social Care and Health 
portfolio and an in year contribution to this reserve 
as per paragraph 3.12. be approved; 

 

(v) That an additional contribution to the Children’s 
Services Risk reserve of £1.000 million, from the 
Budget Strategy Reserve to mitigate further 
pressures detailed at paragraph 3.18, with 
allocations from this Reserve requiring the approval 
of the Cabinet Member for Children & Education 
and the Cabinet Member for Resources be 
approved; 

 

(vi) That the temporary use of the Budget Strategy 

Page 31



Decisions taken by the Cabinet on Thursday 16 June 2022 
 

 

Title Decision Taken 

2 

Reserve relating to legal proceedings as per 
paragraph 3.22 be approved; 

 

(vii) That the re-allocation of the Placemaking Fund 
reserve of £0.121 million to a Planting for the 
Future reserve as per paragraph 3.23. be 
approved; 

 

(viii) That approval be given to contribute £0.693 million 
to the existing Homelessness reserve to support 
future pressures in the service as per paragraph 
3.24; 

 

(ix) That the removal of an annual budgeted 
contribution of £0.009 million to the Recycling 
Projects reserve and the release of the remaining 
£0.009 million balance in the reserve as per 
paragraph 3.25. be approved; 

  

(x) That the varying contribution to or from the three 
Dedicated Schools Grant reserves as outlined at 
paragraph 3.32. be approved; 

 

(xi) That the contributions of un-ringfenced Covid-19 
funding totalling £1.077 million to the Budget 
Strategy Reserve as per paragraph 3.40 be 
approved; 

 

(xii) That the creation of a new Fairer Futures Fund 
reserve of £3.172 million and the required 
delegated approvals as per paragraphs 3.59 to 
3.61. be approved; 

 

(xiii) That the contribution of £1.917 million to the 
Budget Strategy Reserve, as assumed in the latest 
approved MTFS, as per paragraph 3.62. be 
approved; 

 

(xiv) That the contribution of the 2021/22 Business 
Rates Windfall to the Budget Strategy Reserve, as 
per paragraph 3.77 be approved; 

 

(xv) That the 2021/22 final position on the Capital 
Accounts and re-phasing proposals outlined in 
paragraphs 3.79 to 3.80 and summarised at 
Appendix A, Table 3, with the re-phasing reasons 
detailed in Appendix D be approved; and 
 

(xvi) That the continuation of the Budget Strategy Group 
for the forthcoming year for the 2023/24 Budget 
Framework and MTFS for 2023/24 to 2025/26 as 
detailed in paragraph 3.81 be endorsed. 

Page 32



Decisions taken by the Cabinet on Thursday 16 June 2022 
 

 

Title Decision Taken 

3 

 

Risk 
Management 
Information 
Report 

RESOLVED: 
That the information produced regarding the 
Council’s identified corporate risks be noted along 
with the comments made above. 
 

Exclusion of the 
Public and Press 

Agreed 

Land between 
Dorridge and 
Hockley Heath 

Private report 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



FULL COUNCIL  

5 JULY 2022 

REPORT OF DEPUTY LEADER OF THE COUNCIL AND LEAD MEMBER FOR 
PARTNERSHIPS AND WELLBEING 

1. COUNCIL UPDATE FROM THE DEPUTY LEADER  

1.1 Purpose of Report 
 
1.1.2 To inform Council of the matters considered by the Health and Wellbeing Board on 

14 June 2022, decisions I have made as Deputy Leader and lead member for 
Partnerships and Wellbeing and other matters of interest.   

1.2 Background 
 
1.2.1 This report highlights some of those decisions which have been made, but not all. 

Members wishing to view all decisions made can find these at 
http://eservices.solihull.gov.uk/mgInternet/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1 

 
1.2.2 Attached to this report is a list of decisions made. 
 
1.3 Health and Wellbeing Board 14 June 2022 

 
1.3.1 The Health and Wellbeing Board considered progress in the following areas: 

 Update on the development of the ICS Financial Framework and the approach 
to resource allocation. 

 Solihull Together progress report. 

 Tacking Health Inequalities report. 

 Solihull Safeguarding Adults Annual report. 

 Employment and Skills Support. 

 End of Year Report – Better Care Fund 

1.4 Decisions 
 

1.4.1 29 June 2022  

1.4.2 I was updated on the Council’s bid for funding under the Government’s Rough 
Sleeper Accommodation Programme (RSAP).   

1.4.3 I approved the Council signing up to the Veterans Pledges as part of the West 
Midlands Combined Authority Commitment to Collaborate and was informed of 
future plans to ensure compliance with the Pledges.  

1.5 Good News and Issues of Interest 

1.5.1 Platinum Jubilee Virtual Reali-Tea!: On 8 June, 30 carers and those being cared 
for celebrated 70 years of the Queen’s reign with afternoon tea. They reminisced 
over photos and documents from the library archives showing how Solihull has 
changed since the 1950s. A short Virtual Reality experience was showcased, which 
transported people back to 1953 to see Solihull High Street as it looked. This free 
event was supported by The National Archives’ Testbed Fund. The 3D content 
created for the event will be available for subsequent use in nostalgia and other 
events. 

Page 35

http://eservices.solihull.gov.uk/mgInternet/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1


1.5.2 Cultural Hatchery: The Culture Team has been successful in securing £144,000 
additional funding to create a dedicated space within The Core to support those 
working or looking to work in the Arts and Cultural Sector. The funding will provide 
dedicated resources, professional input and commissions for up and coming artists 
to enable them to test out their cultural offerings. 

1.5.3 Cultural Education Partnership: The Culture Team has also secured £12,000 
from Arts Connect to set up Solihull’s first Cultural Education Partnership.  The 
Partnership will ensure that access to excellent arts provision exists for children and 
young people Borough-wide, with a focus on priority groups, whilst ensuring the 
youth voice is heard in decision making. Solihull was the only area in the West 
Midlands without a local partnership. The Partnership will provide the infrastructure 
to ensure that access to high quality arts are at the heart of our work with young 
people. 

1.5.4 Solihull Community Housing Building Safety: Work has been taking place on a 
two-year Building Safety Implementation Plan that will reflect the demands of the 
new Building Safety Act. Roles, responsibilities, and timescales are all being 
formulated to ensure full compliance. Oversight of the plan will be monitored by the 
Building Safety Task and Finish Group which forms part of the wider health and 
safety governance arrangements at SCH.  

1.5.5 Payzone: SCH has secured a contract with Payzone which offers tenants more 
places, such as shops, at which they can make rent payments. Many of course do 
so already via Direct Debit and other payment options including PayPoint and the 
self-serving My SCH Account. 

1.5.6 Pinnacle cleaning contract: Pinnacle FM Ltd has won the contract to clean all 
SCH buildings, including the 37 high rises and more than 500 low rise blocks. The 
contract comes into effect on 1 July. Pinnacle will also look after the cleaning of 
SCH’s two main offices, community centres and other multi-occupancy buildings 
such as Ipswich House and Saxon Court. 

1.5.7 Saxon Court Garden: Residents at Saxon Court have had some wonderful news. 
Thanks to a generous donation of more than £6,000 from Severn Trent Water’s 
Community Fund, they have been able to develop a fantastic ‘Sensory Wellness 
Garden’. This is all the more beneficial for those residents who spent so much of 
their time in their own flats during the pandemic. The lovely new garden is a 
beautiful outdoor space that residents can enjoy and also relax in with their friends 
and family. 

1.5.8 SCH Wellbeing: The Wellbeing Team has forged close links with health and social 
care partners. Working with the Falls Team at Solihull Hospital, the Wellbeing Team 
introduced a Falls Risk Assessment tool. The results have shown huge successes 
and of the 281 Home Hazards Assessments (HHA) completed in the past 6 months, 
there has been an overall reduction of 72% in individuals who reported a fall. The 
‘Fear of Falling’ score reduced on average by 46%. The service has also began 
monitoring onward signposting referrals, which stood at 137 in April and May, again 
supporting independence and raising awareness of community amenities to ensure 
easy appropriate access for members of the public. 

1.5.9 Move for Me Conference: I attended the Girl Power ‘Move for Me’ Conference on 
8 June at Coleshill School.  Year 9 girls from Arden Academy, John Henry Newman 
CC, Tudor Grange Academy Kingshurst, Lyndon School, Coleshill School and 
Langley School took part in the event which was to enable attendees to understand 
the importance of being physically active to support their mental and physical health 
and for attendees to have a clear understanding of where they can access further 
support/sessions.  It was a fabulous event which the girls seemed to enjoy. 

Page 36



1.5.10 Launch of Solihull Youth Hub: I was pleased to finally welcome West Midlands 
Mayor Andy Street to launch our Solihull Youth Hub at the Recruitment and Training 
Centre in Chelmsley Wood Shopping Centre on 13 May. Alongside colleagues from 
the Department of Work and Pensions and the Employment and Skills Team, I 
heard directly from one of our Kickstart employees about how moving into work has 
been such a positive experience for him and that he really enjoys working for our 
organisation. It was great to hear about how partnership working is directly helping 
our residents to move into employment. 

1.5.11 At the Centre, activity has really increased – the team has continued to support 
Jaguar Land Rover and Randstad to recruit to their new jobs, as well as supporting 
employers local to the Airport and the NEC. In June there was a Summer of 
Opportunity’ Jobs Fair linked to the Commonwealth Games opportunities, as well as 
local jobs and training in hospitality, security and cleaning present. 

1.5.12 In the last year, the Employment and Skills Team has achieved some great 
outcomes – 643 new customers were supported by the team and delivery partners, 
with over 200 customers moving into work and training. Work in schools is 
progressing, with more face-to-face delivery in schools and colleges which helps to 
prevent young people becoming NEET when they leave education.  

1.5.13 The Team continue to support schools to make steady progress with Careers 
Education with many recent Ofsted visits, mentioning Careers as a strength in the 
school. 

1.5.14 The Team has nominated Grace Academy for a CEC Careers Champion award in 
recognition of their hard work and achievement of all 8 Gatsby Benchmarks.  

1.5.15 Commonwealth Games Active Communities Programme: This Sport England 
grant funded ‘Community wellness programme’ is in the process of engaging focus 
groups to better understand their needs and barriers in terms of mental health and 
physical activity to help shape the programme approach and is establishing a group 
of residents to help form a community panel which will provide insight and help 
influence progression. Work is underway to celebrate sport and physical activity 
during the two weeks of the games in Solihull town centre. Working in partnership 
with Touchwood and Solihull BID we are inviting local clubs/organisations to get 
involved in the celebrations by hosting an interactive stall showcasing their sport 
and/or physical activity, offering residents and visitors to Solihull a chance to try 
something new!  

1.5.16 Queens Baton Relay: The route has now been confirmed and released to 
residents.  A leaflet highlighting the route, areas to view the Baton and advising on 
community activity has been produced and is receiving a very positive response. 

1.5.17 Commonwealth Games Drop-In Sessions: We have been holding ‘drop-in’ 
sessions across the Borough and again the response has been extremely positive.  
Queries range from traveling during the Games to how individuals can get involved. 

1.5.18 BBC Gardeners World: We have six schools participating in designing a 
Commonwealth Wheelbarrow that will be displayed at BBC Gardeners World 
School Wheelbarrow Competition - BBC Gardeners' World Live 
(bbcgardenersworldlive.com). Photographs of the wheelbarrows will go on display 
at The Core during Games’ time. 

1.5.19 Recycling Commonwealth Flags: We are currently working with 12 schools to 
design a Recycled Commonwealth Flag consisting of recycled materials. The flags 
will go on display at The Core during Games’ time. 

Page 37

https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/hGXoCMZQKs61N92SkIBcL?domain=bbcgardenersworldlive.com/
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/hGXoCMZQKs61N92SkIBcL?domain=bbcgardenersworldlive.com/


1.5.20 Carly’s Commonwealth Games Quest is Here!: To celebrate, North Solihull 
Schools Partnership has written a short story and created resources to support 
Solihull Schools in bringing the magic of the Commonwealth Games to as many 
children and young people as possible. Join Carly and her friends go on a quest to 
obtain knowledge on the History, Geography, PE, Art, PSHE and Science of the 
Commonwealth Games. Can they collect all 6 gems and win themselves a ticket to 
the opening ceremony of the Games?   

1.5.21 Tappin’ In and Sing Solihull: On the 18 May a celebratory event took place at The 
Core Theatre of two exciting community engagement projects. The performance 
was opened by Sing Solihull., a community choir that has been meeting at The 
Core on Thursday lunchtimes. This was good training for many of the members who 
will form part of the choir performing at the Commonwealth Games opening 
ceremony.  

1.5.22 The audience were then transported to Lily’s Tea Parlour to meet the Chelmsley 
Wood Tappin’ In tappers. The audience were treated to several tap numbers the 
group had been working on. The Tappin’ In project forms part of the Birmingham 
International Dance Festival as well as the Birmingham 2022 Festival. The group 
have been meeting weekly since the beginning of the year. Aimed at combatting 
social isolation and increasing access to dance, the project has been happening at 
locations across the West Midlands, the culmination being a performance in 
Brindley Place and a world record attempt for the largest shim sham.  

1.5.23 This was a fantastic evening which showcased some of the engaging community 
arts projects happening in Solihull.  

1.5.24 Celebrating Communities Fund: Two of the most recent awards through the 
Celebrating Communities Fund have provided projects to observe the 
Commonwealth Games. The Friends of Shirley Park received £1,823.00 to host a 
sporting activity day in Shirley Park on 26 July to coincide with the passage of the 
Queen's Baton. Likewise, Hampton in Arden Sports Club were awarded £5,000 to 
provide a focus point for the event featuring a stage area and large screen.  

1.5.25 Commonwealth Games tickets for children and young people: Working with the 
Organising Committee ticket team, the Council is providing over 750 tickets to 
children and young people in care, care experienced young people, foster carers 
and children and young people who receive benefits related free school meals. This 
is to attend the whole range of sports on display at the Games including tickets for 
final rounds and finals. 

1.5.26 Tourism Forum: Last month we held our first ‘in person’ Tourism Forum for over 
two years, with updates from Touchwood Shopping Centre, West Midlands Growth 
Company and an overview of our ‘Visit Solihull’ advertising campaign planned in the 
lead up to the Commonwealth Games.  Over the last month we have attracted over 
20,000 visitors to the Visit Solihull website– with top pages visited including events, 
Commonwealth Games and the Platinum Jubilee celebrations.  This will be used in 
conjunction with blog posts around attractions, shopping, dining and the Queen’s 
Baton Relay to attract new visitors into the Borough this Summer. 

1.5.27 Shirley Economic Plan: We continue to progress activities within our Shirley 
Economic Plan.  We have recently held an ambassador meeting with local 
businesses and partners, covering commission of a new street art project using 
utility cabinets with local artists, completion of a heritage trail and event planning for 
the Queen’s Baton Relay.  We also covered business crime prevention in 
partnership with the Police and links to relevant business support through our 
Business Investment Team. 

Page 38



1.5.28 Solihull Expo: The Solihull Expo was held at the end of May giving local 
businesses the opportunity to showcase their offers in the exhibition space and 
through speed networking, to hear from experts across a range of subjects 
including cybercrime and ‘doing business in Solihull.  Hundreds of delegates 
attended and 40 business exhibited.  I represented the Council on the ‘Doing 
Business in Solihull’ panel, setting out the advantages of trading in the Borough, 
setting out our future aspirations and answering questions about Levelling Up. 

1.5.29 Social Connectedness: In April 2022, the Council hosted a multi-agency Social 
Connectedness workshop. The purpose of the workshop was to review our existing 
approach to tackling social isolation and loneliness and identify together how we 
can all improve people’s physical and mental health through better social 
connectedness for vulnerable groups. 

1.5.30 The workshop confirmed there is already an abundance of support being offered by 
the third sector to engage vulnerable people and communities across Solihull. Four 
common themes emerged when we considered “what more can we do together to 
help people be better socially connected?” These themes are now being considered 
as part of a refreshed approach for All Age Social Connectedness in Solihull: 

 Culture and Practice – reference professional curiosity/strengths and asset-
based practices in front-line services to recognise the importance of social 
connectedness, as well as the ways and means to promote social participation 
and inclusion.  

 Better digital access - ensuring that everyone has access to digital 
communication technology, and the skills to use it. 

 Transport and mobility – focusing on hyper local delivery and improving 
accessibility of services, groups, activities, and meeting points. 

 Overcoming financial barriers – promote and offer free money advice.   

1.6 Future Decisions 
 
1.6.1 My next decision-making session will take place on the 29 September 2022. 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



 
SOLIHULL HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD - 14 June 2022 

 
 

SOLIHULL HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD 
 
 

14 JUNE 2022 
 

 
 
Present: Councillor Karen Grinsell – Deputy Leader of the Council and Cabinet 

Member for Partnerships and Wellbeing 
Jenny Wood - Director for Adult Care & Support 

Neeraj Malhotra - Deputy Director of Public Health 

David Melbourne - BSol ICS 
Carol Andrew – BSol ICS 
Andy Cave – Healthwatch 
Fiona Hughes – Solihull Community Housing 
Anne Hastings – Voluntary & Community Sector representative 
Councillor R Long – Substitute Opposition Spokesperson  
Councillor Dr R Sexton – Substitute Opposition Spokesperson 
 
The following Board Members joined the meeting remotely: 

 Councillor T Dicicco – Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and 
Health 

 Councillor M Gough – Cabinet Member for Children and Education 

 Tim Browne – Interim Director of Children’s Services 
 

Dr Will Taylor 
The Chairman explained that Dr Will Taylor will be leaving the CCG at the end of June 
to take up the new role of Chief Medical Officer at Hereford and Worcester. The 
Chairman requested to put on record the Board’s thanks to Dr Taylor, for all of his work 
and support for the Board. 
 
James Voller 
The Chairman explained that James Voller, Voluntary and Community Sector 
representative, would also be leaving Solihull Action Through Advocacy, to start a new 
role – again, the Chairman requested to put on record the Board’s thanks to James, for 
all of his work and support. 
 

1. APOLOGIES 
 
The following apologies were submitted: 
 

 Karen Helliwell, BSOL CCG – David Melbourne, BSOL ICS substitute 

 Dr Will Taylor, BSOL CCG 

 Ruth Tennant, Director of Public Health – Neeraj Malhotra, Deputy Director of 
Public Health, substitute 

 Lisa Stalley-Green, BSOL ICS 

 Chief Superintendent Ian Parnell 

 Louise Minter, Schools Strategic Accountability Board 

 Dr Sunaina Khanna, Solihull Primary Care Network 

 Councillor B Groom – Councillor R Sexton substitute 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

3. QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS 
 

Page 41



 
SOLIHULL HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD - 14 June 2022 

 
 
No questions or deputations had been submitted. 
 

4.  MINUTES 
 
The minutes of the previous meeting, held on 1st March 2022, were presented. 
 
 RESOLVED 

That the minutes of the previous meeting were approved as a correct record. 
 

5. COVID-19 - CURRENT POSITION STATEMENT 
 
Neeraj Malhotra, Deputy Director of Public Health, provided the Board a verbal update, 
highlighting the following points: 

 Covid rates for Solihull overall were 56 per 100,000 residents.  

 It was explained how a consistent volume of patients continued to require care 
in acute settings.  

 A webinar for NHS staff was scheduled for Friday, with the Chief Nursing 
Officer and Chief Medical Officer to consider the on-going Covid support, 
alongside autumn and winter pressures. 

 
 RESOLVED 
 The Health and Wellbeing Board noted the Covid-19 update. 
 

6. PHARMACEUTICAL NEEDS ASSESSMENT - UPDATE 
 
Neeraj Malhotra, Deputy Director of Public Health, provided the Board the following 
verbal update: 

 As part of its statutory responsibilities, the Health and Wellbeing Board was 
required to ensure a Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment was completed. 

 It was proposed that Birmingham and Solihull Health and Wellbeing Boards 
make joint arrangements for their Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment, which 
reflected the footprint of the BSol ICS. 

 In regards to timescales, it was planned for a draft PNA to be published by the 
autumn, which would go out to consultation with all key stakeholders. Following 
this consultation, it was proposed for the final version of the PNA to be 
presented to the Board in January 2023 – it was confirmed this would be 
scheduled on the Board’s work plan. 

 
 RESOLVED 

Members approved that Solihull Health and Wellbeing Board and Birmingham 
Health and Wellbeing Board have made joint arrangements for their 
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment across Birmingham and Solihull. This is in 
line with Section 198 of the Health and Social Care Act which allows two or 
more Health and Wellbeing Boards to work together to discharge their 
functions, and supports the BSol Integrated Care System. 

 

7. INTEGRATED CARE SYSTEM - UPDATE 
 
David Melbourne, ICS Interim Designate Chief Executive, provided the following verbal 
update: 

 As part of the ICS governance arrangements, the ICS would include an 
Integrated Care Board (ICB), which, in regards to membership, would include a 
chair, the CEO, representatives from NHS providers, general practice and local 
authorities. 

 There would also be an Integrated Care Partnership (ICP). The ICP would be 
responsible for developing a strategy to address the health, care and public Page 42



 
SOLIHULL HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD - 14 June 2022 

 
 

health needs of the local population and would hold the ICB to account for 
delivery. 

 2 Place Boards would also be established, 1 for Solihull, 1 for Birmingham. 
These Place Boards would have delegated responsibilities for a set of 
resources, to plan for the delivery of health, care and public health services 
across the area.  

 The Fairer Futures Fund (FFF) was explained, where it was proposed for £18m 
to be delegated to the Place Boards. The purpose of the FFF was to enable 
local decision making, to fund activities that would contribute to improving 
outcomes and tackling inequalities. 

 The Chairman of NHS England had written out to all Trusts, outlining the key 
priorities for the next 12 months – this included primary care access, urgent 
and emergency care pathways, progress in regards to the 104 week wait 
target, as well as the workforce. 

 
Members raised the following queries: 

 Councillor Sexton welcomed the focus, as part of the update, upon health 
inequalities. She queried how metrics would be developed, to ensure it was 
clear investment was having an impact upon health inequalities, including 
intangible outcomes, such as patient experience. 

 David Melbourne explained how they were looking at ensuring effective 
performance and outcomes reporting across the system. He detailed how, as 
part of this, he wished to see focus upon the following areas – quality (including 
safety and patient experience), effective investment, people and operational 
(including waiting lists).  He explained how they were focusing upon clearly 
linking all these areas with health inequalities. The ICS was also currently 
developing a Birmingham and Solihull health inequalities strategy, which they 
would be consulting upon shortly.  

 Councillor Grinsell welcomed the points raised above, as well as the Fairer 
Futures Funding – she queried the engagement with local communities in 
regards to this. 

 David Melbourne explained that the first ICP meeting would be curated by 2 
local Public Health leaders. There would be a focus upon how they could 
communicate with and engage the population, using and building upon existing 
local links. Examples of this included potentially engaging with volunteers for 
the Commonwealth Games, to fulfil peer support roles. 

 Andy Cave also welcomed the Fairer Futures Fund – it was noted projects 
stemming from this would be clinically and professionally led. Andy Cave 
queried how it would be ensured these projects were designed around citizens 
and patients. He also noted the importance of engaging here with the third and 
voluntary sector. 

 David Melbourne explained that, for the Fairer Futures Fund, it was proposed 
for this to be taken forward by the Place Boards and Local Government, which 
would include representatives of various organisations and sectors from across 
the Borough. 

 Jenny Wood welcomed the update and the aims of the ICS, explaining it 
reflected Public Sector leaders’ ambitions to work together. She agreed it was 
necessary to focus upon the outcomes the ICS delivered – going forward, it 
was important the Health and Wellbeing Board gained assurances about this. It 
was noted Solihull Together was developing local Place outcomes, whilst it was 
anticipated a small set of national Place outcomes would also be set. In 
addition, as part of its work planning, the Health and Wellbeing Board would 
have to take account of the topics being considered at both the BSOL ICB and 
ICP. 

 
RESOLVED Page 43



 
SOLIHULL HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD - 14 June 2022 

 
 

The Health and Wellbeing Board noted the update on the development of the 
ICS. 
 

8. UPDATE ON THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE ICS FINANCIAL FRAMEWORK AND 
THE APPROACH TO RESOURCE ALLOCATION 
 
The BSol CCG Chief Finance Officer presented the report, which highlighted the 
following: 

 2022/23 BSOL ICS Financial Position – on the day of this meeting, there had 
been confirmation of an additional allocation into the NHS system, which 
should enable BSol ICS to submit a balanced financial plan. 

 Update on overall health expenditure at a Place level. 

 Delegation under the Health and Care Act 2022. 

 Development of the ICB draft Operating model and the associated Financial 
Framework. 

 The Fairer Future Fund. 
  
Members raised the following questions: 

 Jenny Wood explained that, in regards to the Place Provider collaborative, the 
report referenced one for Birmingham and Solihull. It was queried whether the 
volume of collaboratives had been determined yet. David Melbourne explained 
the working assumption was there would be one collaborative; however a final 
decision had not been made and there were ongoing discussions on this. 

 Councillor Sexton highlighted how the overall efficiency target for the ICS in 
22/23 was 3.4% and questioned whether this would have any impact upon 
service delivery. 

 The Chief Finance Officer detailed how the ICS had established a Central 
Improvement Unit, which brought the NHS organisation together to look at 
potential re-designs of services, across organisational boundaries. As part of 
this Unit there were various work streams – digital transformation, estates, back 
office, productivity and service transformation. A focus of these work streams 
was identifying potential efficiencies, whilst not impacting upon front-line 
service delivery. 

 Councillor Sexton noted the report made reference to tackling inequalities by 
empowering our communities. She queried how hard to reach group would be 
engaged around this, especially as they often experienced the greatest 
inequalities. 

 The Chief Finance Officer explained this was anticipated to be an area of focus 
as part of the Fairer Futures Fund. It was noted how evidence demonstrated 
that bringing people together with lived experience, to discuss any challenges 
they faced accessing services, positively impacted upon future service delivery. 

 
 RESOLVED 

 The Health and Wellbeing Board 
(i) Noted the development of the ICS Financial Framework and approach to 

resource allocation, and 
(ii) Agreed to receive an update report on the ICS Financial Framework and 

approach to resource allocation to be scheduled as part of the Board work 
programme.  

 

9. SOLIHULL TOGETHER PROGRESS REPORT 
 
The Partnership Development Manager presented the report, which outlined how 
Solihull Together had been working on a number of areas to support developments in 
place-based working. The areas highlighted included the following: 

Page 44



 
SOLIHULL HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD - 14 June 2022 

 
 

 Place governance – a draft Terms of Reference was being developed for the 
Place Boards, building on existing work, as well as feedback from Solihull and 
Birmingham Councils. Going forward, it was planned that Solihull Together 
would maintain responsibility for the programmes that supported delivery of the 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy, as well as work delegated from the Place 
Board. 

 Outcomes Framework – Solihull Together was developing a simple outcomes 
framework, based on the current HWB scorecard, the Council Plan and the 
Inclusive Growth Framework. This would be updated once the ICS outcomes 
framework had been established, alongside the refresh of the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment (JSNA). 

 Data Insight Project – a new Board had been established, Chaired by the 
Police, which focused upon using data to support partnership work and 
interventions in Kingshurst. 

 
The Partnership Development Manager also provided an update on Solihull Together’s 
priority programmes. 
 
Members raised the following queries: 

 Councillor Sexton noted the Mental Health Programme Board and queried 
whether the membership included people with lived experience. 

 The Partnership Development Manager detailed how both the CCG and Mental 
Health Foundation Trust included service user groups. It was explained how 
the Programme Board were reviewing their working arrangements, following 
the approval of the new delivery plan, and an area of focus here was Board 
membership. 

 
 RESOLVED  

The Health and Wellbeing Board noted the Solihull Together Update and 
proposed next steps. 

 

10. TACKLING HEALTH INEQUALITIES: A BLUEPRINT FOR SOLIHULL 2022-2025 
 
Neeraj Malhotra, Deputy Director of Public Health, presented Solihull’s Health 
Inequalities Strategy to the Board, for content sign-off. The points detailed included the 
following: 

 The Strategy included a section titled ‘Working with others’ which set out how 
BSol ICS was a key partner in shaping and implementing this Strategy. The 
Strategy would support the eight urgent actions the NHS had set itself 
nationally to address health inequalities, as well as focusing on local needs. 

 Following previous reporting to the Board, a public consultation on this Strategy 
was held. The feedback demonstrated overwhelming support for the strategy 
aims, principles and priorities. The covering report also set out how the final 
Strategy wording had been revised in response to the feedback. 

 
Members raised the following questions: 

 Councillor Grinsell welcomed the Strategy and noted the next steps would 
include the development of action plans to support delivery of this Strategy – 
she requested for this to be reported to future Board meetings. Councillor 
Grinsell also queried how the Strategy would be communicated and made 
visible to ensure awareness. 

 Neeraj Malhotra explained how a communications plan was being developed to 
support awareness of the Strategy. She also detailed how there would be 
engagement with local communities in the development of action plans. Draft 
action plans were already being developed, aligned to the 4 priorities set out in 
the Strategy, as well as the 3 enablers to support delivery.  Page 45



 
SOLIHULL HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD - 14 June 2022 

 
 

 Fiona Hughes also welcomed the development of the Strategy – she detailed 
how, as an agency that supported one of the underlying determinants of health, 
SCH was using the Strategy to identify how they could actively contribute 
towards a reduction in inequalities. 

 Councillor Sexton flagged up Enabler 2 – Place-Based Working, which detailed 
how GP surgeries in North Solihull had 34% more patients per GP, compared 
to the rest of the Borough. She queried the measures that could be undertaken 
to help address this. 

 David Melbourne explained how across Birmingham and Solihull it was more 
difficult to recruit GP’s to deprived areas, noting how similar challenges were 
experienced in parts of East Birmingham. It was emphasised how these 
challenges were experienced nationally. He highlighted the findings of the 
Fuller Review of Primary Care, which included recommendations on recruiting 
a range of professionals that could provide support, alongside GP access. 

 Councillor Sexton queried the engagement of hard to reach groups, to support 
the delivery of the Strategy. 

 Neeraj Malhotra explained it would be a mixture of using established links, local 
community leaders, alongside exploring further opportunities. It was detailed 
how there was a lot of learning from Covid, which included working with Parish 
Councils and local voluntary groups, who had an in-depth understanding of 
their local areas. 

 
RESOLVED 

 The Health and Wellbeing Board: 
(i) Approved the Strategy content ahead of further design work and publishing 

on the SMBC website. 
(ii) Supported the development of a communications plan to support 

awareness of the Strategy; and 
(iii) Agreed to receive future reporting on the action plans, which will support 

the delivery of the Strategy. 
 

11. SOLIHULL SAFEGUARDING ADULTS ANNUAL REPORT 
 
The Solihull Safeguarding Adults Board (SSAB) Independent Chair invited the Board 
to receive the SSAB Annual Report, the easy-to-read Annual Report and the Strategic 
Plan for 2022-23. The points raised included the following: 

 Figures for Safeguarding concerns and enquiries had both increased in the last 
year, compared with 2020/21, as we moved out of Covid lockdowns. 

 The top 3 types of abuse were neglect, physical and psychological. 

 The evidence demonstrated that individuals from the Black, Asian and Minority 
Ethnic population were underrepresented in safeguarding enquiries, compared 
to the general population. The report outlined the work being undertaken here 
by the Performance and Audit and Engagement and Prevention 
Subcommittees. 

 The work undertaken in regards to the 3 priorities for 2021-22 were outlined – 
these were Exploitation Reduction, Strengthen and clarify the relationship and 
governance between the three boards and Health and Wellbeing Board and 
Safeguarding Adults Reviews.  

 The Strategic Plan for 2022-23 was highlighted and the Priority for 2022-23 was 
‘Oversight of quality and risk, with due consideration given to the long-term 
impact of Covid-19, considering the learning to date. 

 
Members raised the following questions: 

 Councillor Grinsell highlighted the Priority for 2022-23, outlined above and 
queried how this would be progressed over the course of the year.  

Page 46



 
SOLIHULL HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD - 14 June 2022 

 
 

 The Independent Chair detailed how, over the year, each of the SSAB’s Sub-
Committees would be focusing upon ensuring effective arrangements were in 
place for the identification of risks and quality issues for their area of scope. 
The risks, mitigations and any recommendations from the subcommittees 
would be formally reported to the SSAB, to support it in its assurance and 
oversight role. 

 Jenny Wood emphasised how the Strategic Plan reflected the partners’ 
ambitions to ensure effective oversight of risk and quality assurance, 
particularly recognising how care arrangements have changed through the 
Covid-19 pandemic. The focus of the subcommittees over the next year would 
be to ensure there were robust arrangements in place.  

 Councillor Grinsell also requested an update on the on-going impact of the 
Vulnerability Tracker. 

 The SSAB Manager detailed how the data collected via the Vulnerability 
Tracker had allowed the safeguarding partners to identify themes and trends 
and consider potential mitigating actions. She detailed how the Exploitation 
Reduction Delivery Group had identified further areas they wished to be 
covered by the Vulnerability Tracker, as it was believed there was 
underreporting in regards to the exploitation of girls. It was also planned, as 
part of the SSAB team meeting the following day, to hold a focus session on 
the Tracker, following the collation of 12 months of data. 

 Jenny Wood detailed how, after reviewing the evidence including that from the 
Vulnerability Tracker, additional Social Work capacity to respond to adult 
exploitation was being developed. It was also noted that reporting on the work 
of the Exploitation Reduction Delivery Group was scheduled as part of the 
Health and Wellbeing Board’s work programme. 

 
RESOLVED 
The Health and Wellbeing Board received and endorsed the  
(i) The Solihull Safeguarding Adults Annual Report for 2021-22 
(ii) The Easy to Read Annual Report for 2021-22; and  
(iii) The 2021-22 Safeguarding Adults Board Strategic Plan for 2022-23. 

 

12. EMPLOYMENT AND SKILLS SUPPORT 
 
The Head of Inclusive Growth presented the report, which updated the Health and 
Wellbeing Board on Employment and Skills activity delivered by the Council, 
particularly in supporting more vulnerable residents and contributing to health and 
wellbeing. The following points were raised: 

 The Employment and Skills team had been part of the Public Health Directorate 
since December 2019, to help support a more integrated health and wellbeing 
offer. 

 Solihull continued to have a relatively strong labour market; however, it was 
recognised there were continued challenges in the North of the Borough, whilst 
there was an increasing number of residents looking for work with a disability or 
health condition. 

 Young People not in Employment, Education or Training (NEET) was a key 
group the Council’s Employment and Skills Service focused on as part of the 
overall approach to improving life chances and reducing health inequalities. 

 There was a range of specialist support in place – the report outlined the work 
undertaken by the Team, in partnership with colleagues across the Council, to 
create and support access to employment opportunities for local people with a 
learning disability. 

 The Employment and Skills Team were closely working with Adult Social Care 
and the wider ICS on a range of projects to help increase capacity in the health 
and social care workforce. Page 47



 
SOLIHULL HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD - 14 June 2022 

 
 
 
Members raised the following queries: 

 Councillor Grinsell detailed how she welcomed, in particular, the work 
undertaken at the Youth Hub in Chelmsley Wood, to help young people to find 
employment, training opportunities or access into education. Councillor Grinsell 
emphasised the volume of vacancies across the Borough and queried whether 
there was any potential for links with local employers to be strengthened 
further, to enable more targeted support. 

 Councillor Gough thanked the officers for all the work outlined in the report. He 
queried whether there were any measures that could be undertaken, to further 
strengthen links with and referrals into the Employment and Skills Team. 

 The Interim Director of Children’s Services detailed how there was currently 
focus upon this, including identifying opportunities for internships, as well as 
working with Public Health and schools, to help identify children and young 
people most at risk, to ensure they were targeted with the correct support. He 
confirmed how they were also looking at opportunities to strengthen the Post-
16 offer. 

 Councillor Dicicco queried the work being undertaken to link people looking for 
work within the Borough with local employers who are experiencing shortages, 
citing, as an example, the Airport.  

 The Head of Inclusive Growth confirmed they were working directly with the 
Airport and detailed how they had recently appointed an officer, as part of the 
Employment and Skills Team, who had previously managed a job centre at the 
Airport. She also detailed the close work currently being undertaken with the 
Health sector, via the ICS, to enable local unemployed people to access 
training and jobs. 

 
RESOLVED 
The Health and Wellbeing Board: 
(i) Noted and endorsed how the Employment and Skills team is developing 

and enhancing its services to ensure that residents are able to access 
opportunities and are supported to overcome barriers to employment, 
particularly in relation to health and wellbeing. 

(iii) Endorsed the work, outlined above and within the report, to help further 
strengthen links with local employers, to enable more targeted support for 
local residents. 

 

13. HEALTH & WELLBEING STRATEGY PERFORMANCE SCORECARD 
 
Neeraj Malhotra, Deputy Director of Public Health, presented the Scorecard for 
Quarter 4, which detailed performance against the Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
priorities. She explained how, going forward, officers would be looking at aligning the 
Scorecard with ICS and Solihull Together performance reporting. 
 
In considering the Scorecard, Jenny Wood requested for future iterations to include a 
lead Health and Wellbeing Board member against each of the indicators. 
 

RESOLVED 
The Health and Wellbeing Board: 
(i) Noted the current developments and performance recorded in the Health 

and Wellbeing Strategy Scorecard for quarter 4 of 2021/22; and 
(ii) Agreed for Health and Wellbeing Board members to be identified against 

each of the indicators, as part of future version of the Scorecard. 
 

14. END OF YEAR REPORT BETTER CARE FUND 2021/22 
 Page 48



 
SOLIHULL HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD - 14 June 2022 

 
 
The Assistant Director for Commissioning invited the Board to consider the agenda 
item, which outlined the Better Care Fund end of year template, in which progress in 
the delivery of the Better Care Fund Plan for 2021-22 was reported. It was explained 
how the template was approved by the Chair prior to the submission deadline of 27th 
May 2022, due to the national timescales. The report detailed the work undertaken by 
the CCG, Local Authority and local providers to ensure all national conditions for the 
BCF in 2021-22 were met. 
 
 RESOLVED 

The Health and Wellbeing Board approved the submission and noted the 
performance against the targets and policy objectives of the Better Care Fund. 

 

15. FOR INFORMATION - HEALTH AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE SCRUTINY BOARD 
WORK PLAN 
 
The Health and Wellbeing Board work plan was noted for information. 
 

16. FOR INFORMATION - HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD WORK PLAN 
 
The Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Board work plan was shared for 
information. 

 
 

End time of meeting 16:10  

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



 

FULL COUNCIL  

5TH JULY 2022 

REPORT OF THE CABINET MEMBER FOR RESOURCES 

1. COUNCIL UPDATE REGARDING RESOURCES 

1.1 Purpose of Report 

1.1.1 To advise Members of the decisions taken at my decision-making session held on 
 11th April 2022 and of the matters to be considered at my meeting on 4th July 2022.  

1.2 Background 

1.2.1 This report highlights some of the decisions which have been made, but not all. 
Members wishing to view all decisions made can find these at 
http://eservices.solihull.gov.uk/mgInternet/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1 

1.2.2 Attached to this report is a list of decisions made. 

1.3 11th April 2022 

1.3.1 The ICT Capital Budget for 2022/23 is £500,000.  In addition, £122,940 has been 
brought forward from 2021/22, making a total budget of £622,940.  I approved the 
following programme of work for the current financial year, which will leave a small 
balance of £12,940 within the capital budget: 

 £30,000 to implement a new payment gateway for the Council’s Civica 
payment system; 

 £60,000 to upgrade to the latest cloud based Civica payment system 
distribution module; 

 £70,000 to migrate legacy data from the Opentext document management 
system into the NEC document management system used by Income and 
Awards; 

 £30,000 for a new ArcGIS Enterprise environment to support GIS 
(Geographical Information Systems) web mapping applications across the 
Council; 

 £10,000 to purchase new hardware to support a project to extend the life of 
the document management system (Paperlite) used by Adults and Children’s 
Social Care so that it can be used as a read only archive system; 

 £350,000 to support a 12 month programme of work for the Oracle Fusion 
Cloud system; 

 £60,000 to support a project to assist the Council in the management of 
Cloud Security and Controls following go live of the new Oracle Fusion Cloud 
system.  

1.3.2 I will receive update reports on progress with these projects at future decision 
sessions.  

Page 51

http://eservices.solihull.gov.uk/mgInternet/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1


1.3.3 I received a comprehensive update from the Head of Income & Awards on Welfare 
Reform.  This included details of the number of people claiming Universal Credit and 
the latest council tax reduction caseload figures (which at February 2022 totalled 
13,254, a reduction of 759 cases compared to February 2021).  The report also 
provided details of how we have awarded Discretionary Housing Payments, applied 
our Discretionary Crisis Fund and offered Financial Inclusion Support to help our 
residents.  There is a lot of useful information in this report, which members may 
want to look at.   

1.4 4th July 2022 (Matters to be considered)    

1.4.1 The Council’s Environmental Crime Strategy shows how the Council aims to prevent 
environmental crime by educating and engaging residents and setting out how the 
Council will use its investigatory and enforcement powers in response to 
environmental crime in the Borough.  Following Covid lockdowns and as people 
ventured out into their local area more, there has been increased public awareness 
of issues such as fly-tipping and littering.  Consequently, the action plan within the 
Strategy has a greater focus on addressing these issues directly and robustly, as well 
as providing a clear framework to report and monitor the levels of environmental 
crime across Solihull.  We were keen to understand the views of residents and 
interested community groups on the revised strategy and carried out a six-week 
consultation.  At my decision session, I will be asked to note the results of the 
consultation and approve the adoption of the Strategy.  

1.4.2 Public Space Protection Orders (PSPOs) are made under the Anti-social Behaviour, 
Crime and Policing Act 2014 and replace Designated Public Place Orders (DPPOs), 
Gating Orders and Dog Control Orders. The previous Cabinet Portfolio Holder for 
Stronger and Safer Communities, at her decision session on 19 October 2021, 
agreed to consult with the public and interested parties on the potential 
implementation of two PSPOs relating to the exclusion of dogs from children’s play 
areas and dog fouling, and to also seek the views on other dog related anti-social 
behaviour. There were 464 responses to the consultation and following careful 
consideration of the responses, I will be asked to approve implementation of a PSPO 
relating to the removal of dog faeces and implementation of a PSPO relating to the 
exclusion of dogs from children’s play areas.  

1.4.3 The Food Standards Agency (FSA) requires local authorities (LAs) to produce and 
approve an annual food service plan for 2022/2023.  The framework agreement on 
LA Food Law Enforcement contains guidance in respect of how the plan should be 
structured and what it should contain.  I will be asked to approve the Food and Safety 
Statutory Service Plan for 2022/23. 

1.4.4 The Head of Income & Awards will present the final debt monitoring report for 
2021/22.  This shows that for 2021/22, we were due to collect in excess of £346 
million in council tax, business rates, sundry income, overpaid housing benefit and 
housing rents.  For 2021/22, the council tax collection rate was 97.88%, compared to 
our pre-covid target of 98%. This is 0.11% ahead of last year.  The business rates 
collection rate was 97.19% against our pre-covid target of 98%.  This is 0.52% ahead 
of last year.  For sundry income, at the end of March 2022, the in year sundry income 
collection was 73.76%, which is 6.8% behind this time last year.  However, collection 
was impacted as several large value invoices were issued during the last 2 weeks of 
March 2022 (totalling over £6.8 million) with due dates in April 2022.  Finally, rent 
collection stood at 97.95%, which is 0.25% ahead of this time last year.  

Page 52



1.4.5 The area currently occupied by Jean Linton Hall was originally transferred to the 
Council by the War Department in 1956 as part of a wider parcel of land bounded by 
Old Lode Lane, Tanhouse Farm Road and what is now the Jaguar Land Rover 
factory.  The 2nd Solihull Scouts Group originally entered into a ground lease for 0.29 
acres of land off Arlescote Road in June 1958 for a term of seven years to allow them 
to erect a Scout Hut on site, which became known as Jean Linton Hall.  During the 
following 64 years, the Scouts have periodically renewed their ground lease with the 
most recent agreement commencing 24th June 2010 for a period of 21 years.  The 
Scout Association no longer have a viable use for the site and have formally 
requested to surrender their ground lease early, prior to its expiry in 2031, returning 
responsibility and liability for the land to the Council.  I will be asked to approve this 
early surrender of the lease.   

1.4.6 Under the private part of my meeting, I will be asked to consider a request for the 
modification or release of restrictive covenants at a property in Olton.  I will also be 
asked to consider two applications for hardship relief in respect of charges for 
business rates.   

1.4.7 Further to the report to my March 2022 decision-session on the premises and lease 
arrangements for the 1st Olton Scout Group and The Olton Park Guides and 
following consultation with the Scouts and Guides, I will be presented with a report 
which proposes improvements to the premises for the Scouts and Guides at their 
existing location.   

1.5 Issues of Interest 

1.5.1 Registration - Within Solihull, we have a number of external venues alongside our 
 Statutory, Jubilee, and Ceremony suite where residents and non-residents choose to 
 either get married or have Civil Partnerships.  Owing to Covid, we inevitably 
 experienced  reduced bookings in the financial year 2020/2021.  However, 
 2021/2022 was one of our best years on record with people making the most of the 
 opportunity to get married or have a Civil Partnership once our doors re-opened.  
 We had anticipated a  return to normal levels in the current financial year of 
 2022/2023 but we are already booked up with the highest number of services in 
 June, July, and August than there have been since we kept records (going 
 back to 2012/2013). 

 
1.5.2 We are aware of a change in our service users and that there is not currently an 
 approved Muslim or Orthodox premise within Solihull that can perform Civil 
 Ceremonies.  We have therefore undertaken work with both the Muslim community 
 hub on Hermitage Road and the Coptic Orthodox Church to engage with them on 
 what requirements there are so that they can make an application.  Both have 
 advised they will be making an application to become an approved/registered 
 religious premise to complete civil ceremonies.  This is to ensure we are constantly 
 doing as much as we can to increase our activities and encourage engagement 
 with the evolving communities and changing demographics within Solihull. 

 
1.5.3 Environmental Health - Environmental Health Officers have carried out 67 property 

inspections at very short notice.   This is to ensure that the homes and living 
conditions offered by Solihull residents to Ukrainians accessing the Homes for 
Ukraine Scheme are suitable, safe and appropriate. 
 

1.5.4 Energy Bill Rebate - There are just under 66,000 households that are eligible for the 
payment in Solihull.  We have now paid over 90% of eligible households through the 
core scheme and in mid-June, we launched our additional discretionary scheme that 
was approved at the June 2022 Cabinet meeting. 
 

Page 53



1.5.5 Final Accounts for 2021/22 – The Director of Resources & Deputy Chief Executive 
signed the Council’s Statutory Statement of Accounts for 2021/22 on 16th June, well 
ahead of the 31st July deadline.  The Statement is now with our External Auditors for 
the statutory audit. 

1.5.6 Oracle Cloud – I am pleased to be able to advise Council that phase one of Oracle 
Cloud went live on 20th June 2022.  This is a major milestone in this important project 
and follows two years of hard work by the Resources Directorate Leadership Team.    

1.6 Future Decisions 

1.6.1 At future Resources decision sessions, reports will be presented on Revenue & 
Capital Monitoring; Debt Monitoring; ICT Capital Project updates, Applications for 
Discretionary Rate Relief and the Corporate Asset Management Strategy. 

Page 54



Decisions taken at the CPH Resources Decision Session  
Meeting held on Monday 11 April 2022 

 

Title Decision Taken 

Apologies There were no apologies. 

Declarations of 
Pecuniary or 
Conflicting 
Interest from 
Members 

There were no declarations of interest. 

Questions and 
Deputations 

There were no questions or deputations. 

ICT Capital 
Project Update 

RESOLVED 
The Cabinet Member for Resources: 

(i) Noted the current status of the Capital ICT 
Projects Programme. 

(ii) Approved funding allocations from the Capital ICT 
Projects Programme as follows:-  

 £30,000 to implement a new payment 
gateway for the Council’s Civica payment 
system. 

 £60,000 to upgrade to the latest cloud 
based Civica payment system Distribution 
module.  

 £70,000 to migrate legacy data from the 
Opentext document management system 
into the NEC document management 
system used by Income and Awards.  

 £30,000 for a new ArcGIS Enterprise 
environment to support GIS (Geographical 
Information Systems) web mapping 
applications across the Council.  

 £10,000 to purchase new hardware to 
support a project to extend the life of the 
document management system 
(Paperlite) used by Adults and Childrens 
Social Care so that it can be used as a 
read only archive system.  

 £350,000 to support a 12 month 
programme of work to go live with the 
Oracle Fusion Cloud system.  

 £60,000 to support a project to assist the 
Council in the management of Cloud 
Security and Controls following go live of 
the new Oracle Fusion Cloud system. 

Welfare Reform 
Update 

RESOLVED 
The Cabinet Member for Resources: 
(i) Noted the Council’s approach to welfare reform 

and the impact of and recovery from Covid 19. 
(ii) Approved the request to allocate £200,000 of the 

local council tax support scheme grant to the 
Discretionary Crisis Fund reserve as set out in 
3.34. 

Page 55



Decisions taken by the CPH Resources Decision Session on Monday 11 April 2022 
 

 

Title Decision Taken 

2 

Exclusion of the 
Press and Public 

That the press and public be now excluded from the 
remainder of the business to be transacted, on the 
grounds that there would be disclosure to them of 
exempt information as defined in Schedule 12A to the 
Local Government Act 1972. 

Applications for 
Empty Home 
Premium Waive 

Private 

Application for 
the use of 
Discretionary 
powers on 
repayment of 
discount 

Private 

Page 56



 

FULL COUNCIL 

5 JULY 2022 

REPORT OF CABINET MEMBER FOR COMMUNITIES AND LEISURE 

1. COUNCIL UPDATE REGARDING COMMUNITIES AND LEISURE 

1.1 Purpose of Report 
 
1.1.1 To advise Members that a decision-making session was held on the 30 June 2022, 

covering CPH Communities and Leisure. 

1.2 Background 
 
1.2.1 This report highlights some of those decisions which have been made, but not all. 

Members wishing to view all decisions made can find these at 
http://eservices.solihull.gov.uk/mgInternet/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1 

 
1.2.2 Attached to this report is a list of decisions made. 
 
1.3 Decisions 
 
1.3.1 30 June 2022 

1.3.2 I was presented with a report about community centre provision in Elmdon following 
the petition submitted at Full Council on 5 April 2022.  I agreed that a response to 
the petition be considered after I have reviewed the evidence.  

1.3.3 Council Plan and Priorities 
 
1.3.4 We continue to develop our working arrangements with the public and voluntary 

sector partners to create the conditions for our communities to thrive. We are also 
continuing to extend and develop our localities framework to support problem 
solving in each of the three localities – North, East, and West - as well as 
supporting an improved early help offer for children, young people and adults with 
support needs. 

 
1.4 Good News and Issues of Interest 
 
 VCSE Investment and Partnerships 
 
1.4.1  My Solihull Maps - There have been over 7,500 visits to My Solihull Maps, with 

over 1,500 during May (an increase from 1,000 visits in April). New content has 
been added including the details of faith groups and institutions across Solihull, 
community events taking place during June and July, as well as Police support 
groups like Neighbourhood Watch and Streetwatch. We are running a lunch and 
learn session for staff in September. 

 
1.4.2  Holiday Activities and Food Programme (HAFP) – Easter - During the Easter 

holidays 1,985 children participated in the Solihull HAFP. 1,733 children (87%) were 
eligible for benefit related free school meals, whilst the remaining 13% were 
provided with a place due to their potentially vulnerability. 80% of children were of 
primary school age with rest 11 years plus. 23% of funded places were provided for 
children who identified as having Special Educational Needs or a Disability. 

 

Page 57

http://eservices.solihull.gov.uk/mgInternet/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1


1.4.3  Wellbeing and Recovery Fund - During May, two projects were awarded funding 
through the Wellbeing and Recovery Fund which is distributed through the Heart of 
England Community Foundation. Music Therapy Works and Seeds of Hope 
received just under £10,000 between them. The Music Therapy Works project aims 
to transform the lives of vulnerable people through music – music therapy. Seeds of 
Hope, based in Kingshurst for 20 years, required funding to support the community 
hub to stay open. They are currently looking at ways of diversifying their income 
streams to ensure they are sustainable during challenging times. 

 
 Community Development Team (CDT) 
 
1.4.4  Working with the Community - On a day-to-day basis there are lots of little things 

that the CDT support local residents and communities with, which cumulatively 
make a big difference. A few current and recent examples include: 

 

 Helping two residents in Smith’s Wood to organise a coffee morning in their 
community garden, creating flyers, baking cakes, resourcing a gas cooker and 
providing drinks and food. 

 Working with Go Girls to secure grant funding and commissioned work from 
Children’s Services in support of mentoring to young women in Smith’s Wood. 
This support has also helped the charity to access funding and commissioning 
opportunities more independently in the future. 

 During a visit to a community event, a Community Development Worker met a 
local resident who loved to crochet blankets for babies and elderly residents. 
They had a supply of blankets but did not have anyone to give them to. We were 
able to link them up with residents at Saxon House whose residents were 
grateful for blankets. 

 Helping a Morrisons’ Community Champion to distribute a large donation of 
books and toys to the local community and schools. 

 Fielding enquiries from local residents interested in volunteering and signposting 
nine people into local opportunities. The team also helped recruit 3 new 
volunteers delivery drivers for the Helping Hands foodbank. 

 
1.4.5  The CDT has also continued to provide an important source of help and support for 

several Council initiatives and partnerships, including: 
 

 Commonwealth Games – promoting and supporting applications to the 
Celebrating Communities Fund, as well as championing the Queen’s Baton 
Relay and community engagement opportunities. 

 Schools – the partnership with local schools continues to grow following 
alignment of community workers to their local schools. This is to better bridge 
school and community life and the wider community offer available around 
schools. The team has helped to set up a new coffee morning at Kingshurst 
Primary School for parents and cares of children with additional needs. It also 
provides mental health ambassador and peer listener training to representatives 
from 23 local schools. 

 Social care and family support – the team continues to provide advice and 
support to family support and social workers to connect the people they are 
supporting to their communities and voluntary sector support. This includes 
connecting children and young people to the HAFP, promoting use of My Solihull 
Maps (which is evident in the high number of visits during April and May). 

 
 Refugees and New Communities 
 
1.4.6  Refugee week - Refugee Week is a celebration of community, mutual care, and the 

human ability to start again. The 2022 theme is ‘Healing’, through creativity and 
conversations. On 22 June I attended ‘Solihull Welcomes’: local communities, 
groups and agencies came together at The Core to deliver a festival that celebrates 
and recognises our new communities through music, film, arts, and food. Coventry-

Page 58



based Ukrainian folk music band Cov Kozak and Caribbean band Steel Regals kept 
us dancing throughout a thrilling day that involved contributions from newly arrived 
groups as well as a marketplace of voluntary and community sector organisations.  

 
1.4.7  The Resettlement Team continue to provide and co-ordinate support to new 

communities in the Borough, including English Language learning, wellbeing 
support, advice on housing and developing employment skills.  These include Hong 
Kongers on the BNO Welcome Programme and Afghan Refugees in the local 
‘bridging hotel’. 

 
1.4.8  Ukraine Refugee Resettlement - Solihull is continuing to see new applications and 

arrivals via the Homes for Ukraine scheme, as well as ongoing arrivals via other 
routes to the UK. As of 13 June there are 88 sponsors participating in the Homes 
for Ukraine 

 
1.4.9  The Council has been growing its capacity with Refugee Action to be able to 

support hosts and guests, as well as homelessness and crises emerging from 
arrivals outside of the Homes for Ukraine scheme.  

 
1.4.10  Outside of the Homes for Ukraine scheme, there is intensive work taking place to 

support Ukrainians who have arrived and are homeless or in crisis. A local charity, 
Entraide, has been commissioned by the Council to provide support to refugees 
whilst they are homeless. The aim is to find local sponsors for all homeless 
households. 

 
1.4.11  Having a national port of entry in the Borough, via Birmingham Airport, means that 

the Council (via the Emergency and Resilience Team) are also providing a welcome 
desk and one-stop point of help for people on their way to sponsors and other local 
authorities. This has included several safeguarding interventions. 

 
Solihull Active 

 
1.4.12  Solihull Commonwealth Active Communities programme, a Sport England grant 

funded ‘Community wellness programme’, is in the process of engaging focus 
groups to better understand their needs and barriers in terms of mental health and 
physical activity. This will help shape the programme approach and we are 
establishing a group of residents to help form a community panel which will provide 
insight and help influence progression.  

 
1.4.13  Work is underway to celebrate sport and physical activity during the two weeks of 

the Commonwealth Games in Solihull town centre. Working in partnership with 
Touchwood and Solihull BID, we are inviting local clubs and organisations to get 
involved in the celebrations by hosting an interactive stall showcasing their sport 
and/or physical activity, offering residents and visitors to Solihull a chance to try 
something new! 

 
1.4.14  For frequently asked questions in relation to sport, leisure and physical activity in 

Solihull during the Commonwealth Games, such as ‘what free activities can I take 
part in’ take a look on our website at https://www.solihullactive.co.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2022/05/FAQ-CWG.pdf   

 
 Walking for All 
 
1.4.15  In preparation for the Games, a walking orienteering programme will be launched 

with two permanent park routes, a suite of orienteering resources and packs for 
communities to use. Park locations of Babbs Mill and Elmdon have been chosen to 
host permanent orienteering courses. Local orienteering club Octavian Droobers 
have designed the routes. The courses will consist of three routes and will be 
accessible for all.  

Page 59

https://www.solihullactive.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/FAQ-CWG.pdf
https://www.solihullactive.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/FAQ-CWG.pdf


 
 Ping! Solihull 
 
1.4.16  Level the Table grants have been awarded to:  
 

 The Hive at Parkview; 

 Evergreen Community Centre at Yorkswood Primary School to be used by pupils 
(e.g. pre-school and after-school clubs), but also wider community sessions as 
well). 

 
1.4.17  Solihull’s very own Ping Pong Parlour was launched in Mell Square on 5 May 2022. 
 
 Kingfisher Foodbank at North Solihull Sports Centre  
 
1.4.18  Everyone Active and North Solihull Sports Centre are supporting Kingfisher 

Foodbanks in North Solihull. There is a donation trolley at reception during the 
Centres opening hours. Kingfisher Foodbanks is a project founded by local 
churches and community groups, working together towards stopping hunger in our 
local area through providing emergency food parcels, plus offering a listening ear 
and signposting to helpful agencies. With a dedicated team of over 30 volunteers, 
the foodbank relies on food and monetary donation. More information can be found 
at: https://kingfisher.foodbank.org.uk/ 

 
 Everyone Active partnership with Parkinson's UK, link to SA Docspot 

programme and current Parkinson’s Exercise Classes 
 
1.4.19  Leisure centres in Solihull are set to offer free membership to people living with 

Parkinson’s. North Solihull Sports Centre and Tudor Grange Leisure Centre, run by 
award-winning operator Everyone Active in partnership with Solihull Council, are 
taking part in the new initiative alongside charity Parkinson’s UK. Available now, the 
free membership will give access to gym, swim and group exercise classes, plus, all 
members will be offered a personalised exercise programme through EXi, the easy-
to-use online platform, with Synergy Dance online classes also available. Free carer 
membership will be available, if required. For further information, visit 
https://www.everyoneactive.com/promotion/parkinsons/ 

 
1.4.20  In addition to the free Parkinson’s membership offer, specialist exercise classes for 

people with Parkinson’s are on offer at Tudor Grange Leisure Centre. These 
specialist classes are designed to provide the most effective exercise sessions to 
support self-management of Parkinson’s and are led by exercise referral specialist 
instructors. For more details visit: https://www.solihullactive.co.uk/ms-parkinsons-
exercise/.   

 
 Wheelchair Treadmill Installation at North Solihull Sports Centre, Everyone 

Active 
 
1.4.21  North Solihull Sports Centre is revolutionising fitness for wheelchair users by 

introducing state-of-the-art equipment. Managed by Everyone Active in partnership 
with Solihull Council, the sports centre will see a wheelchair treadmill and 
wheelchair scales introduced this month, making it the only leisure centre in Solihull 
to host this equipment. Driving accessible fitness forward, the wheelchair treadmill 
provides a full cardio workout, as well as building muscle strength and improving 
balance, supporting wheelchair users to achieve their fitness goals. In addition, the 
new wheelchair scales will help to relieve any of the stress involved with standing 
during the weighing process – another great benefit for wheelchair users. The 
equipment was funded by The Eveson Trust, an independent funder which awards 
grants to support people with disabilities, older people, children in need and many 
more, across the West Midlands region. 

 

Page 60

https://kingfisher.foodbank.org.uk/
https://www.everyoneactive.com/promotion/parkinsons/
https://www.solihullactive.co.uk/ms-parkinsons-exercise/
https://www.solihullactive.co.uk/ms-parkinsons-exercise/


1.5 Future Decisions 
 
1.5.1 At my future decision-making session on the 25 July 2022, I will be considering the 

following report: 
 

 Funding allocation options for the Neighbourhood proportion of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy 

 

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



FULL COUNCIL  

5TH JULY 2022  

REPORT OF CABINET MEMBER FOR CLIMATE CHANGE, PLANNING AND HOUSING 

1. COUNCIL UPDATE REGARDING CLIMATE CHANGE, PLANNING AND 
HOUSING  

1.1 Purpose of Report 

To update Members on activities, good news items and issues of interest covering 
the CPH Climate Change, Planning and Housing portfolio.  

1.2 Background 

1.2.1 There were no decision sessions since my last report on 5th April 2022.   Members 
wishing to view all decisions can find these at 
http://eservices.solihull.gov.uk/mgInternet/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1 

1.3 Future Decisions - 28th June 2022 
 
1.3.1. Travel Plan Supplementary Planning Document  

 
A Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) covering technical guidance on Green 
Travel Plans will be presented to my portfolio holder meeting on the 28th June. The 
report is with a view to seeking approval to consult on the draft SPD. Its aim is to help 
provide further guidance to support enhanced s106 funding and improved travel 
planning across new developments. I will provide a verbal update to Council. 

 
1.3.2 Do It Yourself Shared Ownership Scheme (DIYSO) 
 
1.3.3 This report will be seeking to approve the extension of the DIYSO Scheme and will be 

presented at the 28th June meeting.  I will provide a verbal update to Council. 
  
1.4 Council Plan and Priorities 

1.4.1 Local Plan 
 

1.4.2 Members will be aware that our draft Local Plan remains subject to public 
examination. Following the submission of additional information regarding the 
proposed residential development at the NEC and updates to our housing land 
supply, a further hearing session has been announced for the 8th July. We remain 
hopeful this will be the final session and that the Inspectors will invite us to consider 
main modifications thereafter. If that does materialise then a further report will come 
before cabinet and council to seek approval to consult on those modifications. 

 
1.4.3 Chelmsley Wood Net Zero Neighbourhood 
 
1.4.4 We are currently preparing to submit our plan for a Net Zero Neighbourhood in 

Chelmsley Wood to the West Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA). The plan 
focusses on a 15-minute walking radius around the town centre and puts inclusive 
growth and the just transition to net zero at its core. The 15-minute neighbourhood 
seeks to layer retrofit, transport, natural environment, behaviour change and future 
mobility interventions, with directing available existing interventions into a package of 
measures that benefits the local community whilst reducing greenhouse gas 
emissions. 
 

Page 63

http://eservices.solihull.gov.uk/mgInternet/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1


1.4.5 Green Homes and Sustainable Warmth 

 
1.4.6 The Council’s implementation plan for the Sustainable Warmth Competition (SWC) 

was formally approved by the Midlands Net Zero Hub on 12th May. Solihull’s SWC 
grant allocation is £1.265 million and the target is to undertake home improvements 
to 140 properties during the year. Achieving approval of the plan was a detailed 
process. 

 
1.4.7 Our initial focus is on Alston Road in the Silhill ward. This will help support existing 

work by SCH under the ‘Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund’ to deliver External 
Wall Insulation to 50 properties. The SWC funding will support work to privately 
owned homes and homeowners will not have to pay a contribution towards the 
scheme. Letters to homeowners are being sent out in early June. 

 
1.4.8 The Sustainable Warmth and Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund programmes 

mark significant next steps as we work to improve the thermal (energy) efficiency of 
private homes across the Borough and we recognise that this will be a long-term 
programme spanning the next couple of decades. 

 
1.4.9 There are good partnerships in place (across the Council and externally) and we are 

working with the Council’s Strategic Marketing Manager, SCH, Act on Energy and 
Dodds to deliver the improvements at Alston Road. 

 
1.4.10 At the same time, we are working with the West Midlands Combined Authority to 

support the delivery of their Sustainable Warmth programme in the Elmdon Ward. A 
share of 300 properties (with another neighbourhood in Coventry) will benefit from 
home improvements to improve energy efficiency with marketing and community 
engagement activity to promote the scheme now underway with the support of 
Members in the area. 

 
1.4.11. Electric Vehicle update  
 
1.4.12 I am pleased to report that following my approval to progress with procurement of an 

electric vehicle rapid charging charge point operator partner, approval to go to market 
has been granted. A formal tender will be opened in July, with the award expected in 
September. The focus of this contract will be the provision of charge points across 
the Borough’s car parks. As well as this significant step forward for EV charging in 
the Borough, I am happy to inform that officers have submitted an application for 
approximately £1.5m of grant funding to support the installation of 200+ EV chargers 
at Community EV Charging Hubs across the Borough. An application was submitted 
into to the new Local Electric Vehicle Infrastructure (LEVI) pilot fund at the end of 
June.   

 
1.5. Good News and Issues of Interest 
 
1.5.1. BBC Gardeners’ World Live 2022 Schools Wheelbarrow Competition -

Commonwealth Countries in a Barrow (16th – 19th June 2022) 
 
1.5.2. To celebrate the arrival of the Commonwealth Games, several Solihull schools 

planted up a barrow representing one of the Commonwealth Countries. School 
groups were encouraged to look at flora and fauna, garden styles, national heritage, 
cuisine and cultures from the Commonwealth Countries, picking one country to be 
the inspiration behind the design and planting of their wheelbarrow.  
 

 

Page 64



1.5.3. Recycled Flag Project 
 

1.5.4. Schools are celebrating the Commonwealth Games with an eco-friendly activity, 
creating flag artwork for their chosen Commonwealth country from recycled 
materials. The artwork will be displayed as part of the CWG exhibitions at The Core 
during the upcoming celebrations. 

 
1.5.5. Toy Amnesty  
 
1.5.6. Blossomfield School received a prize cheque for £300 from the Recycling Appliance 

Group for the heaviest collection of waste electrical items for the Solihull Schools toy 
amnesty. In total eleven schools took part in the challenge, collecting 113kg worth of 
toys.  
 

1.5.7. Elmdon Sustainable Warmth Campaign - engaging schools 

 

1.5.8. Schools in Elmdon area have been offered workshops for pupils on climate change 
and energy efficiency as part of the Elmdon Sustainable Warmth Campaign. The 
National Energy Initiative will provide renewable energy trailer visit.  They are also 
providing class sessions on energy saving in the home. 

 

1.5.9   Biodiversity Net Gain 

1.5.10 A response was submitted to the Defra consultation on Biodiversity Net Gain: 
Regulations and Implementation, and the Government is expected to publish its 
report shortly. A new Defra consultation on the Biodiversity Metric is expected to be 
published in early July.  
 

1.5.11 CIEEM Award (Chartered Institute of Ecology and Environment Management)  
 
1.5.12 Following the CIEEM awards ceremony on the 22nd June, I am delighted to confirm 

that the Council won the Large-Scale Nature Conservation Award. The award is 
fantastic recognition for the hard work of our team and excellent recognition of the 
Council’s wider work and ambition in relation to enhancing our natural environment 
over recent years.   

 
1.5.13 The award reflects a three-year programme of woodland, grassland, wetland and 

water quality improvements which was delivered across publicly accessible green 
space within the urban areas of Solihull. The project delivered enhancements to 24 
individual habitat projects to collectively increase and strengthen the capacity of the 
natural environment to deliver ecosystem services across Solihull, enhancing over 
100 hectares of green space. The Environment Agency (EA) and Warwickshire 
Wildlife Trust (WWT) were our strategic delivery partners.  

 
1.5.14 West Midlands Climate Adaptation Working Group  
 
1.5.15 Solihull Council is now a member of the West Midlands Climate Adaptation Working 

Group, joining stakeholders from both the public and private sector, including WMCA, 
Environmental Agency, Severn Trent Water and Tarmac. The group has been 
convened to support the West Midlands response to climate change adaptation and 
the actions in the West Midlands Climate Adaptation Action Plan. 

 
1.5.16 West Midlands Funders Network Annual Conference 
 
1.5.17 Solihull Council continues to show leadership chairing and presenting at the West 

Midlands Funders Network Annual Conference: Sustainability, Funding, Climate 
Change on 18th /19th May. The session on ‘Insights into strategic and operational 
priorities to reduce the carbon footprint in the West Midlands’ was chaired by Austin 

Page 65



Rodriguez, Head of Stronger Communities, and saw SMBC officers join colleagues 
from WMCA to discuss the challenges of funding to the public sector.  

 
1.5.18 The Association of Directors of Environment, Economy, Planning and 

Transport (ADEPT) Awards   
 
1.5.19  The achievements of its members and partners were celebrated at ADEPT’s annual 

President’s Awards on 26 May. Solihull Council picked up the top national award in 
the ‘Delivering Clean Growth’ category for its pioneering work in developing an 
autonomous shuttle for moving people.  Commenting on Solihull's winning entry the 
judges said that not only did this project address all the criteria but that it was also 
‘applicable to others and provides opportunities for greater learning’.  
 

1.5.20 Street Lighting 
 
1.5.21  I would like to congratulate the Street Lighting Service on their first full year of being 

zero carbon.  This removes around 1,500 tonnes from our Council’s operational 
emissions and demonstrates their commitment to the net zero ambitions.  

 
1.6 Future Decisions  

 
1.6.1.   I have a further decision session in July 2022 when I will be looking to approve a 

Renovation policy to provide enabling assistance to support sustainable warm retrofit 
programmes.  
 

 
 
 
 

Page 66

https://www.adeptnet.org.uk/news/adept-awards-celebrate-collaborative-and-innovative-projects
https://www.adeptnet.org.uk/news/adept-awards-celebrate-collaborative-and-innovative-projects
https://www.investinukcentral.com/solihull-councils-self-driving-shuttle-picks-up-top-award-for-delivering-clean-growth/


FULL COUNCIL  

5 JULY 2022 

REPORT OF CABINET MEMBER FOR CHILDREN EDUCATION AND SKILLS 

1. COUNCIL UPDATE REGARDING DECISIONS 

1.1 Purpose of Report 

To advise Members that following the last Cabinet Portfolio Holder (CPH) report to 
Full Council on the 5th of April 2022, there have been no further CPH decision making 
sessions.  The next meeting is scheduled for the 27th of June and the agenda is 
identified within the body of this report at item 1.3. 

1.2 Background 

1.2.1 This report highlights some of those decisions which have been made, but not all. 
Members wishing to view all decisions made can find these at 
http://eservices.solihull.gov.uk/mgInternet/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1 

1.3 Decisions 

1.3.1 As noted previously there has been no further CPH decision making sessions since 
February and as identified within the last report presented to Full Council on the 5th of 
April.    

1.3.2 The next Cabinet Portfolio meeting is scheduled for the 27th of June.  Items for 
decision making include the following:- 

 Summerfield Education Centre. To update the Cabinet Member on the 
relocation of Summerfield Education Centre and its conversion to an 
Alternative Provision (AP) Academy.   

 Determination of Post 16 Transport Policy Statement 2022 – 2023.  For 
the Cabinet Portfolio Holder to approve the post-16 transport policy statement 
2022 – 2023. 

 Local Authority Approval of Revised Instrument of Government.  For the 
Cabinet member to approve the revision of the Governing Body instrument of 
Government. 

 Local Authority Approval of LA Governor Appointments – Coleshill 
Heath School.  To ratify the decision made on the 22nd of March 2022 by 
Councillor Holt with the agreement of opposition councillors to approve the 
Local Authority nomination to school governing bodies to Coleshill Heath 
Primary School. 

 Childrens Services Capital Programme 2022/2025. This report presents an 
update to the Childrens Services Capital Programme for 2022/2025, including 
the most recently approved government grant allocations. 

 

1.4 Issues of Interest 

1.4.1 Following the publication of the Multi-Agency JTAI (Joint Targeted Area Inspection) 
report in February 2022, the partnership statement of action was returned to 
OFSTED in May.  

Page 67

http://eservices.solihull.gov.uk/mgInternet/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1


1.4.2 The report from the independent National Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel 
into the murders of Arthur Labinjo-Hughes and Star Hobson was published in May.  
The document sets out the panel findings and recommendations for government as 
well as local safeguarding partners to protect children. 

1.4.3 The Chief Executive and Interim Director of Children Education and Skills will attend 
the Education Select Committee on the 28th of June to give oral evidence. 

1.5 Future Decisions 

1.5.1 The next Cabinet Portfolio Holder meeting is due to be held on the 27th of June as 
identified within paragraph 1.3 above.  A verbal update of the decisions taken will be 
provided at the Full Council Meeting this evening. 

 

Page 68



FULL COUNCIL 

5TH JULY 2022 

REPORT OF CABINET MEMBER FOR ENVIRONMENT AND INFRASTRUCTURE 

1. COUNCIL UPDATE REGARDING ENVIRONMENT AND INFRASTRUCTURE 

1.1 Purpose of Report 

To advise Members that two decision-making sessions were held on 14th April 2022 
and 1st June 2022, covering CPH Environment and Infrastructure. 

1.2 Background 

1.2.1 This report highlights some of those decisions which have been made, but not all.  
Members wishing to view all decisions made can find these at 
http://eservices.solihull.gov.uk/mgInternet/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1 

1.2.2 Attached to this report is a list of decisions made. 

1.3 Decisions 14 April 2022 

1.3.1 Street Lighting Annual Update 

1.3.2 I received a report from the Street Lighting service noting the efforts to convert all 
street lighting to energy efficient LEDs and work with residents to install new footway 
lighting in areas considered necessary. I approved the alterations to the pricing 
structure to move to a more task based approach which will allow clarity and certainty 
to both the Council and third parties, whilst also giving sufficient flexibility to ensure 
the service does not operate at a loss overall. The provision of payment in advance 
of works commencing will also allow the service to be more operationally efficient and 
minimise any outstanding future debt.   

 
1.3.3 Highways Management Service Update 

1.3.4 I was provided with an update and opportunity to comment on the Council’s statutory 
Network Management Plan for the public highway which I approved.  This included 
priorities for Road Safety, Sustainable Travel, Management duties and details of the 
on-going highway improvements which included reinstating a programme of Parking 
Displacement Schemes to help address some of the parking pressures in our local 
residential communities to consultation and if supported, construction. 

1.3.5 Urban Traffic Control Asset Management Plan Update 

1.3.6 This report provides oversight of the Traffic Signal controlled junctions and pedestrian 
crossings, along with other intelligent systems used across the Borough to manage 
the flow of traffic on the highway network.  Through this report I approved a 5 year 
asset investment plan (£1.3m) to maintain the quality and performance of these  

1.3.7 Flood Risk Management Update 

1.3.8 I received the Flood Risk Management Annual Update Report and was pleased to 
note the contents of the report and the work undertaken by officers in response to the 
flooding in June 2021 along with the action plan presented for the coming year to 
continue to seek funding and investment into property flood resilience improvements 
which can have a significant and lasting benefit to some of our most vulnerable 

Page 69

http://eservices.solihull.gov.uk/mgInternet/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1


residents. I approved the continuing efforts of the officers and the property flood 
resilience project in accordance with the secured external funding from the 
Environment Agency of c.£2m. I will receive a further report in April 2023 to review 
the scheme progress and proposed works programme for the 2023/24 financial year. 

 
1.3.9 Petitions 

I received updates on 11 petitions since my last update to Council.  Officers 
responded to these individually and various recommendations are in the process of 
being taken forward to help respond positively to the specific concerns raised.  The 
main theme received from Ward Councillors related to road safety and specifically 
speed of traffic in some residential streets.  In view of the high demand for this 
service area I have asked the Stronger Communities and Neighbourhood Services 
Scrutiny Board to review current services provided to ensure our statutory duties are 
being responded to appropriately and the available resources used to deliver best 
value which is programmed to take place in September. 

1.3.10 Decisions 1 June 2022 

1.3.11 I received a Petitions Report and noted the current position with regard to the nine 
petitions and agreed the proposed recommendations as set out for each. 

1.4 Good News and Issues of Interest 

1.4.1 The Armed Forces Community Garden at Hillfield Park in Solihull was officially 
unveiled on Friday 20 May by the Vice Lord Lieutenant of the West Midlands, 
Professor Helen Higson OBE, the Mayor of Solihull, Councillor Ken Meeson, the 
President of Warwickshire and Birmingham County Royal British Legion (RBL), 
Elaine Butler and six Armed Forces Veterans. Veterans included people who had 
recently been badly injured during service, or who had suffered from post-traumatic 
stress disorder, or who had lost relatives in active service.  

1.4.2 Although the Garden has been open since last summer, the official opening and 
celebrations have been postponed twice because of Covid restrictions. Two years in 
the making, RBL Warwickshire & Birmingham County and Solihull Council have 
worked in collaboration to construct and create a unique outdoor garden space for 
the Armed Forces community and their families to visit and enjoy in Solihull. The 
Garden was commissioned to provide a place of reflection, relaxation, and inspiration 
for veterans, currently serving, the injured, sick, and wounded and their families. It 
will also be enjoyed by the local community.  

1.4.3  Flood Risk Management – Works have commenced on the property flood resilience 
scheme for those residents affected by the June 2021 floods. Contractors have been 
appointed and over 200 homeowners are having design and installation 
appointments scheduled in for the coming months.  

1.4.4 Tranche 2 Cycle Routes - The Millisons Wood to Meriden Cycle and Knowle routes 
are complete with minor changes required to some of the works. The construction on 
the Blossomfield Road route has been completed with the final stage to connect 
Cranmore Boulevard to A34 Stratford Road is being constructed currently with 
completion expected at the end of June / early July. 130 cycle stands have been 
implemented across the Borough in all wards near local shops and centres.  

1.4.5 Tranche 3 Active Travel Routes – I am pleased to report that we have secured 
circa £1m of funding from Active Travel England and the Department for Transport to 
fund walking improvements across the borough.  Tranche 3 is committed to 
improving the walking and cycling for vulnerable road users by encouraging and 
promoting journeys to schools and key local destinations. Tranche 3 will set out 

Page 70



improvements to crossing facilities and providing a safe pedestrian and cycling 
environment around schools particularly, to support children travelling independently 
to and from school. These improvements will also provide new and improved links to 
nearby local areas.  

1.4.6 Blythe Valley Park to Monkspath and Dorridge Cycle routes – We are currently 
working on the feasibility / concept design connecting Blythe Valley Business Park to 
Monkspath and Dorridge. The concept design has been shared with Ward members 
and we are in early engagement with business and resident forums. The current 
plans are to provide a shared use facility along the A34 connecting to the Monkspath 
Hall Road Roundabout with connections to Hay Lane and Stanbrook Road.  The 
connection into Dorridge looks at a number of routes.  It is likely to be a less intrusive 
scheme and will seek to use the current network of roads to safely connect the 
business park with Dorridge centre. If proven to be acceptable we envisage an 
experimental trial in the summer months.  The designs will be consulted upon in 
June/July with construction scheduled for summer this year.  

1.4.7 Parking Enforcement fleet goes electric – The Council’s Civil Parking Enforcement 
Officers took possession of 4 new e-scooters and 2 new electric powered cars earlier 
this month. The new modes of sustainable transport will enable the team to reduce 
carbon and travel more efficiently around the Borough of Solihull to complete their 
parking enforcement and car park management duties. 

1.4.8 Cycling - Last week our 2022/23 school cycle training booking system opened using 
a new self-service software solution, allowing schools to make their own bookings, 
download consent forms and share required data with us securely and efficiently. 

“Get Pedalling” was run from Tudor Grange Cycle Track and North Solihull Sports 
Centre over half term with 31 children attending these learn to ride sessions. 

Our Cycle mechanics have been supporting groups of refugee’s in the borough 
teaching them basic cycle maintenance.  successfully run 3 sessions upskilling 26 
people and have another 4 sessions booked in June. This is in collaboration with the 
Refugee and Resettlement team who are supplying bikes and helmets to this group. 

The Sustainable Travel team have been running a schedule of FREE adult cycle 
training sessions from the Solihull Active Community Cycling hubs supported by 
funding from the Capability fund in May and June. These have been well received 
and have been fully booked. Cycle training and maintenance courses for children, 
adults and families throughout the summer months. 

1.4.9 School Streets - Two new sites launched at Cranmore Infants and Windy Arbor 
Primary on the 6th June as part of School Streets Phase 3 project which also includes 
Olton Primary School that was launched earlier in May. Later this month additional 
parking restrictions are planned to be installed in and around Grandborough Drive 
again in support of the Council’s Sustainable Travel objectives. 

1.5 Future Decisions 

1.5.1 At my July Decision Session, I will receive reports on the following: 

 20mph Speed Limit Review 

 School Crossing Patrol Service and Site Prioritisation Review 

 Parking Services Strategy 

 City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement 

 Solihull Town Centre Public Realm Improvement Scheme 
 

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



Decisions taken at the CPH Environment and Infrastructure Decision Session  
Meeting held on Thursday 14 April 2022 

 

Title Decision Taken 

Apologies No apologies received. 

Declarations of 
Interest 

There were no declarations of interest from Members in 
accordance with the Code of Conduct. 

Questions and 
Deputations 

No questions or deputations received. 

Highway 
Management 
Service Priorities 
and Resources 

The Cabinet Portfolio Holder:- 
(a) Noted progress against the Network Management 

Plan and its updated Action Plan, as detailed in the 
report and shown in Appendix A; 

(b) Endorsed the prioritisation framework for the Parking 
Displacement Programme, as set out in Appendix B; 

(c) Approved the proposed Parking Displacement 
Programme 2022/23, as set out in Appendix C; and 

(d) Agreed to receive annual updates as part of the 
Highway’s Asset Management Plan and Community 
Liveability Programme (CLP) priority setting 
processes. 

Urban Traffic 
Control – 5 year 
Asset 
Management 
Plan 

The Cabinet Portfolio Holder:- 
(a) Noted the contents of the report; 
(b) Approved, subject to available funding, the Urban 

Traffic Control 5-year asset management plan as 
shown in Appendix B; and 

(c) Agreed to use of Smart push buttons in new and 
upgraded traffic signal and pedestrian installations 
as shown in Appendix C. 

Flood Risk 
Management – 
Annual Update 

The Cabinet Portfolio Holder: 
(a) Noted the contents of the report relating to work 

carried out during 2021/22; 
(b) Approved the proposed work plan for the service 

area to March 2023, as set out in Appendix A; and 
(c) Agreed to receive a further update in April 2023. 

Street Lighting – 
Service Update 

The Cabinet Portfolio Holder:- 
(a) Noted the content of the report relating to work 

carried out during 2021/22; and 
(b) Approved the revised fees and charges structure as 

set out in Section 4 – Task Based Pricing Structure 
4.4 to 4.8. 

Petition 
Summary 

The Cabinet Portfolio Holder:- 
(a) Noted the current position with regard to the two 

new petitions received for this portfolio, as set out in 
Appendix 1; and 

(b) Agreed to the proposed timescales for detailed 
responses and recommendations as set out with 
each petition. 

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



Decisions taken at the CPH Environment and Infrastructure Decision Session  
Meeting held on Wednesday 1 June 2022 

 

Title Decision Taken 

Apologies No apologies received. 

Declarations of 
Interest 

There were no declarations of disclosable pecuniary interest 
or conflict of interest. 

Questions and 
Deputations 

No questions or deputations received. 

Petition 
Summary 

The Cabinet Portfolio Holder:- 
(a) Noted the current position with regard to nine 

petitions received for this portfolio, as set out in 
Appendix 1; and 

(b) Agreed the proposed recommendations as set out 
for each petition. 

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



FULL COUNCIL 
  

5 JULY 2022 
 

   REPORT OF CABINET MEMBER FOR ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH  

1.1 Purpose of Report 

To advise Members that there were no decisions to be made on the 22 June 2022, 
therefore the meeting was cancelled. 

1.2 Background 

1.2.1 This report highlights some of those decisions which have been made, but not all. 
Members wishing to view all decisions made can find these at 
http://eservices.solihull.gov.uk/mgInternet/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1 

 
1.3 Good News 

 
1.3.1 Carers Week: Carers week took place from the 8th to the 14th of June. To celebrate 

the hard work and dedication of our unpaid carers there were a number of events 
which were run by the Carers Trust Solihulll, who are the Council’s commissioned 
provider for carers support.  

1.3.2 This year saw a trip to Glastonbuget for young adult carers (18-25 years), a beach 
trip for 22 families to Weston-super-Mare with 73 carers and those they cared 
for. There was also a drop-in at Lily’s Team Room in Chelmsley Wood, to raise 
awareness of carers in the community with discussion with the public and the 
distribution of information. The highlight of Carers week was the first Charity Ball and 
Carer Friendly Awards on the 11th of June at the Village Hotel. The event marked 20 
years of Carers Trust in the Solihull. This gave an opportunity to celebrate both 
individual and corporate efforts in Solihull to support our carers. 

1.3.3 Solihull Home First: The Solihull Home First Programme continues to work well in 
terms of hospital admissions avoidance and in order to ensure that people with care 
needs are, wherever possible, supported to return home on discharge from hospital. 
A diagnostic of what works work, and where developments could further support this 
programme, concluded in March 2022. This identified a number of positives, 
including excellent joined-up working. 

1.3.4 In the first quarter of 2022/23, a video was produced for staff across the health and 
care system to share the findings of the diagnostic, so everyone is prepared for the 
next steps of development. The next steps of development and improvement will be 
happening over the coming months. 

1.3.5 Early Response Service (ERS): Adult Care and Support Directorate commissioned 
an Early Response Service (ERS) as a hospital admission avoidance service.  It was 
launched in October 2021 and is delivered by Universal Care Services. This is a 
borough-wide service, operating 7 days a week and can support people for up to 6 
weeks.  The service is designed to work with people’s existing support networks and 
enables them to remain at home if a crisis in circumstances affects their care 
arrangements or welfare.  As hospitals continue to have high levels of demand for 
care, it is important that bed capacity is used only for those who need a hospital 
service.  ERS puts in place wraparound care to prevent unnecessary stays in 
hospital. 

Page 77

http://eservices.solihull.gov.uk/mgInternet/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1


1.3.6 Since it began operating, the ERS has started to accept referrals directly from A&E to 
provide another response for those taken there for whom a rapid return home is 
preferred. NHS colleagues have been very positive about the service and its 
responsiveness in helping to offer a more flexible approach, and to alleviate pressure 
on hospital beds. After the initial success, the long-term model for this service will be 
considered as part of the Home First developments outlined above.  

1.3.7 Solihull Festival Offer for Care Staff: Commissioners have worked with Solihull 
Festival organisers and agreed a special offer to show our appreciation for the 
dedication and hard work by care staff. 

1.3.8 This great offer means staff working in the Solihull borough in the private, voluntary 
and independent sector in Adult Social Care will be able to purchase 2 tickets for the 
price of 1 to the Solihull Festival.  

1.3.9 This offer will be open to all care staff who should apply directly to Solihull Festival 
and identify themselves as care workers, to take advantage of this offer. 

1.3.10 The festival is well established in Solihull and has a range of great acts performing, 
providing a chance to relax, listen to music and enjoy street food. This offer is 
another way that appreciation and recognition is shown to care workers in 
Solihull. We are grateful to the organisers for this gesture of recognition.   
 

1.3.11 Exploitation Reduction: Solihull’s All-Age Exploitation Reduction Strategy 
represents a partnership approach committed to making improvements to protecting 
children, young people and adults from all types of exploitation.  

1.3.12 Exploitation Reduction Delivery Group members have been co-ordinating efforts to 
raise awareness of this work and of Multi-Agency Safeguarding Procedures through 
the development of a communications plan. The focus of the plan is split into four 
themes - prevention, protection, partnership and pursue. 

1.3.13 The current prevention focus is on reaching into sectors with specific insight and 
access to vulnerable groups - individuals and businesses who can be watchful eyes 
and ears on the ground in the community. 

1.3.14 If people in these sectors are engaged and equipped to spot warning signs and know 
how to act on and highlight their concerns, then much earlier interventions could be 
made, ultimately protecting potential victims of exploitation. 

1.3.15 They include those involved in the night-time economy – fast food, bars and cafes, 
pubs and clubs, hotels and B&Bs, visitor attractions like skating rinks, festivals, 
circus, parks and open spaces, shopping centres, town centres, and events for 
teenagers. 

1.3.16 Public services staff are another very important group - refuse collectors, street 
cleansers, litter pickers, grounds maintenance, highways operatives, along with 
public transport and taxi and private hire firms. 

1.3.17 To support raising awareness of, and as an output of the communications plan, 
leaflets and posters have been developed and shared. A dedicated Council 
telephone number has been implemented and more detailed sector specific training 
has been developed and is available via the Solihull Safeguarding Adults Board and 
Local Safeguarding Children’s Partnership website All Age Exploitation - Solihull 
Safeguarding Adult and Children (safeguardingsolihull.org.uk). 

Resources have also been developed for awareness raising within the public, this 
includes accessible material that will be launched to coincide with the 
Commonwealth Games. 

Page 78

https://www.safeguardingsolihull.org.uk/exploitation-communications/
https://www.safeguardingsolihull.org.uk/exploitation-communications/
https://www.safeguardingsolihull.org.uk/exploitation-communications/


1.3.18 Adult Social Care Environmental Sustainability Plans: Environmental 
responsibility is a key enabling priority for the Adult Social Care. To support the 
sustainability of our commissioned care services and workforce we have utilised 
government grants to provide funding to three care providers to support their use of 
hybrid or electric vehicles. At a time of increasing fuel costs these providers are now 
delivering over one hundred and eighty care miles per week using electric or hybrid 
vehicles as well as achieving improved workforce recruitment and retention. 
Additionally, we have purchased two electric mopeds which will be used by home 
care providers to travel around the borough, further reducing the environmental 
impact of social care provision in Solihull.  
 

1.3.19 We have also seen the environmental benefits from new working arrangements and 
technology improvements reducing the environmental impact of home to work travel 
as well as travel journeys to attend internal and external meetings. For council 
employees working in adult social care, there has been a 61% reduction in business 
miles from 223k miles in 2018/19 to 86.7k miles in 2021/22. Additionally, the use of 
digital communication and development of electronic systems and processes has 
seen a 74% reduction in printing from 750k sheets in 2019/20 to 272k sheets in 
2021/22. 

1.3.20 Our Day Services South Team have established a Sustainability Champions Staff 
Group working with people who attend the day centre to improve sustainability of the 
centre. Taking proactive steps to raise environmental awareness, through events 
such as ‘switch off fortnight’ to monitor and reduce energy usage and improving 
recycling to reduce the amount of waste that goes to landfill.  

1.3.21 Dual Diagnosis: Our local commissioned Drug and Alcohol service SIAS has 
employed a dual diagnosis worker to provide evidence-based interventions and 
supervision to SIAS practitioners and Mental Health teams within Solihull. This post 
will develop and implement structured pathways to and from community teams and 
work with Transforming Mental Health to improve access to treatment as well as 
work with Dr E Day to improve treatment experiences and outcomes for comorbid 
services users. 

1.3.22 PCN Hubs: Solihull Integrated Lifestyle Services have commenced providing 
Lifestyle clinics within PCN hubs across the borough, to work with GPs in pro-active 
prevention, early identification and support for long term conditions. This has been a 
collaborative enterprise between, LA, Primary Care, CCG and providers resulting in 
enhanced and improved health pathways for Solihull residents. It demonstrates the 
ability of Solihull services to operate within a whole system approach that will 
improve outcomes for patients in Solihull.  

1.3.23 Family Hubs Transformation Fund bid Announcement: Solihull has been named as 
one of 12 areas (out of 84 applicants) to be awarded up to £1 million each to create a 
network of Family Hubs. This funding will deliver genuine transformation for Solihull 
families from pre-conception to 19 years (and 25 years for young people with 
additional needs) with a seamless, single-branded family support offer throughout 
childhood. This funding will enable us to work collaboratively on prevention and early 
intervention across the system to realise our vision of a network of hub buildings, a 
digital offer and outreach work in the community. We look forward to working with 
teams across the Council and wider partners to shape our hub offer so families can 
access the right help, at the right time, in the heart of our communities who need it 
most, directly addressing intergenerational patterns of disadvantage.  

1.4 Future Decisions 
1.4.1 A list is available on the Forward Plan. 

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



Decisions taken at the CPH Adult Social Care and Health Decision Session  
Meeting held on Tuesday 19 April 2022 

 
Councillor T Dicicco 

 
Opposition Spokespersons Present: Cllr M Brain (Green Group) 

 

Title Decision Taken 

Public Health Commissioned 
Services, Service Recovery 
and Performance Quarter 3 
2021-22 

The Cabinet Member endorsed the contents of the report and 
actions being taken forward. 

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



 
RESOURCES & DELIVERING VALUE SCRUTINY BOARD - 31 March 2022 

 
 

 

1  

MINUTES 

 
 
Present 
 
 

Councillors: M Parker (Chairman), D Holl-Allen MBE, S Davis, M 
McCarthy, A Rebeiro, P Thomas, M Gough, B Groom, M Allen  
 

 
Officers 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Sam Gilbert: Assistant Director, Finance & Property Services 
Paul Langham: Assistant Director, Business Systems 
Adrian Cattell: Head of Human Resources 
Paul Rogers: Democratic Services 
 
 

1.     APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor J Tildesley, for whom 
Councillor M Gough was substituting and from Paul Johnson, Director of 
Resources and Deputy Chief Executive. 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY OR CONFLICTS OF INTEREST  
 
No declarations of interest were received. 
 

3. QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS  
 
No questions or deputations were received. 
 

4. PUBLIC MINUTES  
 
The Resources and Delivering Value Scrutiny Board: 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

(i) To agree the Minutes arising from the Resources and Delivering Value 
Scrutiny Board meeting held on 1st March 2022 as an accurate record. 

 
5. SMARTER WAYS OF WORKING  

 
The report before the Scrutiny Board updated Members on progress with the Council’s 
key programme, Smarter Ways of Working (SWOW). The Assistant Director for 
Finance and Property Services presented the report.  

 
Members were informed that the SWOW Programme was a key Council Plan 
priority and had been reported periodically to the Resources and Delivering 
Value Scrutiny Board, the last update report having been received by the 
Scrutiny Board in October 2021.  At the Scrutiny Board meeting held on 12th 
October 2020, Members received a SWOW update report in response to the 
Covid-19 pandemic, which had provided an opportunity to reset the SWOW 
Programme.  A number of interdependencies were evident across the SWOW 
Programme, as well as a number of benefits arising in 2020, such as a 

Public Document Pack

Page 83

Agenda Item 12



 
RESOURCES & DELIVERING VALUE SCRUTINY BOARD - 31 March 2022 

 
 

 

2  

reduction in carbon emissions, a reduction in the Council’s sickness absence 
and some forms of financial benefits. 
 
The application of hybrid working was reported to be varied across respective 
Council Directorates, which largely reflected individual service’s needs, but on 
average 40% of staff were working from Council premises as part of the 
SWOW Programme. 
 
In October 2021, Members of the Scrutiny Board received a further SWOW 
Programme update report, which detailed the pilot SWOW work taking place in 
the Council House. From this period, staff numbers returning to Council 
premises began to rise, which was supported by the newly implemented cloud 
room booking system for the Council House, which had been well utilised since 
its introduction. The desk booking system was scheduled to be rolled out 
across other Council buildings to manage staff occupancy. 
 
Other Council functions and facilities were also under review, such as The 
Core, accommodating the library, theatre and voluntary sector. The SWOW 
Programme was currently being reviewed in conjunction with library staff.   
 
Staff attendance in Council office space had varied across respective 
Directorates; for example, Children’s Services were reported to be 100% office 
based, with other services occupancy within Council buildings varying week by 
week.  Use of the Council House car park had previously been reserved for 
essential users only, but during the SWOW pilot it was trialled that any Council 
staff working from the Council House site could use the car park.  Various 
peaks and flows had been seen during the pilot period, with the pilot working 
remaining under review at this time. The pilot scheme presently allows for 
essential users to park in the Church Hill multi-storey car park free of charge in 
the Council House staff car park is at full capacity. 
 
From the I.T. perspective, the Assistant Director, Business Systems informed 
Members that the SWOW Programme facilitated hybrid working through the 
provision of the necessary IT kit for employees, such as a laptop, monitor, 
mouse and business phone, all of which had been successfully rolled out to 
staff.  All staff were now fully equipped with laptops, which could be used at 
home and in Council buildings. 
 
Microsoft Teams had been successfully implemented across the Council for all 
Council staff, with staff now showing great proficiency in using the Microsoft 
Teams application for supporting their services. 
 
In respect of the desk booking system, the Assistant Director, Business 
Systems further advised Members that the system provided additional health 
and safety benefits in that it detailed who was present in a Council building at 
any time, which supported the application of risk management measures. 
 
Staff home working was supported through provision of a smart phone, which 
facilitated access to broadband hotspots in the event of any outage. This 

Page 84



 
RESOURCES & DELIVERING VALUE SCRUTINY BOARD - 31 March 2022 

 
 

 

3  

supported continued access to the Councils business systems for staff; for 
example, to maintain access to business e-mail systems. 
 
The Head of Human Resources advised Members that the workplace had 
changed significantly with the advent of the Covid-19 pandemic. The Council 
was actively promoting the benefits of working for the Council in support of its 
recruitment campaigns, which included promotion of the SWOW Programme 
and the Council’s Well Being offer.  Work continued around the PDR 
Framework to reflect SWOW and expected behaviours from employees via the 
Annual PDR. 
 
A number of policies and reviews linked to the SWOW Programme were 
reported to have been completed, including Hybrid Working Guidelines, 
Uniform Policy Guidelines, Flexible Working Policy, Sickness Absence 
Management Policy and the Performance and Development Review (PDR) 
Framework and were now ‘live’ policies. A review of a number of Council 
policies were reported to be works in progress and included policies for travel 
and subsistence, car parking regulations, probation, resolution and 
management of change. 
 
The Head of Human Resources further advised Members that an organisational 
approach to employee wellbeing was being taken forward. This entailed 
addressing wellbeing for both individuals and teams, supported by wellbeing 
action plans. The work also incorporated a review of how new SWOW 
arrangements may be impacting staff.  Furthermore, a Smarter Ways of 
Working learning pathway has been created to guide employees to the range of 
new and existing learning and development opportunities available. 
 
Members were advised that significant work had been undertaken in respect of 
the mental health awareness offer for employees, incorporating measures to 
ensure managers were aware of individual’s work/life balance and that regular 
line management contact was maintained with staff through the SWOW and 
hybrid working arrangements. 
 
A Workforce Champions Group had been successfully established towards the 
end of 2021 and was used to facilitate engagement and consultation on the 
SWOW Programme, from which 189 staff comments were received and which 
in turn were reviewed.   
 
In January 2022, a Winter Well Being event was facilitated by the Council, 
which sought to identify further ways by which employees physical and mental 
wellbeing could be supported. Over 400 places were taken up through the 
event. The intention was to facilitate the Winter Well Being event on an annual 
basis. 
 
In respect of financial implications, Members were advised by the Assistant 
Director, Finance & Property Services that there was some budget provision in 
support of the SWOW Programme; for example, £332,000 to support home 
working and £490,000 for ICT equipment to support remote working. For the 
2023/24 financial year it was proposed that costs would be offset by future 

Page 85



 
RESOURCES & DELIVERING VALUE SCRUTINY BOARD - 31 March 2022 

 
 

 

4  

savings accruing through the SWOW Programme.  Savings targets from this 
point were established at £250,000 per annum. Members were further advised 
that the fiscal closedown for 2022 would provide a further 2 years of data in 
terms of establishing the Council’s operational and running costs during the 
pandemic period and would provide greater costs incurred against budget 
heading such as mileage, travel and subsistence and stationary and would 
provide greater clarity as to whether the £250, 000 savings target would be 
met.  
 
Having received the Officer’s presentations, Members of the Scrutiny Board 
raised a number of related questions arising from their consideration of the 
report, resulting in the confirmation of the following matters: 
 

 Employees response to the SWOW Programme had been very positive, 
with employees reporting they had found it to be a positive experience.  
The cloud desk booking system had proven to be very helpful and had 
been well received by staff. 
 

 Disciplinary and sickness management meetings had to be facilitated 
confidentially if such meetings were held virtually, as defined in the 
recently reviewed Disciplinary and Capability policies.  There were also 
sufficient meeting rooms available in the Council House to hold face to 
face, private and confidential meetings as and when required. The 
policies addressing confidentiality were introduced after some reported 
incidents of recordings having been made in private and confidential 
settings without consent.  The Disciplinary and Capability policies would 
be communicated to employees once they were made live policies. 
 

 In terms of Council office space and capacity, decanting of some 
services located in satellite sites in the borough had taken place in an 
effort to utilise space in the Council House; for example, Children’s 
Services. The provision of additional meeting rooms in the Council 
House had also taken some space available within the Council House, 
as had provision of a greater number of collaborative working areas for 
supporting team/project working than had previously been available. 
Council House usage had yet to stabilise, but the SWOW occupancy 
target of 40% remained.  Capacity and staff numbers within the Council 
House complex would continue to be monitored as part of the SWOW 
Programme pilot and if necessary the Council’s Assets Policy could be 
reviewed at a future point as needed. 
 

 Staff sickness had reduced significantly during the Covid-19 pandemic 
period, but it was now reported to be rising. In August 2021, average 
sickness stood at 0.7 days per FTE.  From December 2021 to February 
2022 sickness grew to 1.4 – 1.8 days per FTE.  The latest figures for 
February 2022 stood at just under 1 day per FTE. The rise in sickness 
levels during December 2021-February 2022 may also be attributable to 
the relaxing of pandemic lockdown regulations.  Absence attributable to 

Page 86



 
RESOURCES & DELIVERING VALUE SCRUTINY BOARD - 31 March 2022 

 
 

 

5  

mental health remained the biggest factor in sickness absence, followed 
by Covid-19, cancer and post-operative treatments. 
 

 During the initial introduction of hybrid / home working working 
arrangements arising due to the Covid-19 pandemic, some significant 
delays in receiving all ICT kit was experienced. However, the Council 
moved from a procurement strategy of ordering twenty laptops for 
example, to bulk ordering with a longer lead in time and subsequently 
managing the roll-out of the devices to staff.  Some older IT equipment 
was still in use, but it was fully compatible with the SWOW programme. 
The Council was now into a business as usual cycle, replacing 
equipment over a 4-year cycle. 
 

 The Smarter Ways of Working Charters had been developed by two 
Directorate Champions Groups, which fully engaged with the workforce 
and did not employ a top down approach.  
 

 It was recognised that on-going learning continued through the SWOW 
Programme, which was demonstrated through provision of the learning 
and development suite and opportunities made available to support 
employees and to support on-going communications with employees.  
The employee development offer would not remain the same and would 
evolve over time.  Feedback from participants would be sought and the 
development programme will evolve over time as an on-going process. 

 

 The current car parking policy for the Council House was introduced 
when the car park capacity varied during the pandemic period. 
Therefore, the current policy was introduced on a trial basis and would 
be further reviewed going forward based on the data gathered for the 
Council House car park.   

 

 In respect of hybrid meetings, some initial technical and familiarisation 
difficulties were experienced with facilitating hybrid meetings, although 
staff were now very familiar with hybrid meeting protocol.  Supporting 
notes for those Chairing hybrid meetings had also been made available. 

 

 Monitoring the implementation and impact of the SWOW Programme will 
continue through a number of associated reports to the Resources and 
Delivering Value Scrutiny Board, for example via Annual Sickness 
report, Digital Strategy Update report and the Corporate Use of Assets 
report, ensuring Councillors will be kept informed across a range of 
aspects of the SWOW Programme.  

 

Page 87



 
RESOURCES & DELIVERING VALUE SCRUTINY BOARD - 31 March 2022 

 
 

 

6  

 Promotion of the SWOW Programme by the Council to attract potential 
employees, especially for those service areas which faced some 
recruitment challenges such as social work and ICT, had been relatively 
quiet.  Difficulties currently experienced in the recruitment market is a 
national experience across the public sector.  The Council recognised 
the importance as an employer to build a reputation to promote going 
forward. The Council did, however, continue to secure and appoint good 
quality candidates; for example, two Assistant Directors were recently 
appointed in Children’s Services and a Human Resources Business 
Manager. Furthermore, salary structures were a factor in securing 
candidates although the Council did review market forces.  The Council 
had made use of recruitment videos in the past for senior positions. 

 

 The induction process supporting new Council employees had been 
adapted to take into account the Councils SWOW programme, 
particularly in relation to hybrid working arrangements, both at the 
corporate and local service levels.  It was recognised that induction 
processes would naturally vary to some degree across respective 
service areas taking into account their specific functions. 

 

 A number of Council Directorates had adopted the SWOW Charters, 
including Adult Social Care and Economy and Infrastructure 
Directorates. It was expected for other Directorates to follow suit in due 
course in adopting the SWOW Charters. 

 

 It was confirmed that the Council was working towards silver accredited 
West Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA) Thrive at Work employer 
status, ultimately working towards gold accreditation. 

 

 Employee sickness levels had fallen considerably during the 2019/20 
Covid-19 pandemic period, largely attributable to employees working 
from home and therefore not exposed to influenza and other common 
viruses.   
 

 Members noted the one-off budget allocation from the Budget Strategy 
Reserve in respect of equipment for home working, additional ICT 
equipment to support hybrid working arrangements and savings arising 
from the expiry of the Citrix solution and questioned the feasibility of 
delivering net budget savings going forward in future years.  Members 
were informed that the potential for savings going forward in future years 
had yet to be established with a clearer fiscal position expected to 
emerge in the latter half of 2022.   

  
Having considered the Smarter Ways of Working (SWOW) report, the 
Resources and Delivering Value Scrutiny Board: 

Page 88



 
RESOURCES & DELIVERING VALUE SCRUTINY BOARD - 31 March 2022 

 
 

 

7  

 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
(i) To note the progress of the Smarter Ways of Working (SWOW) to date;   

 

(ii) To agree that the progress with programme implementation was 

satisfactory; and, 

 

(iii) To include a Smarter Ways of Working (SWOW) Update Report within 

the Resources and Delivering Value Scrutiny Board’s Work Programme 

2022/23 (incorporating the SWOW Risk Register). 

 
6. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  

 
The meeting was not open to the public during discussion of the following items 
because the reports contain exempt information as defined in Schedule 12A to 
the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
 

7. ORACLE CLOUD PROGRAMME: UPDATE REPORT 
 
 

8. PRIVATE MINUTES 
 

 
 

The Resources and Delivering Value Scrutiny Board 
meeting closed at 7:43 p.m. 

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 90



 
RESOURCES AND DELIVERING VALUE SCRUTINY BOARD 

  
 

 

6 JUNE 2022 
  

MINUTES 
 
Present 
 
 

Councillors: M Parker (Chairman), J Tildesley, Y Clements, D Gibbin, J 
O’Nyons, M Allen, A Adeyemo, N Moses and A Hodgson 
 

 
Officers 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Paul Johnson: Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive 
Sam Gilbert: Assistant Director, Finance & Property Services 
Paul Rogers: Democratic Services 
 
 

1.     CONFIRMATION OF ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN AND VICE CHAIRMAN 2022/23 
 
Councillor M Parker and Councillor R Holt were confirmed unanimously as Chairman 
and Vice Chairman respectively for the Resources and Delivering Value Scrutiny 
Board for the 2022/23 municipal year. 
 

2.      APOLOGIES 
 
Apologies were received from Councillor R Holt, for whom Councillor J O’Nyons was 
substituting. 
 

3.     DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY OR CONFLICTS OF INTEREST  
 
No questions or deputations were received. 
  

4.     QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS 
 

No questions or deputations were received. 
 

5. MINUTES  
 
The Resources and Delivering Value Scrutiny Board: 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
To agree the Minutes arising from the Resources and Delivering Value Scrutiny 

Board meeting held on 31 March 2022 as a true record. 

      
6. RESOURCES AND DELIVERING VALUE SCRUTINY BOARD DRAFT WORK 

PROGRAMME 2022/23  
 
The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive introduced the report. 
 
Members were informed that a number of issues for scrutiny had been carried over 
from the previous municipal year owing to their long-term nature.  The Director of 
Resources and Deputy Chief Executive highlighted the following work programme 
matters: 
 
The Council’s Strategic Risk Register was scheduled for consideration by the Board 
in July 2022, which had the potential to further shape the remainder of the 2022/23 
Work Programme.  

Page 91



 
RESOURCES AND DELIVERING VALUE SCRUTINY BOARD 

  
 

 

 
Progress in implementing the Digital Strategy. Members’ attention was drawn 
specifically to the importance of cyber security and that they may wish to consider a 
report weighted in this specific area. 
 
The Oracle Cloud Update Report is scheduled for 5th September 2022 and 
Members were reminded that this was a significant Council wide project with a value 
of £7M, which was shortly to go live. 
 
Members’ attention was drawn to the Town Centre Redevelopment Strategy report 
scheduled for the Scrutiny Board meeting on 3rd October 2022, which would be a 
significant milestone report for Members to consider, detailing the selection of a 
development partner for the redevelopment of Mell Square. 
 
A Smarter Ways of Working (SWOW) Update report is scheduled, as is an Asset 
Master Plan report, which will address landlord responsibilities for Council assets 
under corporate management. 
 
A Review of the Council’s Financial Position (including the impact on 
Children’s Services) was due to come to the Board, as was the annual Complaints 
and Compliments report, incorporating resident satisfaction. 
 
A Sickness Absence and Employee Well-Being report was scheduled for 12th 
December 2022. 
 
An Oracle Cloud Update Report was scheduled for 9th January 2023, with the 
Budget Framework 2023/24 – 2025/26 (Resources Directorate only) report. 
 
An All Council Finance/Budget report is scheduled for the Scrutiny Board meeting 
of 2nd February 2023. 
 
The Progress in Delivering Outcomes in the Council Plan was scheduled for 6th 
March 2023.  The Director of Resources & Deputy Chief Executive advised the 
Scrutiny Board that this might need to be brought forward to align with the Budget-
setting timetable.   
 
Members made a number of suggested changes to the Draft Work Programme.   
 
Following discussion in detail of the Draft Work Programme 2022/23, the Resources 
and Delivering Value Scrutiny Board: 
 
 
 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

(i) To incorporate a report into the 2022/23 Work Programme addressing Council 
income generation in future years; 
 

(ii)  To incorporate the Sickness Absence report into the Smarter Ways of 
Working (SWOW) Update Report; 

 
(iii) To agree to retain within the Work Programme the Building Safety Update 

Report, rather than referring it to the Economic Development and Managed 
Growth Scrutiny Board;  

Page 92



 
RESOURCES AND DELIVERING VALUE SCRUTINY BOARD 

  
 

 

 

(iv) To bring forward in the Work Programme the report on the Council’s Financial 
Position, including the Impact of Financial Pressures in Children’s Services; 
and  
 

(v) To allow officers to make changes to the dates in the Work Programme to 
accommodate the changes requested by the Scrutiny Board.   
 

7.    EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 

The meeting was not open to the public during discussion of the following item 
because the report contained exempt information as defined in Schedule 12A to the 
Local Government Act 1972. 
 
 

8. PRIVATE MINUTES 
 
The Resources and Delivering Value Scrutiny Board: 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
(i) To agree the private minutes arising from the Resources and Delivering Value 

Scrutiny Board meeting held on 31st March 2022 as a true record. 
 
 
 

The Resources and Delivering Value Scrutiny Board meeting  
Closed at 6:32 p.m. 

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

 

RESOURCES AND DELIVERING VALUE SCRUTINY BOARD  
 

ANNUAL WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23 
 

 Topic Rationale 
 

Evidence Desired 
Outcome 

Lead 
Technical 
Officer 

Date to be 
Considered 

Cabinet 
Portfolio 

Council Plan 
Priority 

1 
 

Confirmation of 
Election of 
Chairman and 
Vice Chairman 
for the 2022/23 
Municipal Year 

To formally 
confirm the 
appointments of 
the Chairman and 
Vice Chairman to 
the Scrutiny 
Board for the 
2022/23 municipal 
year. 
 
 

Confirmation by 
Members at the 
Scrutiny Board 
meeting. 

Confirmation of 
the Chairman and 
Vice Chairman for 
the 2022/23 
municipal year. 

Clerk to the 
Scrutiny Board 

6th June 
2022 

Resources 
Portfolio  
 

 

2 Resources & 
Delivering 
Value Scrutiny 
Board Work 
Programme 
2022/23 
 

The purpose of 
the report is to 
provide the 
Resources and 
Delivering 
Value Scrutiny 
Board with a 
draft Work 
Programme for 
the 2022/23 
municipal year, 
for review and 
approval.  
 

 

Draft Work 
Programme for 
the Scrutiny 
Board. 

For the 
Resources & 
Delivering Value 
Scrutiny Board 
Draft Work 
Programme 
2022/23 to be 
formally 
approved. 

Paul Johnson 
Director of 
Resources & 
Deputy Chief 
Executive 

6th June  
2022 

Resources 
Portfolio  

 

P
age 95



 

2 
 

 

RESOURCES AND DELIVERING VALUE SCRUTINY BOARD  
 

ANNUAL WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23 
 

 Topic Rationale 
 

Evidence Desired 
Outcome 

Lead 
Technical 
Officer 

Date to be 
Considered 

Cabinet 
Portfolio 

Council Plan 
Priority 

3 Cabinet 
Member for 
Resources 
Priorities 
2022/23 
 

To provide the 
Scrutiny Board 
with details of the 
priorities of the 
Cabinet Member 
for Resources. 
 

The Cabinet 
Member will 
make a 
presentation to 
the Board. 

For the Scrutiny 
Board to be 
satisfied that the 
Cabinet member’s 
priorities are 
adequately 
reflected in its 
work programme. 
 
 

Paul Johnson 
Director of 
Resources & 
Deputy CE 

11th July 
2022 

Resources 
Portfolio  
 

 

4 The Council’s 
Strategic Risk 
Register  

To provide the 
Scrutiny Board 
with details of the 
Strategic Risk 
Register.  

The Scrutiny 
Board will be 
provided with the 
risk score and 
mitigating factors 
for each risk in 
the Risk Register.  
 

For the Scrutiny 
Board to 
determine 
whether any items 
within the Risk 
Register require 
further review by 
the Board.  

Mark Wills 
Health, Safety 
& Risk 
Manager  

11th July 
2022 

Resources 
Portfolio 

Strong 
Foundations: 
Sound Finance 
and 
Management 
of Assets 

5 Review of the 
Council’s 
Financial 
Position, 
including the 
impact of 
financial 
pressures in 

To provide the 
latest position on 
the Council’s 
MTFS, including 
the impact of any 
new pressures 
that have 
emerged since 
the MTFS was 

The Board will be 
provided with the 
latest position for 
2022/23, taking 
account of any 
new financial 
pressures.  

To provide 
Members with the 
Council’s latest 
financial position 
and any 
implications for 
the three-year 
MTFS.  

Paul Johnson 
Director of 
Resources & 
Deputy CE 

5th 
September 
2022 

Resources 
Portfolio 

Strong 
Foundations: 
Sound Finance 
and 
Management 
of Assets 

P
age 96



 

3 
 

 

RESOURCES AND DELIVERING VALUE SCRUTINY BOARD  
 

ANNUAL WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23 
 

 Topic Rationale 
 

Evidence Desired 
Outcome 

Lead 
Technical 
Officer 

Date to be 
Considered 

Cabinet 
Portfolio 

Council Plan 
Priority 

Children’s 
Services  

approved, with 
particular 
reference to 
financial 
pressures within 
Children’s 
Services.  
 

6 Implementation 
of Oracle Cloud 
– Update Report 
 
 
 

To provide the 
Scrutiny Board 
with a further 
update on the 
implementation 
following the 
report to the 
meeting of 31st 
March 2022. 

To update on the 
progress with the 
implementation of 
the system. 
 

The Scrutiny 
Board to review 
the progress with 
implementation 
and the ‘go live’ 
status of the 
system. 
 

Sam Gilbert 
Assistant 
Director – 
Finance & 
Property 
Services and  
Paul Langham 
– Assistant 
Director 
Business 
Systems 

5th 
September 
2022 

Resources 
Portfolio 

Strong 
Foundations:  
Sound Finance 
and 
Management 
of Assets. 
Digital 
Empowerment.  

7 Town Centre 
Redevelopment 
Strategy Update 
Report – Private 
Report  
 

The report will 
provide Members 
with a further 
update on the 
opportunity sites 
within the Town 
Centre. 
 

To consider 
progress with key 
sites included in 
the Town Centre 
Master Plan. 
 

To provide 
Members with an 
update on key 
development 
sites. 

Peter Carroll 
Head of 
Strategic Land 
& Property 

3rd October  
2022 

Leader of 
the Council 
and 
Resources 
Portfolio 
 

Develop and 
promote the 
borough’s 
economy, with 
a focus on 
revitalising our 
town and local 
centres. 

P
age 97



 

4 
 

 

RESOURCES AND DELIVERING VALUE SCRUTINY BOARD  
 

ANNUAL WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23 
 

 Topic Rationale 
 

Evidence Desired 
Outcome 

Lead 
Technical 
Officer 

Date to be 
Considered 

Cabinet 
Portfolio 

Council Plan 
Priority 

8 Smarter Ways 
of Working 
(to include an 
update on 
sickness absence 
and details of an 
employee ideas 
scheme)  

 

To update the 
Scrutiny Board on 
the arrangements 
for hybrid 
working. 
 

The Scrutiny 
Board will be 
provided with 
details of how 
services are 
operating under 
the Smarter 
Ways of Working 
Strategy and with 
information on 
the latest 
sickness absence 
figures and 
support for 
employee 
wellbeing.  
 

For the Scrutiny 
Board to 
comment on and 
support the 
approach to 
Smarter Working.  

Sam Gilbert – 
Assistant 
Director – 
Finance & 
Property 
Services 
Paul Langham 
– Assistant 
Director 
Business 
Systems 
Adrian Cattell – 
Head of 
Human 
Resources  

3rd October  
2022 

Resources 
Portfolio 

Strong 
Foundations: 
Continue to 
develop 
Smarter Ways 
of Working 

9 Income 
Generation 
from Council 
Services and 
Assets  

To consider 
current and 
potential income 
generating 
opportunities.  

The Scrutiny 
Board will be 
presented with 
details of current 
trading activities, 
income 
generated from 
assets and any 
further 
opportunities.  

To identify any 
further areas 
where income 
might be able to 
be generated, as 
a contribution to 
the Council’s 
overall Medium 
Term Financial 
Strategy.  

Paul Johnson 
Director of 
Resources & 
Deputy CE 

3rd October  
2022 

All Portfolios  All Council 
Plan priorities 

P
age 98



 

5 
 

 

RESOURCES AND DELIVERING VALUE SCRUTINY BOARD  
 

ANNUAL WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23 
 

 Topic Rationale 
 

Evidence Desired 
Outcome 

Lead 
Technical 
Officer 

Date to be 
Considered 

Cabinet 
Portfolio 

Council Plan 
Priority 

10 Review of 
Bereavement 
Services  

To scrutinise the 
Council’s 
response to the 
Competition and 
Markets Authority 
(re: low cost 
funerals) and to 
consider the 
future provision of 
burial space 
within the 
Borough.  
 

The Scrutiny 
Board will be 
provided with an 
overview of and 
challenges within 
Bereavement 
Services.  

For the Scrutiny 
Board to 
comment on 
arrangements for 
future service 
provision.  

Alison McGrory  
Assistant 
Director – 
Stronger 
Communities  

7th 
November 
2022 

Resources 
Portfolio  

 

11 Annual 
Corporate 
Complaints / 
Compliments 
Report 
(incorporating 
ASC & CYP 
Complaints 
2021/22) 
 

To have an 
oversight of all 
Complaints and 
Compliments 
(including 
Corporate, 
Statutory ASC 
and CYP). 

Performance 
monitoring and 
details of the 
number and 
types of 
complaints and 
compliments will 
be provided. 

To consider the 
learning from the 
complaints and 
compliments 
made to the 
Council. 

Head of 
Customer 
Services. 

7th 
November 
2022 

Stronger & 
Safer 
Communities 
Portfolio 
& 
Adult Social 
Care and 
Health 
Portfolio & 
Children, 
Education & 
Skills 
Portfolio 
 

All Council 
Plan priorities  

P
age 99



 

6 
 

 

RESOURCES AND DELIVERING VALUE SCRUTINY BOARD  
 

ANNUAL WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23 
 

 Topic Rationale 
 

Evidence Desired 
Outcome 

Lead 
Technical 
Officer 

Date to be 
Considered 

Cabinet 
Portfolio 

Council Plan 
Priority 

12 Update on the 
Corporate 
Approach to 
Delivering an 
Asset 
Masterplan 
(CADAM) – 
Update Report 

The report will 
provide an update 
to the Scrutiny 
Board. 
 

The Scrutiny 
Board will be 
presented with a 
progress report 
on implementing 
the Corporate 
Landlord Model 
for all land and 
property assets. 
 

To provide 
Members with a 
governance 
update, including 
the financial 
implications. 

Sam Gilbert 
Assistant 
Director of 
Finance & 
Property 
Services 

12th 
December 
2022 

Leader of 
the Council 
and 
Resources 
Portfolio 
 
 

Strong 
Foundations: 
Sound Finance 
and 
Management 
of Assets 

13 Building Safety 
– Update Report 

To receive an 
update (following 
the Scrutiny 
Meeting held on 
2nd December 
2021 on current 
Building Safety 
legislation and 
activities 
undertaken for the 
Council’s Housing 
Stock and other 
Council owned 
buildings. 
 

The Scrutiny 
Board will receive 
a report detailing 
the actions taken 
to meet the 
demands of the 
new Building 
Safety regulatory 
regime. 

To determine that 
the actions 
implemented 
meet all of the 
requirements of 
the 
Building Safety 
regulatory regime 

Fiona Hughes - 
Chief 
Executive 
Solihull 
Community 
Housing 
Mary Morrissey 
– Director of 
Economy & 
Infrastructure  
 

12th 
December 
2022  
 

Climate 
Change, 
Planning & 
Housing 
Portfolio. 
Resources 
Portfolio.  
 

Strong 
Foundations: 
Sound Finance 
and 
Management 
of Assets 

P
age 100



 

7 
 

 

RESOURCES AND DELIVERING VALUE SCRUTINY BOARD  
 

ANNUAL WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23 
 

 Topic Rationale 
 

Evidence Desired 
Outcome 

Lead 
Technical 
Officer 

Date to be 
Considered 

Cabinet 
Portfolio 

Council Plan 
Priority 

14 Implementation 
of Oracle Cloud 
– Update Report  

To provide the 
Scrutiny Board 
with a further 
update on the 
implementation 
following the 
report to the 
meeting of 5th 
September 2022.  

To update on the 
progress with the 
implementation of 
the system. 

The Scrutiny 
Board to review 
the progress with 
implementation. 
 
 

Sam Gilbert 
Assistant 
Director – 
Finance & 
Property 
Services and  
Paul Langham 
– Assistant 
Director 
Business 
Systems 
 

9th January  
2023 

Resources 
Portfolio 
 

Strong 
Foundations: 
Sound Finance 
and 
Management 
of Assets. 
Digital 
Empowerment.  

15 Budget 
Framework 
2023/24 – 
2025/26 
Resources 
Portfolio 
Budgets 

This is the 
portfolio’s budget 
estimates, which 
will form part of 
the Council’s 
overall budget for 
2023/24 and the 
updated MTFS. 
 

Budget proposals 
considered by the 
Budget Strategy 
Group will be 
presented to the 
Scrutiny Board. 

To consider the 
budget pressures 
and fees & 
charges prior to 
these being 
presented to 
Cabinet. 

Paul Johnson 
Director of 
Resources & 
Deputy CE 

9th January  
2023 

Resources 
Portfolio 
 

Strong 
Foundations: 
Sound Finance 
and 
Management 
of Assets 

16 Budget 
Framework 
2023/24 – 
2025/26 
Whole Council 
and Medium 

This will be the 
whole Council 
budget and 
updated MTFS. 

Whole Council 
budget proposals 
considered by the 
Budget Strategy 
Group and 
individual 

To consider the 
overall budget 
proposals prior to 
these being 
presented to 
Cabinet. 

Paul Johnson 
Director of 
Resources & 
Deputy CE 

2nd February 
2023  
 

Leader and 
all Cabinet 
Portfolios 

Strong 
Foundations: 
Sound Finance 
and 
Management 
of Assets 

P
age 101



 

8 
 

 

RESOURCES AND DELIVERING VALUE SCRUTINY BOARD  
 

ANNUAL WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23 
 

 Topic Rationale 
 

Evidence Desired 
Outcome 

Lead 
Technical 
Officer 

Date to be 
Considered 

Cabinet 
Portfolio 

Council Plan 
Priority 

Term Financial 
Strategy (MTFS) 
 

Scrutiny Boards 
will be presented 
to the Resources 
& Delivering 
Value Scrutiny 
Board. 
 
 

17 Progress in 
Delivering 
Outcomes in 
the Council 
Plan 
 
 

To outline 
progress with 
delivering the 
current Council 
Plan. 

The Scrutiny 
Board will be 
presented with 
performance 
against the key 
programmes in 
the Council Plan. 
 
 

For the Scrutiny 
Board to review 
progress against 
the current, 
approved Plan. 

Sarah Barnes 
Head of 
Business 
Intelligence & 
Improvement 

2nd 
February 
2023  

Leader of 
the Council 
and all 
Cabinet 
Portfolios. 

All Council 
Plan priorities  

18 Council Plan – 
April 2023 
Update 

This will be the 
annual update to 
the Council Plan.  

Members will be 
presented with 
any suggested 
changes to the 
key programmes 
for next year’s 
Council Plan. 
 
 

To gain the 
Scrutiny Board’s 
input to the key 
programmes to be 
included in the 
updated Council 
Plan. 

Sarah Barnes 
Head of 
Business 
Intelligence & 
Improvement 
 

2nd 
February 
2023  

Leader of 
the Council  

All Council 
Plan priorities  

P
age 102



 

9 
 

 

RESOURCES AND DELIVERING VALUE SCRUTINY BOARD  
 

ANNUAL WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23 
 

 Topic Rationale 
 

Evidence Desired 
Outcome 

Lead 
Technical 
Officer 

Date to be 
Considered 

Cabinet 
Portfolio 

Council Plan 
Priority 

19 Review of 
Digital Strategy 
(to include 
information on 
Cyber Security 
and an update on 
Liquid Logic 
within Children’s 
Services)   

 
 
 

To provide the 
Board with an 
update on the 
Council’s Digital 
Strategy. 

The Scrutiny 
Board will receive 
a review of 
progress against 
the Digital 
Strategy together 
with information 
on arrangements 
for Cyber 
Security and the 
latest position on 
Liquid Logic 
within Children’s 
Services. 
 

To consider 
whether progress 
with the Digital 
Strategy is 
satisfactory and to 
consider whether 
the Strategy is 
concentrating on 
the right priorities.  

Paul Langham 
- 
Assistant 
Director 
Business 
Systems  
 

6th March 
2023 

Resources 
Portfolio  
 

Strong 
Foundations: 
Digital 
Empowerment 

20 Free meeting 
for agenda 
items that 
emerge during 
the year 
 

    17th April 
2023 

Resources 
Portfolio 

 

 

P
age 103



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
CHILDREN’S SERVICES, EDUCATION & SKILLS SCRUTINY BOARD - 6 April 

2022 
 

 

 

 

MINUTES 

 
 
Present: Councillors: M Gough (Chairman), A Mackenzie (Vice-Chairman), 

M Allen, S Ashraf MBE, K Blunt, M Brain, Y Clements, D Gibbin, 
N Moses, J Tildesley, K Thomas, and Co-opted Member  
 S Freeman 
 
Councillor R Holt – Cabinet Member for Children, Education and Skills 
 

Officers: Steve Cullen – Local Safeguarding Children’s Partnership, 
Independent Scrutineer 
Tim Browne – Interim Director of Children’s Services 
Karen Helliwell – Birmingham and Solihull Clinical Commissioning 
Group  
Chief Superintendent Ian Parnell – West Midlands Police 
 

1. APOLOGIES 
 
The following Members submitted their apologies: 
Councillor J Hamilton 
Councillor L McCarthy (Councillor K Thomas – substitute) 
Parent Governor Representative S Golby 
 
Councillor A Rebeiro and Mr B Hall, Diocesan representative, submitted their 
apologies and joined the meeting remotely. 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY OR CONFLICTING INTERESTS FROM 
MEMBERS 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

3. QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS 
 
There were no questions or deputations. 
 

4. JOINT TARGETED AREA INSPECTION - UPDATE 
 
The Scrutiny Board was invited to consider a summary of the Joint Targeted 
Area Inspection (JTAI) into the identification of initial risk and need regarding 
Children and Families within Solihull, the findings of which were published on 
21st of February. 
 
Members raised the following queries and observations: 

 A Member highlighted the role of Councillors as Corporate Parents. They 
also queried whether there was potential for greater Member 
involvement in the partnership safeguarding arrangements. The Member 
also detailed how the role of the Scrutiny Board and its Members needed 
to be considered going forward. 

Page 105



 
CHILDREN’S SERVICES, EDUCATION & SKILLS SCRUTINY BOARD - 6 April 

2022 
 

 

 

 

 A Member detailed how, when they were Cabinet Member for Education 
and Children’s Services, they met with front-line Social Workers, and 
queried whether there was potential for the Scrutiny Board to do this. 
They also questioned whether there was a need to create a separate 
Children’s Safeguarding Scrutiny Board. 

 The Chairman confirmed that it was proposed for reporting on Corporate 
Parenting to be included as part of the Board’s future work programme 
as well as meeting with Social Workers. He also explained that, prior to 
the outbreak of Covid-19, the Scrutiny Board had met with Social 
Workers and conducted a site visit to the Multi-Agency Safeguarding 
Hub (MASH). During the pandemic Scrutiny Board members had also 
held virtual meetings with Social Workers. It was also noted the 
establishment of any additional Board would be subject to reporting to 
Full Council. 

 In considering the report, Members expressed their deep sadness at the 
murder of Arthur Labinjo-Hughes and the killing of Kaylee-Jayde Priest – 
they requested for this to be recorded as part of the minutes. 

 A Member highlighted the the recruitment of additional officers to join the 
MASH and raised the following questions: 

 They queried the volume of experienced Social Workers recruited 
to the MASH. The Member also raised a number of points and 
queries regarding the use of agency staff. 

 The Member detailed how the Chief Superintendent had 
previously advised the Board about the recruitment of additional 
Police staff to the MASH. Again, they requested clarification 
regarding the background and experience of these newly 
recruited officers.  

 They also questioned whether these new Police recruits were part 
of a region-wide team, or whether they were specifically for 
Solihull. 

 The Member also noted how reference had been made to the 
provision of services via the West Bromwich Police Station and it 
was questioned whether these could be delivered in Solihull. 

 They queried the child safeguarding provision in Solihull and 
requested clarification that there were officers available 24 hours 
a day, 7 days a week. 

 The Interim Director of Children’s Services emphasised how there was a 
national shortage of Social Workers. Solihull Council had been 
successful in retaining its experienced Social Workers. It was explained 
that, during the pandemic and following the trial for the murder of Arthur 
Labinjo-Hughes, there had been a significant upsurge in demand for 
Children’s Social Services. Additional staff had been recruited during the 
summer months and, further to this, the Council had arranged for 2 
additional teams of agency Social Workers to join the MASH, both 
consisting of 7 experienced Social Workers. 

 The Interim Director of Children’s Services explained the MASH did not 
operate for 24 hours a day, there was collaborative working with the 
Emergency Duty Team that covered out of hours working. It was also 

Page 106



 
CHILDREN’S SERVICES, EDUCATION & SKILLS SCRUTINY BOARD - 6 April 

2022 
 

 

 

 

confirmed that all the staff within the MASH were experienced, including 
agency workers. The Council also undertook continuous recruitment of 
Social Workers, and was currently recruiting additional Family Support 
Workers. 

 The Chief Superintendent detailed how Police services that supported 
the MASH and child safeguarding in Solihull were split into two parts – 
officers in the Neighbourhood Policing Unit (NPU), alongside officers in 
the Public Protection Unit. This second Unit was a force wide resource, 
with a dedicated footprint in Solihull. It was explained that, similar to 
Social Workers, there was a national shortage of Detectives; however, 
for the NPU, there was a Sargeant in post, an experienced detective, 
who had previously worked in Child Protection. This officer had been 
directly recruited by the Chief Superintendent, along with the other 
Police workers in the NPU. These officers were co-located at the 
Bluebell Centre at Chelmsley Wood. There were 4 constable posts in 
support of the NPU Sargeant – 3 officers were in post already delivering 
2 full-time equivalent posts. A further 2 officers would be recruited 
directly by the Chief Superintendent over the next 3 months. The 
workers in post already were experienced Police Officers, who had 
worked directly with schools and children. 

 The Chief Superintendent explained that, in regards to the Public 
Protection Unit, 1 Detective Sargeant already worked in the MASH – 
they had brought in an additional Detective Sargeant, who had 
previously worked in complex child investigation across Coventry and 
Solihull. They had also appointed a dedicated Detective Inspector, who 
also had experience of working across Coventry and Solihull, in child 
investigation. They were also currently in the process of recruiting an 
experienced Detective Constable to the role of MASH co-ordinator, 
again, they would be based in the Bluebell Centre. 

 The Chief Superintendent explained that, from a Policing perspective, 
there were officers located in the MASH, who worked alongside Social 
Worker and Health Sector colleagues on a day-to-day basis. The 
function that delivered intelligence gathering and checks – the Central 
Referral Unit (CRU) – was located in West Bromwich and served the 
West Midlands Police area. To help manage demand they had invested 
in an additional CRU Sargeant.  

 The Chief Superintendent explained he would provide a diagram 
structure, outlining how the Police supporting child safeguarding in 
Solihull. 

 The Accountable Officer for BSOL CCG detailed how they had 
commissioned a Senior Chief Nurse, from the National Chief Nurse 
Exceptional Leaders Network, to provide additional advice and support 
around safeguarding, as well as support to the Improvement Board. In 
terms of actions around MASH resources, they had recently recruited an 
experienced Lead Nurse, whilst they had re-allocated CCG staff to the 
Hub. They were currently recruiting 3 substantive, dedicated Solihull full-
time Nurses, with 1 full-time admin officer.  

Page 107



 
CHILDREN’S SERVICES, EDUCATION & SKILLS SCRUTINY BOARD - 6 April 

2022 
 

 

 

 

 The LSCP Independent Scrutineer welcomed the above actions 
undertaken by the Partner agencies. He also detailed how he had 
requested the Council to undertake a review of both current and 
potential future demand – this was to ensure both the appropriate 
capacity and capability, to future proof the MASH.  

 A Member raised the following queries: 
 They highlighted how the JTAI identified a number of critical issues, 

in particular communication. This included that health representatives 
in the MASH did not have access to each other’s records. The 
Member also flagged up that incomplete records had been found 
within the police ‘Connect’ system, with the Inspectors raising 
concerns about ensuring linkages to connected individuals. 

 The Member queried who had overarching responsibility for the 
MASH and the delivery of safeguarding services. 

 They questioned whether it could be beneficial for a Member of the 
Scrutiny Board to be represented on the Improvement Board. 

 The Interim Director of Children’s Services explained that, as part of the 
JTAI findings, it was recognised there were concerns in regards to the 
MASH governance arrangements and actions were being undertaken to 
address this. He detailed how, within a local area, the delivery of 
safeguarding services was the shared responsibility of the Council, 
Police and Clinical Commissioning Group, as outlined in the regulations. 
They had also formed an operational MASH group, which oversaw the 
day-to-day working of the Hub. There was also a strategic MASH group, 
which oversaw the strategy and linked with the LSCP, who had overall 
responsibility for ensuring the safeguarding arrangements within the 
area were sufficient. It was explained that some of the communication 
issues identified were due to a lack of capacity at the MASH and the 
additional recruitment undertaken, as outlined above, was noted. 

 The Accountable Officer for BSOL CCG detailed how they had brought 
in additional expertise around the governance and information sharing 
across IT systems and agencies. 

 Chief Superintendent Parnell detailed how it was clear that children’s 
safeguarding was a joint responsibility across the Local Authority, the 
CCG and the Police and, as the delegated Police lead for Solihull, it was 
his responsibility to ensure effective measures were in place. He 
explained that, in regards to the police Connect system, this would 
deliver significant benefits; however, as an early adopter, West Midlands 
Police had encountered issues. As part of addressing the issues 
identified in the JTAI, there was a clear governance structure in place 
within West Midlands Police, led by the Assistant Chief Constable, 
where officers responsible for the delivery and maintenance of Connect 
were held to account. In regards to ensuring individuals were connected, 
they were putting in place additional mandatory questions for front-line 
workers. West Midlands Police had also appointed 4 dedicated officers, 
working within the information management department, who were 
focusing on reducing duplicate records and ensuring they were linked 

Page 108



 
CHILDREN’S SERVICES, EDUCATION & SKILLS SCRUTINY BOARD - 6 April 

2022 
 

 

 

 

appropriately. The West Midlands Police data lab was also running a 
series of programmes to identify potential duplicate records. 

 A Member highlighted a number of findings identified by the Ofsted 
inspection of Council services for children in need of help and protection, 
children in care and care leavers, completed in 2019. The Member also 
raised the following questions: 
 They flagged up the priority actions identified in the covering report, 

in paragraph 4.3, to be taken forward by the LSCP, and queried how 
these would be delivered. 

 The Member noted the covering report also detailed areas for 
improvement, including the timeliness and quality of initial decision-
making in the MASH in relation to concerns received about children – 
they queried the monitoring arrangements for this 

 The JTAI had identified that Solihull’s LSCP had experienced 
frequent changes of personnel in its membership, which had resulted 
in a loss of knowledge and experience – they queried how this point 
would be responded to. 

 The Interim Director of Children’s Services explained that, in regards to 
the timeliness of decision-making in the MASH, work had been 
undertaken to ensure cases were triaged and allocated to officers within 
a four-hour timescale. Cases that were referred to Early Help were 
monitored also, to ensure they were responded to in a timely way.  

 The Interim Director of Children’s Services received a daily report about 
unallocated cases, whilst the MASH Operational Board, the MASH 
Strategic Board and the LSCP would receive reporting on the activity in 
the Hub, to help ensure quality and timeliness. He also explained that a 
new Head of Service was leading on developing and introducing a new 
quality assurance framework, whereby regular audits would be 
undertaken to ensure the work undertaken was of the right quality. 

 The LSCP Independent Scrutineer explained that, after he started in the 
role in the summer of 2021, he saw that the Partnership’s safeguarding 
and governance arrangements required significant strengthening and 
needed to be more robust. The Executive Board now met more 
frequently and, during the JTAI, met on a weekly basis. He emphasised 
the importance of this Partnership having a resource base that had 
sufficient knowledge, experience and capacity. He also noted the role of 
Probation and Education and there was now senior representation of 
these agencies on the Executive Board. It was recognised the 
Partnership and the MASH had been under-resourced – as a result, 
additional investment was being made, including the appointment of 
another experienced Business Manager for the Partnership.  

 The Independent Scrutineer also stressed the importance of professional 
development, detailing a recently held development day, to enable front-
line practitioners to come together and share their experiences. 

 In response to a Member query, it was agreed for the Improvement 
Board Terms of Reference to be circulated.  

 A Member detailed how they wished for a performance management 
matrix to be reported to all the Scrutiny Boards, to allow regular 

Page 109



 
CHILDREN’S SERVICES, EDUCATION & SKILLS SCRUTINY BOARD - 6 April 

2022 
 

 

 

 

monitoring and further reporting for any areas of concern, as well as 
identification of any examples of good practice. 

 A Member raised the following points: 
 They detailed how it could be beneficial for the Improvement 

Board to engage with Education representatives, working within a 
setting or school. 

 The Member questioned how it was ensured that the voice of 
children and families were considered. They queried what 
measures were in place to ensure a child always had the 
opportunity to talk, before a case was closed, especially in 
instances where they may be coerced. 

 They also questioned what training was in place to ensure officers 
were aware of the referral pathways, to report any safeguarding 
matters. 

 The Interim Director of Children’s Services confirmed that, for the 
Council, across all departments, there was a core set of mandatory 
training modules in place, including for safeguarding. Additional training 
was also commissioned for Social Worker staff, on conditions such as 
Autism. Training was also provided to Social Workers and other 
professionals on coercive control. 

 The LSCP Independent Scrutineer explained that, in regards to 
disguised compliance, there was focus here upon providing support to 
front-line professionals, especially as it was recognised they could be 
dealing with manipulative individuals. He highlighted the work of the 
Partnership during the pandemic to continue professional development. 
He also emphasised the benefits of the recent development day, where 
practitioners were able to come together and share experiences. Such 
events would be an ongoing area of focus, as part of the Improvement 
Plan.  

 A Member raised the following questions: 
 They queried what arrangements were in place if schools or other 

agencies made safeguarding referrals to the MASH, at 4pm on a 
Friday. 

 The Member questioned the arrangements in place to ensure 
practitioners understood the roles of other professionals, 
especially for jobs that involved multi-agency working. 

 In regards to the recruitment of Social Workers, it was queried 
how it was ensured that salaries were comparative with 
neighbouring Authorities. 

 The Interim Director of Children’s Services confirmed that, if referrals 
were made to the MASH at 4pm or later, due to the length of time it may 
take for enquiries to be completed, they would be taken forward, as 
appropriate, by the Emergency Duty Team, with clear linkages in place. 
It was detailed how, with the different organisations represented on the 
MASH, this enabled professionals to share their experiences, gain an 
understanding of each other’s roles, as well as bring their own expertise. 

 The Interim Director of Children’s Services explained that, in regards to 
the recruitment of Social Workers, there was an extensive workforce 

Page 110



 
CHILDREN’S SERVICES, EDUCATION & SKILLS SCRUTINY BOARD - 6 April 

2022 
 

 

 

 

strategy in place – as part of this, they had benchmarked themselves 
against other Authorities in the region and there was a Memorandum of 
Understanding in regards to salaries. 

 A Member flagged up how the JTAI found that the MASH was under-
resourced – they queried this and requested clarification regarding the 
oversight of this going forward. 

 The LSCP Independent Scrutineer highlighted again the review that was 
being undertaken, to focus on both current and potential future demand 
– it was noted that, key to this would be the retention of existing staff. 
The Chief Superintendent detailed how it took many years to develop 
and train experienced Police staff – also, there was a national shortage 
of Detectives, especially for Child Protection, as it was an extremely 
challenging role. The recruitment of additional Police staff for the MASH 
had been outlined earlier in the meeting and the Chief Superintendent 
explained how they were now in a stronger funding position, with clear 
strategies around the development of staff.  

 The Accountable Officer for BSOL CCG flagged up the findings of the 
JTAI in regards to frequent changes of personnel – she detailed how 
they were currently going through a major Health service re-
organisation, with the introduction of the Integrated Care System. She 
emphasised they were committed to a clear handover of all risks, issues 
and funding for this service area.  

 A Member raised the following questions: 
 They queried the accountability arrangements for the LSCP and the 

MASH.  
 The Member also noted the various IT systems that supported the 

MASH and queried the business continuity plans in place, as well as 
information sharing.  

 They also questioned if it was possible to share an organisation 
structure that covered the whole of the LSCP and the MASH, 
detailing the different partners and their responsibilities. 

 The Interim Director for Children’s Services emphasised the guidance 
was clear, whereby the Local Authority, CCG and Police were jointly 
responsible for the delivery of safeguarding services for children in an 
area, with the LSCP the overarching organisation responsible for 
ensuring safeguarding arrangements were appropriate. He also 
confirmed there were business continuity management plans in place, 
whereby officers could continue to access records if IT systems were 
inaccessible. 

 The LSCP Independent Scrutineer explained that, in regards to 
accountability, it was his role to hold the Council, Police and Health to 
account, as part of the new arrangements introduced in 2018. In regards 
to information sharing, the Accountable Officer for BSOL CCG 
emphasised how, nationally, a major rationale for the introduction of 
Integrated Care Systems was to support effective communication and 
information sharing across different agencies. 

 A Member expressed their concerns in regards to the issues identified in 
respect of the Police Connect system. They queried why these issues 

Page 111



 
CHILDREN’S SERVICES, EDUCATION & SKILLS SCRUTINY BOARD - 6 April 

2022 
 

 

 

 

weren’t addressed as part of the design specification and roll-out. They 
also raised questions in regards to the Liquid Logic system.  

 The Chief Superintendent reiterated how, for the Connect system, there 
was a clear governance system in place within West Midlands Police to 
address these issues, headed by the Assistant Chief Constable. He also 
detailed the work being undertaken by the Police to improve data quality, 
to reduce duplications and ensure, where appropriate, records were 
linked – it was confirmed there would be future reporting on this work to 
the Board. The Interim Director of Children’s Services responded to the 
points made in regards to the Liquid Logic system. 

 A Member highlighted how, as part of the JTAI, most partner agencies 
told inspectors that they were not involved or kept informed about the 
outcomes of their concerns and that they felt it necessary to chase the 
MASH for an update on what decisions had been made. They queried 
who was responsible for addressing this. 

 The Interim Director of Children’s Services detailed how a wide ranging 
Improvement Plan had been created, to address the issues identified as 
part of the JTAI, as well as part of a wider Improvement Programme. 
The Improvement Plan would be reported to the Scrutiny Board and this 
would set out the responsibility for each aspect of this Plan. It was also 
confirmed a multi-agency written statement of proposed actions, 
responding to the findings of the JTAI, would be submitted to the 
Department for Education by 30th May 2022.  

 A Member flagged up how the JTAI found that not all agencies were 
invited to, or attended, child protection strategy meetings. The Member 
requested clarification on how this was being addressed. 

 The Interim Director of Children’s Services highlighted the work 
undertaken by the Council, Police and CCG to increase the capacity of 
their agencies on the MASH, to help ensure the right professionals were 
able to attend these meetings. A specific piece of work was being 
undertaken to help ensure GP’s were able to join strategy discussions, 
as required, taking into account this was not an issue specific to Solihull. 
In considering the points raised by the Member, it was again noted the 
LSCP was currently developing the multi-agency statement of action, to 
be submitted to the DfE. 

 A Member detailed how it could be beneficial for front-line workers from 
the MASH team to attend meetings of the Improvement Board, to help 
ensure understanding of their day-to-day experiences and gain 
assurances on the changes being introduced.  

 A Member queried whether it could be possible to provide front-line 
workers the opportunity to report any matters to a separate group. The 
LSCP Independent Scrutineer explained how, as part of strengthening 
the governance arrangements, a practitioners group was being 
established, for across the 3 agencies, to provide further opportunities 
for front-line workers to express their views. 

 The Chairman thanked Members for the points they raised. He also 
detailed how the Scrutiny Board had previously visited the MASH, to 

Page 112



 
CHILDREN’S SERVICES, EDUCATION & SKILLS SCRUTINY BOARD - 6 April 

2022 
 

 

 

 

meet front-line workers. It was confirmed a future Member visit to the 
MASH could be scheduled as part of future work planning. 

 
Members noted how it was the last meeting of the municipal year and 
highlighted how Stuart McHale, the Children’s Services Finance Manager had 
recently retired, after working for 40 years at the Council. Members requested 
to put on record their thanks to Stuart for all of his work for Children’s Services, 
over many years. 
 
 RESOLVED 
 The Children’s Services, Education and Skills Scrutiny Board: 

(i) Noted the findings of the JTAI and action being taken to respond to 
the issues identified. As part of this, the Board noted the role of all 
elected Members as Corporate Parents. 

(ii) Agreed for a minute extract of this agenda item to be shared with 
the Improvement Board 

(iii) Agreed for the following reports to be presented at the next 
Scrutiny Board meeting on 9th June: 

 The multi-agency written statement of proposed action. 

 The Improving Outcomes for Children in Solihull Plan. 
(iv) Agreed for the findings of the National Panel Review to be 

presented at a future Scrutiny Board, following publication. 
 
 

End time of meeting: 20:20 

Page 113



This page is intentionally left blank



 
CHILDREN’S SERVICES, EDUCATION & SKILLS SCRUTINY BOARD - 9 June 

2022 
 

 

 

 

MINUTES 
 
 
Present: Councillors: D Gibbin (Chairman),S Ashraf MBE, A Burrow, Y Clements, S 

Gethen, J Hamilton, R Holt, A Mackenzie, L McCarthy, A Rebeiro, J Tildesley, 
A Wilson, Co-opted Member S Freeman and Parent Governor representative 
S Golby 
 
Diocesan Representative Mr B Hall joined the meeting remotely. 
 

Officers: Tim Browne – Interim Director of Children’s Services 
Nick Page – Chief Executive 
Joseph Bright – Democratic Services Officer 
 

1. ELECTION OF CHAIRPERSON  
 
The Scrutiny Officer asked for nominations for the role of Chairperson of the Scrutiny 
Board. 
 
 RESOLVED 

That Councillor Daniel Gibbin be elected Chairperson of the Children’s 
Services, Education and Skills Scrutiny Board for the 2022/23 Municipal Year. 

 
(Councillor Gibbin in the Chair) 

 

2. APPOINTMENT OF A VICE-CHAIRPERSON 
 
Nominations were sought for the role of Vice-Chairperson of the Scrutiny Board. 
 
 RESOLVED  

That Councillor Richard Holt be elected Vice-Chairperson of the Children’s 
Services, Education and Skills Scrutiny Board for the 2022/23 Municipal Year. 

 

3. APOLOGIES 
 
Councillor B Donnelly submitted their apologies. 
 

4. DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY OR CONFLICTING INTERESTS FROM 
MEMBERS 
 
Councillor Laura McCarthy declared a personal interest in the meeting. This matter has 
been discussed with the Chair and it has been agreed by the Chair her interest is 
noted and details of that interest will remain confidential. 
 
 
 

5. QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS 
 
No questions or deputations were submitted. 
 

6. MINUTES 
 

Page 115



 
CHILDREN’S SERVICES, EDUCATION & SKILLS SCRUTINY BOARD - 9 June 

2022 
 

 

 

 

The minutes of the meetings held on 3rd March and 6th April 2022 were presented. A 
summary of the points raised at the meeting held on 23rd March 2022 were also 
shared. 
 
It was noted that an amendment needed to be made in respect of all meetings, to 
show that Co-opted Member Mr B Hall had joined the meeting remotely. 
 
 RESOLVED 
 The Children’s Services, Education and Skills Scrutiny Board agreed: 

(i) That the minutes of the meetings held on 3rd March and 6th April 2022 be 
held as a correct record, subject to the inclusion of the amendment 
detailed above. 

(ii) That the summary of the points raised at the meeting held on 23rd March 
2022 were noted, again, subject to the inclusion of the amendment 
detailed above. 

 

7. CABINET PORTFOLIO HOLDER PRIORITIES 2022-23 
 
The Cabinet Member for Children, Education and Skills presented the report, setting 
out the priorities for 2022-23, in regards to the services provided by the Children’s 
Services and Skills and Public Health Directorates. 
 
Prior to presenting his report, the Cabinet Member highlighted the following points, to 
reflect the current pressures facing Children’s Services: 

 For May 2022, 978 contacts regarding children and young people were 
reported to the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH).  

 From these contacts, 511 were taken forward as referrals.  

 In turn, 443 of these referrals were assessed to be Level 4 referrals, the highest 
level.  

 Overall, this represented a 100% increase in demand for MASH services. 
 
The Cabinet Member began by expressing his sadness and shock at the tragic murder 
of Arthur Labinjo-Hughes. His report outlined the work and priority actions being taken 
forward, through the Children, Education and Skills Portfolio, in implementing the JTAI 
Statement of Action, Children’s Social Care Improvement Plan and the 
recommendations from the National Review into the death of Arthur Labinjo-Hughes. 
 
The following priority areas from the Children, Education and Skills Portfolio were also 
highlighted: 

 Reducing the number of children experiencing care and implementing the 
Sufficiency Strategy to secure permanency and placement arrangements for 
those children and young people.  

 Implementing the Joint Additional Needs and Disability Strategy to improve 
outcomes for children and young people with additional needs, including 
Special Education Needs and Disabilities. 

 
Members raised the following questions: 

 Members requested for regular updates on the volume of children and young 
people reported to the MASH be shared with and reported to the Board.  

 Members welcomed the priorities outlined in the report. They requested a 
further update upon the priorities for Education and Schools. The Member also 
queried the potential for holding a meeting at a school. 

Page 116



 
CHILDREN’S SERVICES, EDUCATION & SKILLS SCRUTINY BOARD - 9 June 

2022 
 

 

 

 

 The Cabinet Member responded, emphasising the Local Authority maintained a 
strong working relationship with schools in the Borough. The Interim Director of 
Children’s Services also detailed how the LA’s relationship with schools would 
change as a consequence of the recommendations of the Schools White 
Paper. It was noted this Paper included proposals for all schools to become 
members of Multi Academy Trusts, as well as the removal of LA Improvement 
functions. Going forward, it was anticipated an LA’s role would focus upon 
championing vulnerable children. 

 A Member highlighted a recommendation from the National Panel Report into 
the murder of Arthur Labinjo-Hughes and Star Hobson – specifically the 
establishment of a new expert-led, multi-agency model for child protection 
investigation, planning, intervention and review. The Member queried the 
capacity in place to support this recommendation.  

 The Interim Director of Children’s Services confirmed they had significantly 
increased the capacity of the MASH. In January they had introduced an 
additional 3 full-time Health professional roles, a number of Police Officers, as 
well as an additional 5 Social Workers for the MASH. Further capacity was also 
being recruited due to the recent significant increase in demand. In regards to 
the National Panel Review, it was confirmed Officers were currently reviewing 
the recommendations – it was anticipated that new national guidance would be 
issued in due course. 

 A Member raised the potential changes arising from the Schools White Paper 
and requested confirmation there would still be information sharing 
arrangements in place, to allow the Council to monitor attainment levels and 
outcomes for looked after children, as well as young carers. 

 The Cabinet Member confirmed there would be information sharing 
arrangements in place with schools. He also detailed the work being 
undertaken with the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Adult Social Care and Health, 
in regards to offering support for young carers across the Borough. 

 Members requested for an executive summary on the Schools White Paper to 
be shared with the Scrutiny Board, to include a breakdown of the proposed 
statutory responsibilities for Local Authorities. The Chairman also queried 
whether it was possible, as part of this report, to include reference to Section 1 
of the Child and Social Care Act 2017. 

 Members also noted that, as part of the White Paper proposals, responsibility 
for School Improvement would sit with the Regional Schools Commissioner. 
Going forward, Members queried if Local Authorities would still have the 
authority to visit and engage with schools, in regards to their performance. 

 The Interim Director of Children’s Services explained that, for the next year, the 
School Improvement Team would continue to provide support to LA maintained 
schools and after this point, responsibility would shift to the Regional Schools 
Commissioner. Going forward, if there were any concerns about a school’s 
performance, this could be raised with the multi academy trust, as well as the 
Regional Schools Commissioner. Also, the Local Authority and the Scrutiny 
Board would still have a responsibility to engage with schools, through acting 
as champions for vulnerable children. 

 Members noted the points raised about the capacity of the MASH and queried 
whether data on staff turnover and recruitment within Children’s Services could 
be shared. They also requested whether information on staff morale could be 
shared as well.  

 Members questioned if data on SEND processes could be shared with the 
Board as well – including timescales for the completion of Education Health 

Page 117



 
CHILDREN’S SERVICES, EDUCATION & SKILLS SCRUTINY BOARD - 9 June 

2022 
 

 

 

 

and Care Plans, as well as the volume of cases that went to SEND mediation 
and tribunal. Members requested for a breakdown of the reasons to be shared 
as well.  

 The Interim Director of Children’s Services explained that the statutory 
timescales for the completion of EHCPs was 20 weeks. 3 years ago the 
Council was completing approximately 12% within this timescale. This year, the 
Council was regularly completing 100% of EHCPs within the time period, whilst 
nationally it was 53% for the current month. Nationally, there was a shortage of 
qualified SEND staff, alongside a significant increase in demand for support 
and these pressures were also experienced locally in Solihull. As a 
consequence, Officers were focusing on ensuring an effective Workforce 
Strategy. 

 A Member noted the request for updates on the volume of children and young 
people reported to the MASH and queried whether it could be possible to 
provide a further breakdown, including the reasons why referrals were made, 
as well as by area. It was noted this could potentially allow the identification of 
trends, as well as opportunities for earlier intervention. 

 The Interim Director of Children’s Services explained how the LSCP was taking 
forward, as an action, the development of a robust audit and performance 
information programme covering MASH practice – it was noted this could be 
considered as part of the Scrutiny work programme. 

 The Interim Director of Children’s Services explained that, as part of the 
Children’s Social Care Improvement Plan, a review was being undertaken of 
the overall Early Help Offer and arrangements – colleagues from another Local 
Authority were supporting this review and recommendations would be identified 
to help strengthen the offer going forward. 

 A Member highlighted how, with some MASH referrals, it may be concluded 
that no further Children’s Social Care involvement should be undertaken at that 
stage. They queried the engagement here with the people who made these 
MASH referrals, including Head teachers, schools and third party sector 
organisations. 

 The Interim Director for Children’s Services explained how a multi-agency 
thresholds document was shared with professionals and local organisations, to 
provide guidance on MASH referrals. He detailed how, if a professional had 
any remaining concerns, there was an escalation process in place. In regards 
to Head teachers and schools, the JTAI had found the education representative 
in the MASH had effective relationships with Solihull schools’ staff, whilst 
school leaders found the advice and support from the MASH beneficial.  

 Members highlighted instances of children being unable to attend school due to 
mental health issues. They noted how, in certain circumstances, fines could be 
issued for non-attendance at school – they queried the support in place for 
these pupils. 

 The Interim Director of Children’s Services explained the Government had 
issued new school attendance guidance that was currently out for consultation 
– officers were developing a support pack for schools, setting out 
responsibilities. He detailed how they would support and, where necessary, 
challenge schools, to ensure the appropriate recording of authorised and un-
authorised absences. It was confirmed that, as part of the individual 
assessment of each case, the Council would look at the family circumstances 
and consider whether additional support and alternative measures may be 
required. As part of this, officers would link with the specialist advisory service, 
Educational Psychologists, as well as wider support services. 

 

Page 118



 
CHILDREN’S SERVICES, EDUCATION & SKILLS SCRUTINY BOARD - 9 June 

2022 
 

 

 

 

Action Points: 
Overall, Members agreed for the following action points to be taken forward: 

 That regular updates on the volume of children and young people reported to 
the MASH be shared with and reported to the Board. 

 Members requested for a breakdown of the referrals to be provided, including 
the reasons why referrals were made, as well as by area. 

 Members asked for data on staff turnover and recruitment for the MASH to be 
shared. They also requested whether information on staff morale could be 
shared as well. 

 For an executive summary on the Schools White Paper to be shared with the 
Scrutiny Board, to include a breakdown of the proposed statutory 
responsibilities for Local Authorities. 

 For data on SEND processes to be shared with the Board – including 
timescales for the completion of Education Health and Care Plans, as well as 
the volume of cases that went to SEND mediation and tribunal. Again, 
Members requested for the reasons to be provided also. 

 It was noted the LSCP was developing a robust audit and performance 
information programme covering MASH practice – it was agreed for this to be 
scheduled as part of the Scrutiny Board’s Work Programme. 

 
 RESOLVED 
 The Children’s Services, Education and Skills Scrutiny Board: 

(i) Noted the priorities of the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children and 
Education for 2022-23; and 

(ii) Agreed for the draft Work Programme for 2022-23 to be updated to include 
the action points recorded above. 

 

8. CHILDREN'S SERVICES, EDUCATION AND SKILLS SCRUTINY BOARD WORK 
PROGRAMME 2022/23 
 
The Scrutiny Board was invited to consider a draft work programme for the 2021/22 
municipal year. Members raised the following points and observations: 

 Due to the volume of agenda items the Board wished to consider, it was 
recognised that additional meetings would need to be scheduled during this 
municipal year. 

 Members requested for a performance framework document to be developed, 
to be presented at future Scrutiny Board meetings. 

 Members also asked for a Task and Finish Group to be established, to consider 
the findings of the Independent Review of Children’s Social Care. 

 It was explained how Solihull Parent Carer Voice had offered to provide a 
SEND training session for all Councillors – meeting dates for this would be 
shared with Members shortly. 

 It was also requested that further training and development sessions for 
Members to be arranged during the municipal year, as appropriate. 

 Members asked for an additional column to be added to the work plan, to 
outline which Council Plan priorities for each agenda item. 

 It was highlighted how a review of the Council’s financial position, including the 
impact of financial pressures in Children’s Services, was scheduled for the 
Resources and Delivering Value Scrutiny Board in November. It was requested 
for this agenda item to also be scheduled for this Scrutiny Board. 

 
 RESOLVED 

Page 119



 
CHILDREN’S SERVICES, EDUCATION & SKILLS SCRUTINY BOARD - 9 June 

2022 
 

 

 

 

That the Children’s Services, Education and Skills Scrutiny Board approved the 
work plan, as submitted, subject to the addition of the points raised by 
Members above. 

 
 
 

End time of meeting: 19:30 

Page 120



 

 
 

Appendix A 

Children’s Services, Education and Skills Scrutiny Board  

Draft Work Programme 2022/23 (For Member review and discussion) 

  Children’s Services, Education and Skills Scrutiny Board Forward Work Programming 2022/23 

Topic /Issue 
 

Rationale Evidence Desired outcomes Resources/ Lead 
Technical Officer 

Date to be 
considered 

Lead Cabinet 
Member 

Council Plan 
Priority 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Children, 
Education and 
Skills Priorities 
2022/2023 
 

To provide the Scrutiny 
Board with details of 
the priorities of the 
Cabinet Member for 
Children, Education and 
Skills. 
 

The Cabinet 
Member will 
present a 
report to the 
Board 

For the Scrutiny 
Board to make 
sure the Cabinet 
Member’s 
priorities are 
adequately 
reflected in its 
work programme. 
 

Yes – internal 
 
Cabinet Member 
for Children, 
Education and 
Skills Priorities 

Thursday 9 June 
2022 

 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Children, 
Education and 
Skills  

Priority: 
Improving 
outcomes for 
children and 
young people 
in Solihull 
 
Priority: Take 
action to 
improve life 
chances and 
health 
outcomes in 
our most 
disadvantaged 
communities 
 

Children’s 
Services, 
Education and 
Skills Scrutiny 
Board Work 
Programme 

To consider and agree 
the work programme 
for the Municipal Year. 

Draft 
Scrutiny 
Work 
Programme 
to be 

To ensure that 
Scrutiny activity is 
linked to Council 
Plan priorities. 

Yes – internal 
 
Joseph Bright, 
Democratic 
Services Officer 

Thursday 9 June 
2022 

 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Children, 
Education and 
Skills 

Priority: 
Improving 
outcomes for 
children and 
young people 
in Solihull 

P
age 121



 

 
 

  Children’s Services, Education and Skills Scrutiny Board Forward Work Programming 2022/23 

Topic /Issue 
 

Rationale Evidence Desired outcomes Resources/ Lead 
Technical Officer 

Date to be 
considered 

Lead Cabinet 
Member 

Council Plan 
Priority 

 presented to 
the Board 

 
Priority: Take 
action to 
improve life 
chances and 
health 
outcomes in 
our most 
disadvantaged 
communities 
 

The Improving 
Outcomes for 
Children in 
Solihull Plan 

To provide the Scrutiny 
Board the Improving 
Outcomes for Children 
in Solihull Plan. This 
Plan is committed to 
delivering sustained 
improvement of 
Children’s Services and 
good outcomes for the 
children and young 
people of Solihull. 
 

Report to be 
presented to 
the Board. 

For the Scrutiny 
Board to review 
the Improvement 
Plan and consider 
the delivery as 
part of its future 
work programme. 

Yes – internal 
 
Cabinet Member 
for Children, 
Education and 
Skills Priorities and 
Tim Browne, 
Interim Director of 
Childrens Services 
 
Julie Penny, 
Quality and 
Assurance 
Assistant Director 
 

To be scheduled. 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Children, 
Education and 
Skills  

Priority: 
Improving 
outcomes for 
children and 
young people 
in Solihull 

Multi-agency 
written 

To provide the Scrutiny 
Board the written 
statement of proposed 

Report to be 
presented to 
the Board. 

For the Scrutiny 
Board to review 
the written 

Yes – multi-agency  
 

To be scheduled. 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Children, 

Priority: 
Improving 
outcomes for 

P
age 122



 

 
 

  Children’s Services, Education and Skills Scrutiny Board Forward Work Programming 2022/23 

Topic /Issue 
 

Rationale Evidence Desired outcomes Resources/ Lead 
Technical Officer 

Date to be 
considered 

Lead Cabinet 
Member 

Council Plan 
Priority 

statement of 
proposed action 

action, responding to 
the findings outlined in 
the Joint Targeted Area 
Inspection of Solihull. 
 

statement and 
consider the 
proposed actions 
as part of its 
future work 
programme. 

Multi-agency – 
Solihull Council, 
Birmingham and 
Solihull ICS and 
West Midlands 
Police. 

Education and 
Skills  

children and 
young people 
in Solihull 

Findings of the 
national Child 
Safeguarding 
Practice Review 
Panel 

To present to the Board 
the findings of the 
national Child 
Safeguarding Practice 
Review Panel. 

Report to be 
presented to 
the Board. 

To review the 
findings of the 
national Child 
Safeguarding 
Practice Review 
Panel and 
consider its 
recommendations, 
as part of its 
future work 
programme. 
 

Yes – multi-agency 
 
Multi-agency – 
Solihull Council, 
Birmingham and 
Solihull ICS and 
West Midlands 
Police. 

To be scheduled. 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Children, 
Education and 
Skills 

Priority: 
Improving 
outcomes for 
children and 
young people 
in Solihull 

Corporate 
Parenting in 
Solihull 

To inform Board 
members of the 
progress and current 
position in relation to 
corporate parenting in 
Solihull. 
 
To outline how Solihull 
MBC and its partners 
have supported our 
children in care and 

Report to be 
presented to 
the Board 
 
 
 
 

To help raise 
awareness both of 
the needs of 
children looked 
after and care 
experienced 
young people and 
OVOS (Our Voice 
Our Services) our 
children in care 
council 

Yes – internal 
 
Tim Browne, 
Interim Director of 
Childrens Services 
 
Anna Stephens, 
Head of Service for 
Looked After 
Children, Fostering 
and Adoption 

Monday 12 
September 2022 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Children, 
Education and 
Skills 

Priority: 
Improving 
outcomes for 
children and 
young people 
in Solihull 
 
Priority: Take 
action to 
improve life 
chances and 

P
age 123



 

 
 

  Children’s Services, Education and Skills Scrutiny Board Forward Work Programming 2022/23 

Topic /Issue 
 

Rationale Evidence Desired outcomes Resources/ Lead 
Technical Officer 

Date to be 
considered 

Lead Cabinet 
Member 

Council Plan 
Priority 

care experienced young 
people, by striving to be 
excellent corporate 
parents, taking 
corporate parenting 
into service areas and 
ensuring that teams 
understand what it is 
and how they can 
support 
 

 health 
outcomes in 
our most 
disadvantaged 
communities 

Delivery of the 
Placements and 
Sufficiency 
Strategy for 
Children Looked 
After and Care 
Experienced 
Young People 
2020-2024 

For the Board to review 
the delivery of the 
Placements and 
Sufficiency Strategy. 
 
To consider progress on 
the delivery plan and 
the four key priorities of 
work. 
 

Report to be 
presented to 
the Board. 
 

For the Scrutiny 
Board to review 
how the delivery 
of the Strategy 
supports the 
fulfilment of the 
Council’s 
Corporate 
Parenting 
priorities. 
 

Yes – internal 
 
Tim Browne, 
Interim Director of 
Childrens Services 
 
Julie Hackett, 
Head of Service – 
Commissioning for 
Children and 
Young People and 
Anna Stephens, 
Head of Service for 
Looked After 
Children, Fostering 
and Adoption 
 

Monday 12 
September 2022 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Children, 
Education and 
Skills 

Priority: 
Improving 
outcomes for 
children and 
young people 
in Solihull 
 
Priority: Take 
action to 
improve life 
chances and 
health 
outcomes in 
our most 
disadvantaged 
communities 

P
age 124



 

 
 

  Children’s Services, Education and Skills Scrutiny Board Forward Work Programming 2022/23 

Topic /Issue 
 

Rationale Evidence Desired outcomes Resources/ Lead 
Technical Officer 

Date to be 
considered 

Lead Cabinet 
Member 

Council Plan 
Priority 

Review of the 
Council’s 
Financial 
Position, 
including the 
impact of 
financial 
pressures in 
Children’s 
Services 
 

To provide the latest 
position on the 
Council’s MTFS, 
including the impact of 
any new pressures that 
have emerged since the 
MTFS was approved. 

The Board 
will be 
provided 
with the half-
year position 
for 2022/23, 
taking 
account of 
any new 
financial 
pressures. 

To provide 
Members with the 
Council’s latest 
financial position 
and any 
implications for 
the three-year 
MTFS. 

Paul Johnson 
Director of 
Resources & 
Deputy CE 

Monday 12 
September 2022 

Resources 
Portfolio 

Priority: 
Improving 
outcomes for 
children and 
young people 
in Solihull 
 
Priority: Take 
action to 
improve life 
chances and 
health 
outcomes in 
our most 
disadvantaged 
communities 
 

Delivery of new 
alternative and 
specialist 
provision in 
Solihull 

For the Board to receive 
a 12-month update and 
to scrutinise the 
delivery of new 
alternative and 
specialist provision in 
Solihull against the 
priorities identified in 
the SEND School Place 
Commissioning Strategy 
 

Report to be 
presented to 
the Board. 
 
 
 

For the Board to 
review the 
delivery of new 
alternative and 
specialist 
provision in the 
Borough, as set 
out in the SEND 
School Place 
Commissioning 
Strategy. 

Yes – internal 
 
Tim Browne, 
Interim Director of 
Childrens Services 
 
Steve Fenton, 
Head of Service 
Commissioning for 
Learning 

Tuesday 1 
November 2022 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Children, 
Education and 
Skills Priorities 
 
 

Priority: 
Improving 
outcomes for 
children and 
young people 
in Solihull 
 
Priority: Take 
action to 
improve life 
chances and 
health 

P
age 125



 

 
 

  Children’s Services, Education and Skills Scrutiny Board Forward Work Programming 2022/23 

Topic /Issue 
 

Rationale Evidence Desired outcomes Resources/ Lead 
Technical Officer 

Date to be 
considered 

Lead Cabinet 
Member 

Council Plan 
Priority 

For the Scrutiny Board 
to also review the 
ongoing development 
of Social, Emotional and 
Mental Health provision 
within the Borough. 
 

outcomes in 
our most 
disadvantaged 
communities 

Delivery of 
Solihull’s Joint 
Strategy for 
Children and 
Young People 
with Additional 
Needs 

For the Board to 
scrutinise the delivery 
of the Strategy and 
allow opportunity for 
Member input. 
 
To scrutinise the 
delivery against the ‘I’ 
statements set out in 
the Strategy, from the 
perspective of the child 
and young person. 
 

Report to be 
presented to 
the Board 
 
 

To scrutinise what 
progress is being 
made and ensure 
that the changes 
are resulting in 
improvements for 
children, young 
people and parent 
carers.  

Yes – internal 
 
Tim Browne, 
Interim Director of 
Childrens Services 
 
Charlotte Jones, 
Head of SEND 0-25 
Service 

Thursday 5 
January 2023 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Children, 
Education and 
Skills Priorities 
 
 

Priority: 
Improving 
outcomes for 
children and 
young people 
in Solihull 
 
Priority: Take 
action to 
improve life 
chances and 
health 
outcomes in 
our most 
disadvantaged 
communities 
 

Medium Term 
Financial 
Strategy Update 
– Budget 
Strategy 

To consider the budget 
proposals identified for 
2023/24 to 2025/26 
within the Children, 
Education and Skills 

Report to be 
presented to 
the Board. 

For the Board to 
make 
recommendations 
to the Resources 

Yes – internal 
 
Sarah Cheale – 
Children’s Services 
Finance Manager 

Thursday 5 
January 2023 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Children, 
Education and 
Skills Priorities 

Priority: 
Improving 
outcomes for 
children and 

P
age 126



 

 
 

  Children’s Services, Education and Skills Scrutiny Board Forward Work Programming 2022/23 

Topic /Issue 
 

Rationale Evidence Desired outcomes Resources/ Lead 
Technical Officer 

Date to be 
considered 

Lead Cabinet 
Member 

Council Plan 
Priority 

2023/24 – 
2025/26 

cabinet portfolio to go 
forward to the 
Resources and 
Delivering Value 
Scrutiny Board and the 
Full Cabinet in February 
2023. 
 

and Delivery Value 
Scrutiny Board. 

 young people 
in Solihull 
 
Priority: Take 
action to 
improve life 
chances and 
health 
outcomes in 
our most 
disadvantaged 
communities 

 

Delivery of the 
Children and 
Young People’s 
Mental Health 
and Emotional 
Wellbeing Local 
Transformation 
Plan. 
 

For the Board to review 
the ongoing delivery of 
the Children and Young 
People’s Mental Health 
and Emotional 
Wellbeing Local 
Transformation Plan 
and proposed next 
steps. 
 
Members to receive an 
update on the Mental 
Health support for 
children and young 
people who have been 

Report to be 
presented to 
the Board 

To update the 
Scrutiny Board on 
the delivery of the 
Children and 
Young People’s 
Mental Health and 
Emotional 
Wellbeing Local 
Transformation 
Plan and the 
proposed next 
steps. 

Yes – external 
(Birmingham and 
Solihull Integrated 
Care System) 

 

Carol McCauley – 
Senior Strategic 
Commissioner 
Birmingham and 
Solihull Integrated 
Care System 

Thursday 2 March 
2023 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Children, 
Education and 
Skills Priorities 

Priority: 
Improving 
outcomes for 
children and 
young people 
in Solihull 

P
age 127



 

 
 

  Children’s Services, Education and Skills Scrutiny Board Forward Work Programming 2022/23 

Topic /Issue 
 

Rationale Evidence Desired outcomes Resources/ Lead 
Technical Officer 

Date to be 
considered 

Lead Cabinet 
Member 

Council Plan 
Priority 

granted, or are seeking, 
asylum in the Borough. 
 

Delivery of the 
All-Age 
Exploitation 
Reduction 
Strategy 

For the Board to receive 
a 12 month update on 
the delivery of the All-
Age Exploitation 
Reduction Strategy. 
 
The on-going delivery of 
the multi-agency 
Exploitation Reduction 
Strategy forms a key 
strand of work within 
the Council Plan. 
 
 

Report to be 
presented to 
the Board 

To update the 
Children’s 
Services, 
Education and 
Skills Scrutiny 
Board on the 
progress of the 
Exploitation 
Reduction Board 
and Exploitation 
Reduction Delivery 
Group with 
respect to 
supporting 
children and 
young people at 
risk of, or 
experiencing, 
exploitation. 
 

Yes – internal 
 
Tim Browne, 
Interim Director of 
Childrens Services 
and Pali  Obhi, 
Exploitation, 
Missing and Youth  
Justice Service 
Manager 
 
 

Thursday 2 March 
2023 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Children, 
Education and 
Skills 

Priority: 
Improving 
outcomes for 
children and 
young people 
in Solihull 
 
Priority: Take 
action to 
improve life 
chances and 
health 
outcomes in 
our most 
disadvantaged 
communities 

Employment 
and Skills 
Activity 

For the Board to 
consider the provision 
in place across the 
Borough for the 
following: 
 

Report to be 
presented to 
the Board 

To ensure there is 
effective support 
for young people, 
which helps them 
acquire skills and 

Yes – internal 
 
Rachel Egan, Head 
of Inclusive 
Growth  

Thursday 2 March 
2023 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Children, 
Education and 
Skills 

Priority: 
Improving 
outcomes for 
children and 
young people 
in Solihull 

P
age 128



 

 
 

  Children’s Services, Education and Skills Scrutiny Board Forward Work Programming 2022/23 

Topic /Issue 
 

Rationale Evidence Desired outcomes Resources/ Lead 
Technical Officer 

Date to be 
considered 

Lead Cabinet 
Member 

Council Plan 
Priority 

 Support for 
careers in 
schools 

 Post 16 tracking 
and destinations 

 Support for 
NEETs including 
NEET prevention 

 Support for the 
unemployed 

 

access good 
employment. 

 
Priority: Take 
action to 
improve life 
chances and 
health 
outcomes in 
our most 
disadvantaged 
communities 

 

Children’s Services, Education and Skills Scrutiny Board Meeting Dates 2022/23 

Thursday 9 June 2022 

Monday 12 September 2022 

Tuesday 1 November 2022 

Thursday 5 January 2023 

Thursday 2 March 2023 

 

P
age 129



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
STRONGER COMMUNITIES AND NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES SCRUTINY 

BOARD - 7 June 2022 
 

 

 

 

STRONGER COMMUNITIES & NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES SCRUTINY BOARD 

07 JUNE 2022 

(HYBRID MEETING) 

MINUTES  

Present:  Councillors M Brain (substitute), M Carthew, B Donnelly, A 
Feeney, P Hogarth MBE, J O'Nyons, D Pinwell (substitute), W 
Qais, S Sheshabhatter.  

Apologies:  

Councillor B Groom. 

Councillor G Sleigh. 

Councillor K Hawkins – Cabinet Member (Highways & Infrastructure). 

Alan Brown (Assistant Director – Highways & Environment). 

Caroline Murray (Senior Commissioning Manager for Domestic Abuse, Sexual 
Health & Sexual Abuse). 

Report authors/witnesses in attendance:  

Mrs Alison McGrory (Assistant Director – Communities & Partnerships). 

Ruth Tennant - Director of Public Health and Commissioning (and Chair of the 
Solihull Domestic Abuse Partnership Board). 

External Witnesses in attendance: 

None. 

Cabinet Members in attendance by invitation: 

Councillor D Howell – Communities & Leisure Portfolio. 

Councillor K Grinsell - Deputy Leader of the Council and Lead Member for 
Partnerships and Wellbeing Portfolio.  

Other Elected Members in attendance by invitation: 

None. 

 
1. CONFIRMATION OF ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN FOR 2022/2023  

 
The following nominations were received and seconded: 

 Councillor W Qais (Conservative Group nomination). 

 Councillor S Sheshabhatter (Green Group nomination). 

RESOLVED 

That, Councillor W Qais be elected Chairman for the 
2022/23 Municipal Year. 

 
2. CONFIRMATION OF APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIRMAN FOR 2022/2023  

 
The following nominations were received and seconded: 

 Councillor P Hogarth MBE (Conservative Group nomination). 

Page 131



 
STRONGER COMMUNITIES AND NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES SCRUTINY 

BOARD - 7 June 2022 
 

 

 

 

 Councillor S Sheshabhatter (Green Group nomination). 

RESOLVED 

That, Councillor P Hogarth MBE be appointed Vice-
Chairman for the 2022/23 Municipal Year. 

 
3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
It was recorded that Councillor M Brain was a Member of the West Midlands Police 
Independent Advisory Group for Domestic Violence. 

 
4. QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS  

 
There were no questions or deputations. 

 
5. DOMESTIC ABUSE ACT 2021 - PLANNED RESPONSE FOR THE DELIVERY OF 

NEW DUTIES  
 
In attendance: Ruth Tennant - Director of Public Health and Commissioning (and 
Chair of the Solihull Domestic Abuse Partnership Board); Councillor D Howell – 
Communities & Leisure Portfolio; and Councillor K Grinsell - Deputy Leader of the 
Council and Lead Member for Partnerships and Wellbeing Portfolio. 

The Director of Public Health and Commissioning (and in her capacity as Chair of the 
Solihull Domestic Abuse Partnership Board) submitted a detailed update to the Board 
to inform Members of the progress made towards the new duties brought into effect by 
the Domestic Abuse Act 2021. 

In summary, the key work streams included: 

 Transition of an existing multi-agency group into the statutory Domestic 
Abuse Partnership Board. 

 Completion of a Needs Assessment to assess the demand for DA safe 
accommodation. 

 Publication of Solihull’s 2022-2025 Domestic Abuse Strategy, detailing 
the Partnership’s approach for identifying and meeting the needs of DA 
safe accommodation. 

 Commissioning of a new BAME 6-bed refuge, together with the 
submission of a planning application to support a larger Housing of 
Multiple Occupancy licence. 

 Commissioning of dedicated children’s support within refuges to achieve 
compliance. 

 Commissioning of specialist Housing Advocates who will work directly 
with victims. 

 Ongoing compliance with detailed data reporting requirements to the 
Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities. 

Having considered the report, the Board asked the following questions and made the 
following observations: 

 The increase in domestic abuse was clearly of concern. Officers were 
asked if any lessons had been learnt from previous strategies to ensure 
success with the current approach. The Director of Public Health and 
Commissioning highlighted that the Act brought into force a statutory 

Page 132



 
STRONGER COMMUNITIES AND NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES SCRUTINY 

BOARD - 7 June 2022 
 

 

 

 

responsibility and, with that, came a funding stream to support the 
delivery of new and strengthened services. The Board was also advised 
that work was also being undertaken to increase confidence amongst 
victims to report domestic abuse. The perception was that domestic 
abuse was historically under-reported. A number of initiatives to support 
this service improvement was verbally reported. 

 The Board highlighting that attempting to contact the Police via either 
101, or their live web-chat, to report domestic abuse could deter victims 
as the perceived performance of those two methods of police contact 
was still poor as waiting times were lengthy for calls to be answered. 
Members considered that this would have a direct effect on the under-
reporting of domestic abuse. Officers were asked if there was any other 
way for victims of domestic abuse to contact the Police quickly and 
effectively (other than 999). The Director of Public Health and 
Commissioning advised that she would follow this up with Police 
colleagues at the Solihull Domestic Abuse Partnership Board. 

 Members asked what work was being undertaken to ensure that the 
placement of refuges in residential areas was a success for both the 
victims of abuse and the existing community. The Director of Public 
Health and Commissioning advised of the safeguards brought about by 
the town planning requirements for houses of multiple occupancy. 
Housing for victims of abuse was often very discrete, by necessity, 
which lessoned the direct impact on neighbouring properties and the 
community itself. The protection (and anonymity) of the victim was of 
paramount importance. 

 In terms of the potential reasons for under-reporting, the Board 
highlighted that there was a perception that victims would not achieve a 
positive outcome and it was not apparent what the support measures 
would be. The importance of clear communication to publicise all 
methods of reporting was reiterated again.  

 The Board highlighted that, often, the perpetrator would remain in the 
family home whilst the victims (and children) would seek refuge in 
alternative safe accommodation. Officers asked if that was always the 
best outcome for the victim where there was no initial consequences for 
the perpetrator. The Director of Public Health and Commissioning 
highlighted the work being undertaken around perpetrator programmes 
and gave reassurances around the need for immediate support for 
victims with the least disruption and, in the majority of cases, the 
instigation of criminal proceedings. 

 Members also sought further information as to how the strategy covered 
allegations of abuse in other residential settings such as care homes 
and also what resources were available to e.g. community groups and 
religious organisations to support victims. The Director of Public Health 
and Commissioning highlighted the current work being undertaken by 
the Exploitation Board and the reporting routes available for elders who 
were being mistreated by their family or their carers. More work on 
communication and training was envisaged to enable key stakeholders 
within the community to spot the signs of domestic abuse and initiate 
those first conversations with victims and offer pathways to support. 

 The Board asked what support was available for male victims to ensure 
there was a good level of confidence for those victims to report abuse. 
Members highlighted that the Council’s website included a link to the 
Victim Support website with little other obvious direct information for 

Page 133



 
STRONGER COMMUNITIES AND NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES SCRUTINY 

BOARD - 7 June 2022 
 

 

 

 

male victims. The Director of Public Health and Commissioning advised 
that she would follow this up with the relevant colleagues. 

 Members asked which GP services were not currently providing the 
reporting services for domestic abuse and if they were limited to any 
particular geographical area. The Director of Public Health and 
Commissioning advised that the vast majority of Solihull’s GP’s were 
providing that service and the overall number was steadily increasing 
(currently circa 80%). Ongoing work with the CCG would also increase 
participation. The Board also highlighted that difficulties in getting an 
appointment to see a GP in some areas of Solihull (particularly those 
GP’s within the Solihull Healthcare Partnership at this time) could 
contribute to under-reporting and missed opportunities to have those 
first conversations with victims. 

 The Board highlighted the importance of support pathways for children 
where settings, such as schools, picked up signs of domestic abuse. 
The Director of Public Health and Commissioning confirmed that 
children were now recognised as victims of domestic abuse and an 
element of the service going forwards would be to specifically support 
children. 

 Members considered that, for future progress reports, it would be useful 
to scrutinise the Police response to domestic abuse to support the 
delivery of the statutory duties within the new Act. The Board anticipated 
that the new duties would also bring about better outcomes to reported 
incidents. The Director of Public Health and Commissioning confirmed 
that the Police were members of the Domestic Abuse Partnership Board 
and that Group regularly looked at the number of reported incidents and 
the associated Police response. 

 The Board requested further information as to the (gender) funding split 
for victims of domestic abuse. The Director of Public Health and 
Commissioning advised that the number of male victims was lower and 
this was reflected in the funding proportion (although specific data was 
not on hand at the meeting). The Board was advised that the funding 
allocations needed to be correct for the victims who needed access to 
the services. 

 Members highlighted the importance of awareness campaigns as, with 
some categories of domestic abuse such as coercive control, the 
victims did not always recognise the signs of abuse themselves. The 
Director of Public Health and Commissioning confirmed that 
improvements to awareness and communication formed part of the 
ongoing work already being undertaken. 

 With regard to prevention and early intervention, the Board highlighted 
the importance of working with children and young people to teach them 
about respect and behaviours within healthy adult relationships. 

Councillor D Howell, Communities & Leisure Portfolio Holder, reaffirmed the 
importance of the work progressed to date and highlighted the need for a new 
objective to the included within the Council Plan to underpin this multi-agency work. 
Equally, the importance of Partnership working was also seen as a key element of the 
strengthened Domestic abuse service, going forwards. 

Councillor K Grinsell, Deputy Leader of the Council and Lead Member for Partnerships 
and Wellbeing Portfolio, also spoke in support of a number of ongoing campaigns to 
support victims and to highlight reporting pathways (e.g. ask Angela and ask Annie). 

Page 134



 
STRONGER COMMUNITIES AND NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES SCRUTINY 

BOARD - 7 June 2022 
 

 

 

 

RESOLVED 

That, subject to the comments and views recorded in 
the preamble above, the Board UNANIMOUSLY:  

(i) Endorses all work undertaken, to date, towards 
the new duties brought into effect by the 
Domestic Abuse Act 2021, together with the 
publication of Solihull’s new Domestic Abuse 
Strategy; 

(ii) That the Solihull Domestic Abuse Partnership 
Board be invited to consider the feasibility of an 
alternate means for victims of domestic abuse 
to contact the Police (non-emergency) without 
having to use either 101 or live web-chat (to 
encourage reporting); 

(iii) That the information contained on the Council’s 
website to support male victims of domestic 
abuse be reviewed to ensure clear reporting 
routes and support mechanisms are more 
easily accessible; and 

(iv) That a further progress report be considered in 
six month’s time (December 2022). 

 
6. COMMONWEALTH GAMES UPDATE  

 
In attendance: Mrs Alison McGrory (Assistant Director – Communities & 
Partnerships); Ruth Tennant - Director of Public Health and Commissioning; and 
Councillor K Grinsell - Deputy Leader of the Council and Lead Member for 
Partnerships and Wellbeing Portfolio. 

The Assistant Director – Communities & Partnerships submitted a detailed report to 
give a full appraisal of Solihull’s involvement in the delivery of the Games and to 
highlight a number of potential legacies for the Borough. The report was 
complimented by a short video, which was shown in parallel with the consideration of 
the written report. 

In summary, the report highlighted: 

 Key Project work streams in the build up to the Games – which included 
service area specific updates for Transport, Highways & Infrastructure; 
Regulatory & Enforcement; Resilience; Street Scene; Inclusion & 
Communities; Economy & Tourism; and Health Protection. 

 Queens Baton Relay – details of the route for the Baton that would 
travel through the majority of the Borough and all associated community 
and Town Centre events. 

 Events Programme – established alongside key Partners to create a 
programme that would be accessible to all residents and communities.  

 Engagement Plans – a number of drop-in sessions had been arranged 
to answer questions and capture feedback from residents, communities 
and businesses. 

 Legacy Objectives – a number of objectives for Solihull had been 
aligned to the Games to help the region to “grow and succeed”, “put 

Page 135



 
STRONGER COMMUNITIES AND NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES SCRUTINY 

BOARD - 7 June 2022 
 

 

 

 

Solihull on the global stage”, “improve health and wellbeing”, and to 
“bring people together”. 

Having considered the report, the Board asked the following questions and made the 
following observations: 

 The Board highlighted that both the NEC and the Airport were situated 
within Solihull, rather than Birmingham. The Council, wherever possible, 
should promote that to ensure the Borough “is put on the map”. It was 
considered that the route of the Queens Baton Relay would help with 
that national recognition. 

 The Board sought assurances that the current reported difficulties with 
air travel would not impact on the timely arrival of athletes and visitors. 
The Assistant Director – Communities & Partnerships confirmed that 
meetings with the Airport Company were regularly held to ensure the 
successful delivery of the Games. All arriving athletes would be 
processed at the NEC itself. 

 Members asked if there was any indication at this stage of the number 
of hotel bookings within Solihull. The Assistant Director – Communities 
& Partnerships confirmed that an enormous amount of work was being 
undertaken to promote tourism within the Borough and that work 
included the promotion of the Borough’s hotel trade. Those hotels 
located near to the NEC itself would house some of the athletes for the 
duration of the Games. 

 Members highlighted that whilst it was pleasing to note that the Baton 
Relay would be within the Borough for an entire day, it was 
disappointing that some Wards had not been included in the overall 
route. The Assistant Director – Communities & Partnerships advised the 
final route was determined and approved by the Organising Committee 
against their own criteria. 

 The report highlighted that the Games would be broadcast on a large, 
open air, screen in Solihull Town Centre. The Board asked if that facility 
was just limited to that location or if similar facilities would be made 
available in other parts of Solihull. The Assistant Director – 
Communities & Partnerships highlighted the cost and logistics of the live 
broadcast screens, the locations of which had to be agreed with the 
Organising Committee. The Board was advised that the aim of that 
resource was to draw spectators away from the NEC, to spend their 
time in Solihull Town Centre whilst still being able to watch live events. 

 Participation from local business was highlighted and Officers were 
asked if there was a deadline for local business to register their support 
to get involved with the planned (non-sponsor) community activities. 
The Assistant Director – Communities & Partnerships advised that there 
was no deadline to register and all support and involvement would be 
welcomed. 

 The Board asked if the Council had enough resources to support the 
delivery of the Games and to carry on with its “business as usual” 
services. The Assistant Director – Communities & Partnerships 
confirmed that enough resources were available and there would be no 
impact on other, key, day to day Council services. The Board did note, 
however, that there would be an added pressure on all blue light 
services during the Games calendar. 

Page 136



 
STRONGER COMMUNITIES AND NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES SCRUTINY 

BOARD - 7 June 2022 
 

 

 

 

 Members highlighted the importance of engaging with all sectors of the 
community to ensure the success of the legacy plan, going forwards. 
The Assistant Director – Communities & Partnerships advised the Board 
of a number of work streams being undertaken to maximise the legacy 
opportunities, particularly those around physical activity and community 
cohesion. 

 The Board sought further information as to what transport links would be 
in place to ensure visitors could easily travel from the NEC to, e.g., 
Solihull Town Centre. The Assistant Director – Communities & 
Partnerships advised that the Transport, Highways & Infrastructure Cell 
working with Transport for West Midlands had oversight of the 
Borough’s travel and connectivity elements of the Games. Travel was 
also included within the ticket price for the individual events. 

 Members also highlighted the importance of communication and asked 
what work was being done to ensure inclusivity, particularly with those 
residents that were considered hard to reach. The Assistant Director – 
Communities & Partnerships outlined the key work being undertaken by 
local community groups to support those lines of communication. 

RESOLVED 

That, subject to the comments and views recorded in 
the preamble above, the Board UNANIMOUSLY:  

(i) Notes, endorses and welcomes the full 
appraisal of Solihull’s involvement in the 
delivery of the Games and notes the number of 
potential legacies for the Borough; and 

(ii) That a further report be considered in 12 
months time to review the progress made 
towards the reported future legacies. 

 
7. WORK PROGRAMME 2022/2023  

 
The Boards draft Work Plan was submitted for consideration and approval. The Plan 
highlighted a number of topics for consideration during 2022/23, and a proportion of 
the Plan was also set around the requirement to act as the statutory “Crime & Disorder 
Committee”.  

In considering the Work Plan, a Member suggested that the Strategic Assessment of 
the Third Sector should also be included for consideration as a topic this year. The 
suggestion was unanimously supported. 

RESOLVED 

That, the Board: 

(i) Approves its Work Plan for 2022/23, as 
submitted, and subject to the inclusion of the 
Strategic Assessment of the Third Sector.  

 
 
 

(The meeting concluded at 7.45 pm) 

Page 137



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Stronger Communities and Neighbourhood Services Scrutiny Board 

2022/2023 Work Plan 

 
SCRUTINY BOARD (inc STATUTORY CRIME & DISORDER COMMITTEE) WORK PLAN 

 

Title of topic 
 

Reason for scrutiny and 
desired outcomes? 

Which council priority does this 
topic support? 

Cabinet Portfolio 
responsible  

Lead officer Date to be 
considered 

Work Plan 2022/23 
 

Consideration and approval of 
draft 2022/23 Work Plan for 
submission to Full Council in 
October 2022. 

N/A (Scrutiny Board Management) Partnerships and 
Wellbeing;  
Communities & 
Leisure; and 
Environment & 
Infrastructure. 

Democratic 
Services 

7 June 2022 

Birmingham 2022 
Commonwealth Games 
 
 

Following the official launch of 
the Games, to consider a full 
appraisal of Solihull’s 
involvement in the delivery of 
the Games and to review the 
potential legacies for the 
Borough, going forwards. 

People & Communities 
 
A Strong Economy 

Partnerships and 
Wellbeing. 

Joint Directorate 
report - Alison 
McGrory/Ruth 
Tennant 

7 June 2022 

Domestic Abuse Act 2021 
and Implementation 
(Crime & Disorder Scrutiny 
Committee item) 
 

(12-month post-
implementation review).  To 
scrutinise the progress in 
delivering the duties and 
requirements of the new Act. 

People & Communities Communities & 
Leisure. 

Ruth Tennant/ 
Caroline 
Murray/Michelle 
Hughes 

7 June 2022 

Road Safety Strategy for 
Solihull 2017-30 

To review the (Road 
Safety/Safer Solihull) 
Partnerships current progress 
towards the ambitions and 
priorities outlined in the 
current Road Safety Strategy 
for Solihull and its associated 
Action Plan. 

People & Communities 
 
Actioning our Climate Change 
Declaration 

Environment & 
Infrastructure. 

Paul Tovey (and 
Safer Solihull 
Partners TBC) 

14 September 
2022 

P
age 139



2 
 

Highway Works Permits 
Scheme 
 

To review the implementation 
of the Council’s Highway 
Works Permits Scheme to 
ensure it is meeting its 
objectives and to make any 
recommendations as to future 
improvements to the scheme. 

People & Communities 
 
A Strong Economy 
 
Actioning our Climate Change 
Declaration 

Environment & 
Infrastructure. 

Paul Tovey 14 September 
2022 

Strategic Assessment of 
the Third Sector 

To review the draft Strategic 
Assessment of the Third 
Sector, commissioned to 
improve collaboration between 
the Council and the VCSE 
sector. 

People & Communities Communities & 
Leisure. 

Austin Rodriguez/ 
Sara Rooney 

14 September 
2022 

Agenda Planning Item - 
Community Safety 
Partnership (CSP) Key 
Priority Annual Updates 

To agree the agenda content 
for the Boards December 
meeting. 

N/A (Scrutiny Board Management) Partnerships and 
Wellbeing; 
Communities & 
Leisure. 

Democratic 
Services 

14 September 
2022 

Solihull Homelessness 
Strategy 

To review progress and the 
impact of delivering the 
current homelessness strategy 
and inform the scope and 
priorities for developing a new 
strategy. 

People & Communities 
 

Partnerships and 
Wellbeing 

Hannah Buckley 14 September 
2022 

Neighbourhood 
Community Infrastructure 
Levy – 2022 Funding 
Round 
 

To review the application 
process and consider the 
preferred bids for the 
neighbourhood proportion of 
the Community Infrastructure 
Levy for the 2022 round of 
bidding. 

People & Communities Communities & 
Leisure. 

Mark 
Andrews/Gary 
Palmer 

16 November 
2022  
 

Solihull Library Services To consider and review the 
Library Services Strategy. 
 

People & Communities 
 
A Strong Economy 
 

Communities & 
Leisure. 

Kate Bunting 16 November 
2022 

P
age 140



3 
 

Supporting Cultural 
Recovery in Solihull 

Following on from 2021/22, a 
further service update to 
scrutinise how the Council is 
acting to support the recovery 
of the cultural sector in 
Solihull. 

People & Communities 
 
A Strong Economy 

Communities & 
Leisure. 

Martyn Sargeant 16 November 
2022 

Prevent & Protect 
 

To review the Councils (and its 
partner agencies) local-level 
approach to general public 
safety in the Borough’s Town 
Centres and other key venues; 
and to scrutinise those key 
obligations under the Prevent 
Duty. 

People & Communities 
 
A Strong Economy 

Partnerships and 
Wellbeing;  
Communities & 
Leisure. 

Alison 
McGrory/Gill 
Crabbe/West 
Midlands Police 

16 November 
2022 

Families and Households 
in Poverty 
 

To review and scrutinise the 
Council’s role in enabling, 
supporting and investing in 
prevention, early help and 
crisis support for families 
experiencing poverty and 
disadvantage. 

People & Communities 
 
A Strong Economy 

Partnerships and 
Wellbeing;  
Communities & 
Leisure. 

Austin Rodriguez/ 
Partners and VCS 

16 November 
2022 

Community Safety 
Partnership (CSP) Key 
Priority Updates 
(Crime & Disorder Scrutiny 
Committee item) 

To scrutinise the annual 
progress towards the delivery 
of the Partnerships Key 
Priorities and associated Action 
Plans. 

People & Communities Communities & 
Leisure. 

Alison McGrory, 
Gill Crabbe and all 
Partners 

29 November 
2022 

Domestic Abuse Act 2021 
and Implementation of 
New Powers and Duties 
(Crime & Disorder Scrutiny 
Committee item) 
 

To consider a 6-month 
progress update towards 
compliance with the new 
duties brought into effect by 
the Domestic Abuse Act 2021 
on associated key work 
streams. 

People & Communities Communities & 
Leisure. 

Ruth Tennant/ 
Caroline Murray 

29 November 
2022 

Budget Framework 
 

To scrutinise the Budget 
Framework for 2023/24 – 

People & Communities 
 

Partnerships and 
Wellbeing;  

Lauren Beach / 
Anna Leggett 

10 January 
2023 

P
age 141



4 
 

2025/26 and the detailed 
savings proposals identified for 
2025/26. 

A Strong Economy Communities & 
Leisure; and 
Environment & 
Infrastructure. 

Leisure Centre Operations 
and Pandemic Recovery 
Update 

Following a report to the Board 
in March 2022, to consider a 
further general update on the 
current position of the leisure 
centre operations and 
pandemic recovery. 

People & Communities 
 
A Strong Economy 

Communities & 
Leisure. 

Ruth 
Tennant/Sadie 
Walker 

10 January 
2023 

Cabinet Portfolio Holder 
Key Achievements for 
2022/23 and Priorities for 
2023/24 
 

To scrutinise the delivery and 
progress of the Cabinet 
Portfolio key priorities for 
2022/23 having regard to the 
2020-25 Council Plan and 
recovery from COVID-19. 
To consider and comment 
upon the Portfolio priorities for 
2023/24 and spotlight any 
topics to support future 
decision-making. 

People & Communities 
 
A Strong Economy 

Partnerships and 
Wellbeing;  
Communities & 
Leisure; and 
Environment & 
Infrastructure. 

Ruth Tennant, 
Alison McGrory 
and Alan Brown 

14 March 
2023 

Solihull on the Move 
Programme 

To consider a general annual 
update and to scrutinise the 
progress towards the delivery 
phases of the individual 
components of the 
Programme.  

People & Communities 
 
Actioning our Climate Change 
Declaration 

Communities & 
Leisure. 

Ruth 
Tennant/Sadie 
Walker 

14 March 
2023 

CCTV 
 

To review the Council’s 
provision and use of CCTV 
systems and services across 
the Borough. 
(Site visit – Feb/early March 
2023). 

People & Communities 
 
A Strong Economy 

Environment & 
Infrastructure. 

Paul 
Tovey/Solihull 
Community 
Housing 

14 March 
2023 

 
TO BE ALLOCATED AND/OR CARRY FORWARDS TO 2023/2024 

P
age 142



5 
 

 

Stronger Communities and Neighbourhood Services Scrutiny Board meeting dates in 2022/23 

 7 June 2022 

 14 Sept 2022 

 16 Nov 2022 

 29 Nov 2022 (Safer Solihull Partnership) 

 

Residential Parking 
Displacement Strategy 

To consider the effectiveness 
of the new Residential Parking 
Displacement Strategy. 
(12-month post-
implementation review). 

People & Communities 
 
Actioning our Climate Change 
Declaration 

Environment & 
Infrastructure. 

Mark O’Connell June 2023 

Birmingham 2022 
Commonwealth Games – 
Legacies for Solihull 
Update 

Following the 2022 Games, to 
review the progress made 
towards the future legacies for 
Solihull. 

People & Communities 
 
A Strong Economy 

Partnerships and 
Wellbeing; and 
Communities & 
Leisure. 

Joint Directorate 
report - Alison 
McGrory/Ruth 
Tennant 

June 2023 

Waste Strategy To review the Council’s Waste 
Strategy following the 
publication of the 
Governments Environment Bill. 

People & Communities 
 
Actioning our Climate Change 
Declaration 

Environment & 
Infrastructure. 

Alan Brown and 
Kalen Wood 

Date TBC 

 
POTENTIAL JOINT WORK IN 2022/23 WITH OTHER SCRUTINY BOARDS 

 

Title of topic 
 

Lead Scrutiny Board  Date to be considered 

Town Centres Framework Update Report Economic Development & Managed Growth Scrutiny Board  13 September 2022 [all Members 
of this Board will be invited to 
attend]. 

Draft Refreshed Solihull Connected Strategy 
 

Economic Development & Managed Growth Scrutiny Board 13 September 2022 [all Members 
of this Board will be invited to 
attend]. 

P
age 143



6 
 

 10 Jan 2023 

 14 Mar 2023 

P
age 144



 
HEALTH AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE SCRUTINY BOARD - 8 June 2022 

 
 

 

1  

MINUTES 

 
 
Present: Councillors: A Burrow, A Feeney (Substitute) S Gethen, A Mackenzie, M  

McCarthy, R Sexton and A Wilson 
 

Officers: 
 
 
External  
Witnesses:    

Jenny Wood, Ruth Tennant, Karen Murphy, Lizzie Edwards and Jane Game 
 
 
David Melbourne - ICS Interim Designate Chief Executive 
Paul Sherriff – Chief Officer for Primary Care and Integration 
Jonathan Brotherton- Chief Operating Office UHB 
Martin Richardson – Medical Director 
Fiona Alexander – Chief Communications Officer UHB 
 

  
  

 

1. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN  
 

RESOLVED: 
That Cllr Martin McCarthy be elected Chairman for the ensuing year. 

 
(Cllr McCarthy takes the Chair) 

 

2. APPOINTMENT OF A VICE-CHAIRMAN  
 

RESOLVED: 
That Cllr Gail Sleigh be appointed Vice-Chairman for the ensuing year. 

 

3. APOLOGIES  
 
Apologies were received from Cllr G Sleigh, Cllr Feeney was in attendance as a 
substitute. 
 
 

4. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 
None received. 
 

5. QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS  
 
None received. 
 

6. MINUTES  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 14 March 2022 were submitted for approval. 
 
With regard to minute 5, Suicide Prevention Plan, Cllr Dr Sexton referenced the 
additional information received following the meeting, and in particular the support 
given to children, who had been bereaved by suicide. Cllr Dr Sexton reminded the 
Board that she had proposed a recommendation that this be reviewed as part of the 
refresh of the Suicide Prevention Plan. 

Page 145



 
HEALTH AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE SCRUTINY BOARD - 8 June 2022 

 
 

 

2  

 
The Chairman referred to the Work Programme on the agenda, where there was an 
item on Suicide Prevention scheduled. 
 

RESOLVED: 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 14 March 2022 be approved as a 
correct record. 

 

7. CABINET PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH AND 
PARTNERSHIP AND WELLBEING: PRIORITIES FOR 2022/23  
 
The Chairman welcomed Cllr Dicicco the Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and 
Health and Cllr Karen Grinsell Cabinet Member for Partnerships and Wellbeing and 
Chairman of the Solihull Health and Wellbeing Board, who were in attendance. 
 
Cllr Dicicco advised Members that his Portfolio priorities were aligned with the two 
relevant directorates - adult care and support and the public health. With regard to the 
priority areas aligned with the adult social care and support these were detailed in 
Table 1 and supported five of the strategic themes in the council plan as detailed in the 
report. 
 
Cllr Dicicco advised that in addition to the work set out in Table 1 there were four 
enabling priorities as set out in Table 2, that had been agreed for the adult care and 
support directorate, each of which underpinned the broader work of the directorate and 
were detailed in table two of the report. In respect to priority areas aligned with public 
health these were set out in table three of the report. 
 
Having received Cllr Dicicco’s priorities for 2022/23, Members sought clarification on a 
number of issues which in summary included: - 
 

 With regard to the Environment Sustainability Plan, it was confirmed that this 
could be included in the Board’s work programme, prior to it being considered 
by the Cabinet Member; 
 

 Members requested that they receive a breakdown of public health priority 
areas broken down by Cabinet Member delegation; 
 

 In relation to the Health Inequalities Strategy a Member commented that 
reference to adolescents seemed to missing from the priority area and they 
would have preferred that direct reference to poverty as a factor of inequality 
had been made. Cllr Dicicco referenced the development of family hubs and 
the positive impact they would have in addressing inequalities; 
 

 With reference to the funding for weight management services (Table 3 point 
7), Officers confirmed that the funding as detailed in the report was correct; 
 

 Members asked whether the Council engaged with the prison service in relation 
to supporting prison leavers with mental health needs. Officers advised that 
SIAS, who were commissioned by the Council to provide substance misuse 
service locally, worked closely with the criminal justice system and that the 
Director of Public Health would be happy to discuss this further; 
 

Page 146



 
HEALTH AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE SCRUTINY BOARD - 8 June 2022 

 
 

 

3  

 With regard to performance monitoring Cllr Dicicco assured Members that a 
range of data was presented to his Portfolio decision sessions to ensure 
performance of the service was measured and monitored; 
 

 Members raised concern over possible digital exclusion and wanted to be 
reassured that residents who could not engage digitally were not left behind. 
Both Cabinet Members acknowledged it was an important point and such 
residents would not be overlooked. Cllr Grinsell provided examples of how the 
Library service was used to help residents engage digitally; and 
 

 Reference was also made to carer leavers who moved into supported 
accommodation and the support they were given to access the internet. Cllr 
Dicicco offered to look into this in more detail. 
 

Cllr Grinsell advised the Board that she was not able to present a report at this 
meeting, but would be happy to present her priorities to the next Board meeting in July. 
 
The Chairman thanked the Cabinet Members for attending and looked forward to their 
future attendance to provide updates for the Board. 
 

RESOVED: 
That the report from the Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care be 
noted and that the report from the Cabinet Member for Partnerships and 
Wellbeing and Chairman of the Solihull Health and Wellbeing Board be 
presented to the Board on 18 July 2022. 

 

8. ACCESS TO PRIMARY CARE AND URGENT CARE SERVICES FOR SOLIHULL 
RESIDENTS  
 
The Chairman welcomed to the meeting external colleagues who were in attendance 
to provide Members with information on Access to Primary Care and Urgent Care 
Services for Solihull residents.  
 
The Board welcomed: 
 

 David Melbourne ICS Interim Designate Chief Executive 

 Paul Sherriff – Chief Officer for Primary Care and Integration 

 Jonathan Brotherton- Chief Operating Office UHB 

 Martin Richardson – Medical Director 

 Fiona Alexander – Chief Communications Officer UHB 
 
David Melbourne provided the context for the two reports before the Board and 
detailed the considerable amount of work which needed to be undertaken to deal with 
the NHS backlog in Birmingham and Solihull, including the plans to achieve this. 
 
Paul Sherriff in presenting his report on primary care covered a number of points which 
in summary included: 
 

 There was a recognition at national and local level that patients’ needs were 
not being meet, despite a number of interventions being put in place, some of 
which had been suggested by the Board on previous occasions; 
 

Page 147



 
HEALTH AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE SCRUTINY BOARD - 8 June 2022 

 
 

 

4  

 It was recognised that GPs’ worked very hard and services provided pre-
pandemic were now available. However, how services were provided was 
fundamentally different, with not all contact being face to face; 
 

 60% of patients were able to access face to face appointments, with the rest 
delivered remotely. Contact was not always with a GP, but other professionals 
working within the surgery such as paramedics, nurse practioners and physios; 
 

 It was acknowledged that public engagement and consultation needed to be 
better as public satisfaction was low, despite significant investment being made 
in every single surgery in the Borough to improve telephony, business 
processing and websites; 
 

 It was confirmed that there were two sites in the Borough which were causing 
concern and work was ongoing to improve things and the situation was being 
monitored. Regular checks were done to see how easy it was to contact a GP; 
 

 Across the Borough the average call waiting time was 8 minutes, however at 
two sites the average mean time was 30 minutes which was not acceptable; 
and 
 

 Members were advised that although GP surgeries were run by private 
business providing services to the NHS there was a commitment from every 
surgery in the Borough to improve. 
 

Following the presentation Members asked a number of questions which in summary 
included: 
 

 Paul Sherriff advised Members that data was not currently collected on who the 
patient saw once they had an appointment, but confirmed that there were no 
concerns regarding the quality of care once received. GP surgeries in Solihull 
had committed to work with the ICS and share data, and this would help 
provide a better understanding of a patients experience; 
 

 Members noted that there was a perception problem, as the patients perception 
was not reflected in data detailed in the report. Paul Sherriff confirmed that a 
key component going forward was to have the necessary data which the public 
could understand and support the case he was making. To support this it was 
important that performance data was available more at a local level and not just 
a national level; 
 

 Members agreed that this was important as a lack of confidence in the service 
created anxiety; 
 

 Members raised the issue of transport which was a major concern for residents 
as they were having to travel further afield for care, which caused some 
residents missing appointments because they could not afford to get there. 
Paul Sherriff agreed that he would look in to this; 
 

 Members appreciated that additional resources had been made available to 
improve telephony but more needed to be done. Paul Sherriff advised that 
telephony improvements went hand in hand with business processes and staff. 
He was able to recommend best operational models but could not enforce 
change on a surgery; 

Page 148



 
HEALTH AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE SCRUTINY BOARD - 8 June 2022 

 
 

 

5  

 
 On the point that the Primary Care Network had reported that there was a lack 

of consultation, and it was often felt they were informed of changes after the 
event. Paul Sherriff advised that during the pandemic changes to services 
needed to be made quickly, but he was confident that mechanisms were in 
place for GP colleagues, local authorities and voluntary organisations to work 
with UHB; and  
 

 Paul Sherriff also highlighted the role the West Midlands Ambulance played 
along with the minor illness service at Hurst Lane and the extra GP capacity 
would continue until June. 
 

The Board then received a report presented by Jonathan Brotherton - Chief Operating 
Officer UHB regarding Urgent Health Care, which in summary included the following 
points: 
 

 The rational for closing the minor injuries unit (MIU) and urgent treatment 
centre (UTC) at Solihull hospital which saw the services moved to Heartlands  
and elsewhere; 
 

 Jonathan Brotherton confirmed that with the amount of investment (£37m) 
involved in repurposing the space previously occupied by the MIU and UTC 
services at Solihull and resolving the ensuing staffing issues there were no 
plans to move MIU and UTC back to the same location, especially with the 
huge backlog in care which needed to be dealt with; 
 

 The impact of moving the MIU and UTC had had on Solihull residents 
regarding access and location difficulties were recognised and needed to be 
put right. To this end options were being developed to reinstate the MIU and 
UTC possibly on the hospital site, but not where they were, or close to the 
hospital. It was anticipated to take up to 6 months to work up some options 
which would be consulted on; 
 

 An update was provided on what was available regarding admission avoidance 
for example older person advice and liaison service; and 
 

 Jonathan Brotherton clarified that Solihull hospital never had a full Accident and 
Emergency department. 

 
Following Jonathan Brotherton’s presentation Members asked a number of questions 
which in summary included:- 
 

 Members raised that point of perception once again, with the view being that 
Solihull was being used as an overflow for elective care for Birmingham and 
Solihull, but with Birmingham residents also benefiting from access to 
emergency care, which Solihull residents did not have; 
 

 Jonathan Brotherton confirmed he understood how Solihull residents felt, 
hence the need to work up options to reprovision the  MIU and UTC and would 
be happy to return to provide Members with an update; and 
 

 Martin Richardson – Medical Director explained why Solihull hospital had been 
chosen for elective surgery and the benefits this work provided to residents in 
the Borough. 

Page 149



 
HEALTH AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE SCRUTINY BOARD - 8 June 2022 

 
 

 

6  

 
Members thanked the external witnesses for their attendance and acknowledged the 
hard work being done, and the challenges faced. It was recognised that the Health and 
Wellbeing Board would also be monitoring access to GPs and urgent care.  
 
Given the plans being worked up for MIU and UTC in Solihull the Chairman invited 
those present to return on 9 November 2022 to provide an update on what had been 
discussed, as well as a communication plan. 
 
RESOLVED: 
(i) That the two reports be noted; and 

 
(ii) That the ICS Interim Designate Chief Executive (David Melbourne), the Chief 

Officer for Primary Care and Integration (Paul Sherriff), the Chief Operating 
Office UHB (Jonathan Brotherton) and the Chief Communications Officer UHB 
(Fiona Alexander) attend the Board meeting on 9 November to provide an 
update on: 
 

 Access to Primary Care 

 Access to Urgent Care and location 

 Communications Plan  
 

9. REFERRED MOTION FROM COUNCIL  
 
Given that Members would be provided with a further update at their meeting on 9 
November 2022, on GP Access and Urgent Care the Board agreed to defer 
consideration of the motion until then. 
 

RESOLVED: 
That consideration of the motion be deferred until 9 November 2022. 

 

10. HEALTH AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE SCRUTINY BOARD WORK PROGRAMME 
2022/23  
 
The Board was invited to consider their draft work programme for 2022/23. 
 
Attached at Appendix 1 to the report was the draft programme for Members to 
consider.  
 
Officers reminded Members that the work of the Board needed to align with the 
Council priorities, which were detailed in Appendix 2 to the report. Members were also 
reminded that there would be capacity issues in relation to the amount of time the 
Board could consider an item effectively at any one meeting, as well as managing 
officer resources which were not unlimited. The Director of Adult Social Care and 
Support advised that the items within the draft programme had been suggested on the 
basis of the assurance work the Directorate would be doing in the coming year. 
 
Members were advised that there was already a request to hold an additional meeting 
in July. 
 
In considering the report Members made a number of comments and suggestions 
which in summary included:- 
 

Page 150



 
HEALTH AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE SCRUTINY BOARD - 8 June 2022 

 
 

 

7  

 It was suggested that the Board should look at the Autism strategy, specifically 
for adults which was being developed. However, it was felt that the best arena 
for this to be scrutinised was the Joint Health and Overview Scrutiny 
Committee; 
 

 It was proposed that the additional meeting in July would be held on 18 July 
and include the Priorities report from Cllr Grinsell regarding the Health and 
Wellbeing Board; 
 

 It was noted that as an update from Health colleagues would be provided on 9 
November, this needed to be added to the programme, and they could be 
asked to comment on work they were doing on the Green agenda as well; 
 
 

 It was suggested that the following be added to the work programme and 
assigned dates:- 
 

1 The Adult Care and Support Environmental Sustainability Plan -  
 
2 Supplementary Planning Document (Health) 
 
3 ICS/UHB to be scheduled for 9 November to provide update on the report 
presented on 8 June with specific reference to: 
 

 *Update on Minor Injuries Unit & Urgent Care and Communication Plan; 

 Update on GP Access 
o Green agenda a briefing on what work is being done (Delivery of 

SMBC’s objectives as applied to Health Service delivery (as directed by 
the Boards Terms of Reference)); 

 Health Infrastructure (to consider the work undertaken to ensure 
appropriate health facilities are in place within the Borough.) 
 
(*The motion from Council would be considered following receipt of the 
above report.) 

 
4 Solihull’s Family Hub Offer and Delivery  

 
 There was some discussion in extending the work programme so it covered 18 

months and not just 12 months, but in doing so, Members accepted that 
elections and decisions made at annual Council could affect this. 

 
RESOLVED: 
That work programme be approved subject to the additions referenced 
above and kept under review. 

 
 

The meeting ended at 20:10 

Page 151



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Board – 2022/23 Work Plan 

Health & Adult Social Care Scrutiny Board Forward Work Programming 2022/23 

What is the 
title of the 

item? 
 

What is the rationale and 
desired outcome for 
considering this item 

What 
evidence or 
resources 

are required 

Who is the lead 
technical officer? 

Council Plan Priority Which Cabinet 
Member 

Wednesday 8th June 2022 at 6pm 

Cabinet 
Member 
Priorities 

For the Scrutiny Board to consider 
the Health and Social Care and 
Health and Wellbeing Board 
priorities for the Borough as 
outlined by the Cabinet Member. 

Report Jenny Wood, Director 
of Adult Care and 
Support and Ruth 
Tennant, Director of 
Public Health 

Priority 9 - Sustainable, 
Quality Provision for Adults 
and Children with Complex 
Needs 
Priority 7 – Take action to 
improve life chances in our 
most disadvantaged 
communities 

Cabinet Member for 
Adult Social Care and 
Health 

Priorities of the 
Health and 
Wellbeing Board 

For the Scrutiny Board to consider 
the priorities of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board for the municipal 
year. 

Report Jenny Wood, Director 
of Adult Care and 
Support and Ruth 
Tennant, Director of 
Public Health 

Priority 9 - Sustainable, 
Quality Provision for Adults 
and Children with Complex 
Needs 
Priority 7 – Take action to 
improve life chances in our 
most disadvantaged 
communities 

Deputy Leader of the 
Council, Lead Member 
for Partnerships and 
Wellbeing 

Work 
Programme  

To consider and agree the work 
programme for the municipal year.  

Report Scrutiny Officer N/A To ensure that Scrutiny 
activity is linked to 
Council Plan priorities  

Referred Motion 
from Council 

To consider the motion and report 
back to Council 

Report David Melbourne 
Interim Designate Chief 
Executive NHS 
Birmingham and 
Solihull Integrated Care 
Board 
 
 
 

tbc Cabinet Member for 
Adult Social Care and 
Health 
 

P
age 153



 

2 
 

Health & Adult Social Care Scrutiny Board Forward Work Programming 2022/23 

What is the 
title of the 

item? 
 

What is the rationale and 
desired outcome for 
considering this item 

What 
evidence or 
resources 

are required 

Who is the lead 
technical officer? 

Council Plan Priority Which Cabinet 
Member 

Monday 18 July 2022 at 6.00pm 

Day 
Opportunities 
Strategy 

For Scrutiny Board to consider the 
draft updated Day Opportunities 
Strategy for Solihull 

Report Karen Murphy, 
Assistant Director for 
Adult Care and Support 
(Commissioning) 

Priority 9 - Sustainable, 
Quality Provision for Adults 
and Children with Complex 
Needs 

Cabinet Member for 
Adult Social Care and 
Health 
 

Adult Care and 
Support 
Directorate Plan 

For the Scrutiny Board to consider 
the Adult Care and Support 
Directorate Plan 

Report Jenny Wood, Director 
of Adult Care and 
Support 

Priority 9 - Sustainable, 
Quality Provision for Adults 
and Children with Complex 
Needs 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Adult Social Care and 
Health 

Cabinet 
Member 
Priorities 

For the Scrutiny Board to consider 
the Health and Wellbeing Board 
priorities for the Borough  

Report Ruth Tennant Director 
of Public Health 

Priority 9 - Sustainable, 
Quality Provision for Adults 
and Children with Complex 
Needs 
Priority 7 – Take action to 
improve life chances in our 
most disadvantaged 
communities 

Chairman of Health 
and Wellbeing Board 

Tuesday 6th September 2022 at 6pm 

Healthwatch To consider the performance and 
impact of Healthwatch Solihull 

Report Andy Cave, Chief 
Executive Officer, 
Healthwatch Solihull 

Priority 9 - Sustainable, 
Quality Provision for Adults 
and Children with Complex 
Needs 

Cabinet Member for 
Adult Social Care and 
Health 

Carers’ Strategy For Scrutiny Board to consider the 
draft updated Carers’ Strategy for 
Solihull 

Report Karen Murphy, 
Assistant Director for 
Adult Care and Support 
(Commissioning) 

Priority 9 - Sustainable, 
Quality Provision for Adults 
and Children with Complex 
Needs 

Cabinet Member for 
Adult Social Care and 
Health 

P
age 154



 

3 
 

Health & Adult Social Care Scrutiny Board Forward Work Programming 2022/23 

What is the 
title of the 

item? 
 

What is the rationale and 
desired outcome for 
considering this item 

What 
evidence or 
resources 

are required 

Who is the lead 
technical officer? 

Council Plan Priority Which Cabinet 
Member 

Fair cost of care For the Scrutiny Board to consider 
the provisional market 
sustainability plan for Solihull 
providers 

Report Karen Murphy, 
Assistant Director for 
Adult Care and Support 
(Commissioning) 

Priority 9 - Sustainable, 
Quality Provision for Adults 
and Children with Complex 
Needs 

Cabinet Member for 
Adult Social Care and 
Health 
 
Date is provisional due 
to nationally prescribed 
timeframes 

Health 
Inequalities 
Strategy 

For the Scrutiny Board to receive a 
progress report on the Health 
Inequalities Strategy 

Report Neeraj Malhotra Deputy 
Director, Public Health 

Priority 7 – Take action to 
improve life chances in our 
most disadvantaged 
communities 

Cabinet Member for 
Adult Social Care and 
Health 
 

Wednesday 9th November 2022 at 6pm 

Mental Health 
Strategy 

For the Scrutiny Board to consider 
a draft mental health strategy for 
Solihull 

Report TBA, Birmingham and 
Solihull ICS 
Ruth Tennant, Director 
of Public Health 

Priority 7 – Take action to 
improve life chances in our 
most disadvantaged 
communities 
Priority 9 - Sustainable, 
Quality Provision for Adults 
and Children with Complex 
Needs 

Cabinet Member for 
Adult Social Care and 
Health 

Sexual Health For the Scrutiny Board to consider 
the model for sexual health 
services, following consultation 

Report Michelle Hughes, Head 
of Commissioning and 
Performance, Public 
Health 

Priority 9 - Sustainable, 
Quality Provision for Adults 
and Children with Complex 
Needs 

Cabinet Member for 
Adult Social Care and 
Health 

Presentation on 
GP Access and 
Urgent Care 
 

For the Scrutiny Board to 
receive 
Update on Minor Injuries Unit & 
Urgent Care and 
Communication plan; 
Update on GP Access 

Report David Melbourne ICS 
Paul Sherriff 
Jonathan Brotherton 
UBH 
Fiona Alexander UBH 

Priority 7 – Take action to 
improve life chances in our 
most disadvantaged 
communities 

Cabinet Member for 
Adult Social Care and 
Health 

P
age 155



 

4 
 

Health & Adult Social Care Scrutiny Board Forward Work Programming 2022/23 

What is the 
title of the 

item? 
 

What is the rationale and 
desired outcome for 
considering this item 

What 
evidence or 
resources 

are required 

Who is the lead 
technical officer? 

Council Plan Priority Which Cabinet 
Member 

Green agenda a briefing on 
what work is being done; 
(Delivery of SMBC’s objectives 
as applied to Health Service 
delivery (as directed by the 
Boards Terms of Reference)); 
Health Infrastructure (to 
consider the work undertaken 
to ensure appropriate health 
facilities are in place within the 
Borough.) 
 
 
 

Motion from 
Council 

To consider the motion referred 
from Council 

Report Scrutiny Officer Priority 7 – Take action to 
improve life chances in our 
most disadvantaged 
communities 

Cabinet Member for 
Adult Social Care and 
Health 

Tuesday 3rd January 2023 at 6pm 

Budget Report To review the budget position, 
pressures and contingencies in 
relation to Public Health and Adult 
Care and Support Directorates 
2022/23. This is to enable robust 
fiscal management of the Public 
Health and Adult Care and Support 
Directorates. 

Report Mohammed Irfan 
Finance Manager Adult 
Care and Support; 
Andrea Santer, Senior 
Accountant and Anna 
Leggett, Senior 
Accountant 

Priority 9 - Sustainable, 
Quality Provision for Adults 
and Children with Complex 
Needs 

Cabinet Member for 
Adult Social Care and 
Health 

Care at home For the Scrutiny Board to consider 
the model for care at home prior to 
a retender for care at home 
services 

Report Karen Murphy, 
Assistant Director for 
Adult Care and Support 
(Commissioning) 

Priority 9 - Sustainable, 
Quality Provision for Adults 
and Children with Complex 
Needs 

Cabinet Member for 
Adult Social Care and 
Health 

P
age 156



 

5 
 

Health & Adult Social Care Scrutiny Board Forward Work Programming 2022/23 

What is the 
title of the 

item? 
 

What is the rationale and 
desired outcome for 
considering this item 

What 
evidence or 
resources 

are required 

Who is the lead 
technical officer? 

Council Plan Priority Which Cabinet 
Member 

 

Solihull Home 
First 

To consider the Solihull 
approach to admissions 
avoidance and hospital 
discharge for individuals with 
care and support needs. 

Report Karen Murphy, 
Assistant Director for 
Adult Care and 
Support 
(Commissioning) 
 
Lizzie Edwards, 
Assistant Director for 
Adult Care and 
Support (Service 
Delivery) 
 
Andrew McKirgan, 
Chief Officer, Out of 
Hospital Services, 
University Hospitals 
Birmingham 
 
Helen Kelly, Director 
of Acute and 
Community 
Integration, 
Birmingham and 
Solihull CCG 

Priority 9 - Sustainable, 
Quality Provision for Adults 
and Children with Complex 
Needs 

Cabinet Member for 
Adult Social Care 
and Health 
 

Monday 14th March 2023 at 6pm 

Cabinet 
Member review 
of priorities  

To review the progress of the 
Cabinet Member priorities from 
June 2022 and enable the Cabinet 

Report Jenny Wood, Director 
of Adult Care and 
Support and Ruth 

Priority 9 - Sustainable, 
Quality Provision for Adults 

Cabinet Member for 
Adult Social Care and 
Health 

P
age 157



 

6 
 

Health & Adult Social Care Scrutiny Board Forward Work Programming 2022/23 

What is the 
title of the 

item? 
 

What is the rationale and 
desired outcome for 
considering this item 

What 
evidence or 
resources 

are required 

Who is the lead 
technical officer? 

Council Plan Priority Which Cabinet 
Member 

Member to be held to account for 
their performance. 

Tennant, Director of 
Public Health 

and Children with Complex 
Needs 
Priority 7 – Take action to 
improve life chances in our 
most disadvantaged 
communities 

Review of the 
work of the 
Health and 
Wellbeing Board 

For the Scrutiny Board to consider 
the progress of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board over the municipal 
year. 

Report Jenny Wood, Director 
of Adult Care and 
Support and Ruth 
Tennant, Director of 
Public Health 

Priority 9 - Sustainable, 
Quality Provision for Adults 
and Children with Complex 
Needs 
Priority 7 – Take action to 
improve life chances in our 
most disadvantaged 
communities 

Deputy Leader of the 
Council, Lead Member 
for Partnerships and 
Wellbeing 

Housing with 
care 

For the Scrutiny Board to consider 
the model for housing with care in 
Solihull, following the formal 
consultation 

Report Karen Murphy, 
Assistant Director for 
Adult Care and Support 
(Commissioning) 

Priority 9 - Sustainable, 
Quality Provision for Adults 
and Children with Complex 
Needs 

Cabinet Member for 
Adult Social Care and 
Health 

Suicide 
Prevention 

For the Scrutiny Board to consider 
an annual update on suicide 
prevention. 

Report Neeraj Malhotra, 
Deputy Director of 
Public Health 
Jo Luxmore-Brown, 
Public Health Specialist 

Priority 9 - Sustainable, 
Quality Provision for Adults 
and Children with Complex 
Needs 
Priority 7 – Take action to 
improve life chances in our 
most disadvantaged 
communities 

Cabinet Member for 
Adult Social Care and 
Health 

To be allocated a date 

Hospital 
Discharge 
support services 

To consider the approach to 
integrated commissioning of home 
first capacity to meet the needs of 

Report Karen Murphy, 
Assistant Director for 
Adult Care and Support 
(Commissioning) 

Priority 9 - Sustainable, 
Quality Provision for Adults 
and Children with Complex 
Needs 

Cabinet Member for 
Adult Social Care and 
Health 

P
age 158



 

7 
 

Health & Adult Social Care Scrutiny Board Forward Work Programming 2022/23 

What is the 
title of the 

item? 
 

What is the rationale and 
desired outcome for 
considering this item 

What 
evidence or 
resources 

are required 

Who is the lead 
technical officer? 

Council Plan Priority Which Cabinet 
Member 

/ Intermediate 
Care 
 
 

Solihull people leaving hospital 
care. 
NB: Phase 3 decision discussion, 
looking at the outcomes from the 
Newton Diagnostic and then 
reflecting on the 
successes/challenges of the 
position as it is then. 

 

Health & Adult Social Care Scrutiny Board Meeting Dates 2022/23 

Monday 18 July 2022 currently 3 items scheduled 

Tuesday 6th September 2022 currently 5 items scheduled 

Wednesday 9th November 2022 currently 4 items scheduled 

Tuesday 3rd January currently 3 items scheduled 

Tuesday 7th March currently 4 items scheduled 

The following items need to be added to the work programme and allocated a date: 

1 The Adult Care and Support Environmental Sustainability Plan 
 

2 Supplementary Planning Document (Health)  

 
3 Solihull’s Family Hub Offer and Delivery  

P
age 159



 

8 
 

 

P
age 160



 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & MANAGED GROWTH SCRUTINY BOARD  

 
 13 June 2022 

 
 

 

 

MINUTES 
 

 
 

 
Present: 
 
 
 

Councillors: D Pinwell (Chairman), M Parker, A Feeney, Mrs D Holl-
Allen MBE, W Qais, J Ryan, K Thomas, M McLoughlin and A Hodgson 

 
Councillors 
in 
Attendance 
:      
 
 
 
External  
Guest 
 
Officers: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
Councillor I Courts: Leader of the Council and Cabinet Portfolio Holder for the 
Economy 
Councillor A Mackiewicz: Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Climate Change, 
Planning and Housing 
Councillor K Hawkins: Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Environment & 
Infrastructure 
 
Christine Doel: Project Director, SQW 
 
 
Perry Wardle: Assistant Director, Growth and Development 
Rupert Waters: Interim Head of Economic Development 
Rachel Egan: Head of Inclusive Growth 
Paul Rogers: Democratic Services 

 
 

The Economic Development and Managed Growth Scrutiny Board meeting 
commenced at 6:00 p.m. 

 

  
1. CONFIRMATION OF ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN AND APPOINTMENT OF      VICE 

CHAIRMAN FOR THE 2022/23 MUNICIPAL YEAR  
 
For the position of Chairman, Councillor M Parker nominated Councillor D Pinwell, 
seconded by Councillor Mrs Holl-Allen MBE. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
There being no other nominations received, Councillor Pinwell was 
unanimously appointed to the position of Chairman for the 2022/23 municipal 
year. 

 
For the position of Vice Chairman, Councillor Mrs Holl-Allen MBE nominated Councillor 
M Parker, seconded by Councillor A Feeney. 
 
 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
There being no other nominations received, Councillor Parker was unanimously 
appointed to the position of Vice Chairman for the 2022/23 municipal year. 

Page 161



 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & MANAGED GROWTH SCRUTINY BOARD  

 
 13 June 2022 

 
 

 

 

 

2. APOLOGIES  
 
No apologies for absence were received. 
 

3. DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY OR CONFLICTS OF INTEREST  
 
No declarations of interest were received. 
 

4. QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS  
 
No questions or deputations were received. 
 

5. MINUTES  
 
The Economic Development and Managed Growth Scrutiny Board: 

 
 RESOLVED: 
 

To agree the Economic Development and Managed Growth Scrutiny Board Draft 
Minutes arising from the Scrutiny Board meeting held on 8th March 2022 as a 
true record. 

 
 

6. CABINET PORTFOLIO HOLDERS PRIORITIES FOR THE 2022/23 MUNICIPAL 
YEAR  
 
The report before the Scrutiny Board outlined priorities for the 2022/23 Municipal Year 
of the Leader of the Council (and Cabinet Portfolio Holder for the Economy), Cabinet 
Portfolio Holder for Environment and Infrastructure and Cabinet Portfolio Holder for 
Climate Change, Planning and Housing. 

 
Councillor Courts (Cabinet Portfolio Holder for the Economy and Leader of the 
Council) provided the following highlights from his portfolio for the 2022/23 municipal 
year: 
 

 The Borough Wide Economic Strategy:  Councillor Courts noted that the 
Borough Wide Economic Strategy had to be linked and integral to a range of 
Council policies to be effective.  

 

 HS2: In relation to HS2, City College in conjunction with Balfour Beatty were 
providing construction skills and training opportunities.  

 

 Town Centres Framework: Seeking to re-purpose town centres in the 
borough (e.g. retail) to enable the Council to repurpose the High Street, an 
example being Mell Square. 

 

 Shirley Economic Plan 
 

 Kingshurst Village Redevelopment: Initial site clearance has commenced. 

Page 162



 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & MANAGED GROWTH SCRUTINY BOARD  

 
 13 June 2022 

 
 

 

 

 

 Chelmsley Wood Town Centre: Represents a longer term project, with 
improvements and re-purposing of the town centre. 

 

 Arden Cross and HS2:  Multi Storey car park application in place. 
 

 Transport Infrastructure: Seeking to implement better cross-borough 
transport infrastructure. 

 

 West Midland Combined Authority (WMCA): Seeking to shape the 
devolution deal and Levelling Up agenda.  
 

 Simon Digby Housing Development Site: Project is being brought forward 
after 9 years, which is zoned for housing development.  It was important to 
utilise the brownfield element of the site for housing development.  

 

 Arts and Cultural Sector: Recognised that there are opportunities for 
residents to access employment and training via this sector (and linked to 
transport connectivity strategies). 
 

Councillor Mackiewicz (Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Climate Change, Planning and 
Housing) provided the following highlights from his portfolio for the 2022/23 municipal 
year: 
 

 Net Zero Action Plan (NZAP): Is in place for 2022. 
 

 New Local Plan: To be implemented 2022/23; to encourage better 
development and bio-diversity across the borough. 

 

 Retro-Fitting of Houses:  Net Zero homes from 2025, targeting ECP’s down to 
a B/C rating for residents in Solihull.  Elmdon / Chelmsley Wood Council 
housing stock; seeking to secure funding to pursue retro-fitting. 

 

 Borough Tree Planting Strategy: To continue to plant indigenous trees only in 
sympathy with the local environment. 

 

 Wildlife Ways Network: To embed further to maintain bio-diversity and 
support of the net zero commitment. 

 

 Natural Capital Strategy: Continues to be developed. 
 
 
Councillor Hawkins (Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Environment and Infrastructure) 
provided the following highlights from his portfolio for the 2022/23 municipal year: 
 

 SPRINT Scheme: Phase 2 – Has links to the Borough Wide Economic 
Strategy as a barrier to continued economic growth is congestion, which must 
be addressed.  
  

Page 163



 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & MANAGED GROWTH SCRUTINY BOARD  

 
 13 June 2022 

 
 

 

 

 Transport: In the West Midlands is a key objective in partnership with the 
WMCA. 

 

 Modal Shift: And behaviour change towards utilising public transport is 
recognised as vital. 
 

 Walking and Cycling Strategy: Continue to promote. 
 

 Autonomous Vehicle Trials: SMBC is a leading local authority in this field in 
the U.K. 

 
 

Having received the respective Cabinet Portfolio Holder’s presentations and having 
considered the report, the Economic Development and Managed Growth Scrutiny 
Board: 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

To note the respective Cabinet Portfolio Holder’s priorities for the 
2022/23 Municipal Year. 

 

7. BOROUGH WIDE ECONOMIC STRATEGY  
 
The report before the Scrutiny Board advised on the commissioning and subsequent 
progress towards the production of a new Economic Strategy for Solihull and to 
provide the Board with the opportunity to scrutinise the approach taken and outputs to 
date. 
 
Ms. Christine Doel (Project Director, SQW) provided Members of the Scrutiny Board 
with a presentation, through which the following salient points were made: 
 

 There was a requirement through the Borough Wide Economic Strategy to 
review productivity and growth for the borough, with an awareness of 
inclusivity. 
 

 The Council was seeking to produce a strategic vision and guiding narrative for: 
 

1) Regeneration and redevelopment  
 

2) To reflect the Council’s wider vision (with an emphasis on ‘for all’) 
 

3) Actions needed to deliver the strategy  
 

 Development of the strategy is viewed as iterative and divided into three main 
phases, which are Scoping, Strategic Phases and Actions. 

 

 Consultants were seeking to provide support to the Council for strategic 
delivery. To date, scoping and consultation was taking place with a range of 
stakeholders. 

Page 164



 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & MANAGED GROWTH SCRUTINY BOARD  

 
 13 June 2022 

 
 

 

 

 

 The economic evidence for the borough was generally positive.  Rapid 
economic growth had been evidenced since the inception of the M42 
Masterplan regarding (Gross Value Added); however, productivity is less 
convincing and is not improving substantially. 

 

 The borough has a good skills profile, particularly for younger people. 
 

 Unemployment is relatively low. 
 

 Earnings are better than the national average. 
 

 Residents enjoy living in the borough. 
 

Identified and known challenges include: 
 

 The main challenge is the unequal position of deprivation versus affluence 
across the borough, which the strategy is geared towards addressing. 
 

 An ageing population, particularly over the next decade. 
 

 CO2   emissions are worse than the national average, which the Net Zero Action 
Plan (NZAP) is addressing going forward. The NZAP and the Council 
Economic Strategy have to fit together in this regard. 

 

 New business start-up rates are rather low. 
 

The scoping and consultation exercises undertaken to date have demonstrated that: 
 

 Skills training, productivity, inclusive growth and net zero have all been 
referenced by consultees, which has led to questioning how to advance these 
themes simultaneously and positively across the three main phases of 
Scoping, Strategic Phases and Actions. 

 

 Employment opportunities created in the borough must be made available to 
those who need them via skills training, access opportunities and employment 
information. 

 

 Planned inward investment has to be directed towards achieving broader 
outcomes. 

 

 North Solihull has been an economic priority for the Council for a substantial 
period of time, for which new solutions are required.  There is a recognised link 
to the public health agenda. 

 
Next steps include identifying risks and uncertainties external to Solihull in 
order to anticipate and respond to substantial themes, particularly: 
 

Page 165



 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & MANAGED GROWTH SCRUTINY BOARD  

 
 13 June 2022 

 
 

 

 

 Pace of economic growth nationally and how to drive forward the Council’s 10-
year strategy in the national context. 

 

 Net Zero is being embedded locally and regionally, but there is an issue of 
longer term commitment over the next 10 years in terms of how far forward the 
continuing commitment will be resourced. 
 

The above issues lead to four scenarios impacting on the three imperatives previously 
referenced: 
 

1. Concerns in Solihull – It is recognised that there is substantial innovation in the 
borough, but not as much enterprise is seen as is desired. Small businesses 
are required to be responsive to Net Zero and involved in the Council’s Local 
Plan moving forward. 
 

2. The level of demand for developmental sites / land and the relationship with 
Net Zero objectives in the borough. Demand for office space – not all stock is in 
the top quartile as regards Net Zero aspirations.  Big opportunities for retro-
fitting and application of green construction methodologies and materials. 

 
3. Access and connectivity – local people accessing local jobs. 

 
4. Future Opportunities – health analytics as a sector within the borough. 

 
Members were further informed that a second series of engagement workshops were 
scheduled with stakeholders for mid-July 2022, with a completed Strategic Action Plan 
due by the end of Summer 2022. 
 
Having received the presentation, Members of the Scrutiny Board were invited to 
submit further questions in relation to the report, which in summary included the 
matters detailed below. 
 
Councillor Parker welcomed the Borough Wide Economic Strategy, but emphasised 
that its current weaknesses had to be identified. In this respect, Councillor Parker 
commented that in its current form the Strategy appeared to be too unwieldly to 
cascade down the individual themes/components and queried how its implementation 
would be measured. 
 
In reference to deprivation in the north of the borough, Councillor Parker noted that 
£500M had been spent over the last decade in regeneration initiatives and that the 
Council had to be mindful of other areas of deprivation within the borough. All areas in 
the borough had to benefit from the Borough Wide Economic Strategy. 
 
Ms. Doel (Project Director, SQW) agreed with the matters raised by Councillor Parker 
and noted that one task to be undertaken involved stripping back the Borough Wide 
Economic Strategy in order to better communicate it to stakeholders. The borough 
wide deprivation profile had been recognised and would be addressed as the Strategy 
was implemented. 
 
Councillor Courts stated that he was not in favour of a Borough Wide Economic 
Strategy without defining what interventions could be made and what the Council could 

Page 166



 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & MANAGED GROWTH SCRUTINY BOARD  

 
 13 June 2022 

 
 

 

 

deliver through it; for example, how to make the borough more attractive to support 
growth at all times.   
 
Councillor Mrs Holl-Allen MBE welcomed the report, but found the level of business 
start-up rates detailed within the report worrying and was conscious of the need for 
new small business to support economic growth. Secondly, in terms of an ageing 
demographic in the borough, Councillor Holl-Allen saw this as potentially problematic 
in terms of people continuing to work in later life (post retirement) and thereby blocking 
access to the employment market for younger people. 
 
Councillor Courts proposed that it could be stated the presentation was down beat in 
presenting the borough profile; for example, in 2019 the GVA per head in Solihull was 
£47,404.00, which was top in the West Midlands region. The Council had to decide 
how it would further increase GVA across Solihull. 
 
With reference to the arts and cultural sector, 5 – 10% of people were employed in 
creative industries, which could provide an access point to employment opportunities 
and new business start-ups in town centres moving forward. 
 
Finally, Councillor Courts stated that the Council needed to create the conditions for 
encouraging inward investment and job creation in the borough, which included 
presenting a positive profile of the borough to attract investment. 
 
Councillor Feeney welcomed the Borough Wide Economic Strategy, but queried 
whether it took account of the Council’s desire for economic growth balanced against 
the potential for over development in light of the Council Plan objectives regarding the 
NZAP and public health considerations.  Councillor Feeney noted that the 
characteristics of the borough which drew people to live in Solihull should not be 
overlooked. 
 
The Assistant Director, Growth and Development advised Members that the Strategy 
would not be taken forward in isolation; for example, the Draft Local Plan details a 
balanced approach to development in the borough which also supports economic 
growth. 
 
Councillor Feeney stated that there had to be a recognition and reflection of the 
diversity of employment and up-skilling opportunities across the borough.  The Head of 
Inclusive Growth explained why there was no separate employment or skills strategy 
outside of the Borough Wide Economic Strategy, as these themes would be a key 
component of the Borough Wide Economic Strategy for geographical areas such as 
North Solihull and Shirley and for service providers such as careers advice, job centres 
and colleges. 
 
Councillor Qais noted a section of the report referencing young people, fostering 
services and access to education and questioned how these elements would be taken 
forward.  Members were advised that the Council supported the delivery of careers 
advice and education, with schools increasingly requesting labour market data, such 
as the type of sectors actively employing young people and the types of employment 
available locally and regionally.  The intention would be to match access to training 
and pathways into the job markets identified through such data sharing.  The Assistant 
Director, Growth and Development further noted that the Borough Wide Economic 
Strategy entailed a 10 year look ahead, involving various scenario planning and 

Page 167



 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & MANAGED GROWTH SCRUTINY BOARD  

 
 13 June 2022 

 
 

 

 

detailed action planning over the next 2 – 3 years. All actions would be constantly 
monitored with a performance dashboard in place to measure the 3 aspects of the 
Economic Strategy. 
 
Councillor Thomas highlighted that logistics recruitment was problematic in the region 
and that up-skilling was not always the solution to raising productivity. Rather, to be 
effective, training had to be embedded in the workplace and employees empowered to 
make changes to the productivity processes themselves.  
 
With regard to the Council Vision detailed in the report, Councillor Thomas noted that 
there was a requirement to watch that all residents were given the same opportunities, 
with a greater emphasis on equity across the borough, with some areas requiring 
greater levels of resource and support in order to level the positions from which 
residents were starting in terms of accessing training and employment. 
 
Regarding the ageing population, Councillor Thomas queried whether with an ageing 
population in the borough leading to more retirees, would this scenario lead to more 
people entering the borough seeking to fill potential employment opportunities and 
therefore increase housing pressures. 
 
Finally, Councillor Thomas observed that on line retail continued to present a risk to 
High Street retail businesses and a major threat to town centres. 
 
The Head of Inclusive Growth advised that there was currently a tight labour market, 
which required supporting more people into employment. The Council was exploring 
ways of improving the overall awareness of job opportunities available in the borough.  
In terms of improving access to training opportunities, the Council continued to work 
with training providers and colleges and was working to address the suitability of 
courses on offer to ensure that they provided the type of skills and qualification in 
demand from local employers. 
 
The Assistant Director, Growth and Development noted that in terms of town centres, 
part of the Council’s response to some of the issues highlighted by Scrutiny Board was 
addressed via the Town Centre Master Plans. With regard to equity of access to 
training and employment opportunities, the Council was addressing the specific needs 
of different communities in different areas across the borough. 
 
Councillor Ryan noted that a number of young people were effectively trapped by 
deprivation and that any strategies put in place to address this should only be 
measured by the effectiveness of the outcomes arising.  Councillor Ryan emphasised 
the need for local engagement with local residents when discussing job creation in 
order to properly understand local needs. 
 
Councillor Courts noted that at this point in the development of the Borough Wide 
Economic Strategy, key issues and drivers identified for further consideration included 
why was the Council adopting its current approach, what was the Council seeking to 
achieve, what outcomes were desired, what were the unique selling features the 
borough had to offer to attract inward investment, what interventions would deliver the 
desired goals, what were the obstructions to delivery and what form would monitoring 
and measurement of outcomes take. 
 

Page 168



 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & MANAGED GROWTH SCRUTINY BOARD  

 
 13 June 2022 

 
 

 

 

Councillor McLoughlin stated that his main concern involved developing a strategy that 
could be measured in terms of outputs, for example, how retaining value in local 
communities through the inclusive growth agenda would work. Councillor McLoughlin 
further noted that there was a big difference between economic and social value and 
the distribution thereof, with those residents not benefitting directly from any economic 
growth suffering from the further economic inequalities generated. As such, 
understanding what comprised social value was an imperative.  
 
With reference to the presentation, Councillor McLoughlin referenced the commitment 
to delivering Net Zero and the potential threat to local priorities (i.e. wider availability of 
resources) and noted that there must be a credible plan and terminology in place to 
address this area. In terms of the scenarios detailed for the various economic 
projections during the life time of the strategy, Councillor McLoughlin stated that the 
Council must plan for the worse-case scenario, rather than hope for the best, and 
stated concern that the Council probably had more work to do addressing this.  
 
Finally, Councillor McLoughlin raised the threat to the Council’s climate commitments, 
stating that there had to be economic and social value leading to net benefit to the 
environment, which should be reflected in the Borough Wide Economic Strategy.  The 
Council Vision must be equitable, with clear measurement methodologies in place. 
 
Councillor Courts observed that presenting a negative perspective of the borough’s 
economic potential could deter further inward investment opportunities. In terms of 
delivering net zero objectives, climate change policy and supporting actions needed to 
be embedded in economic growth policies. 
 
Councillor Mackiewicz observed that economic growth and climate change were one 
and the same thing, as exemplified by electric vehicle growth, retro fitting of houses 
and green construction technologies.  
 
Councillor Parker questioned how the Borough Wide Economic Strategy could benefit 
from the West Midlands Industrial Strategy, how collaborative working across 
geographic areas could benefit Solihull, could the Borough Wide Economic Strategy 
be published on the Council website once approved and could a Borough Wide 
Economic Strategy Update Report be provided for the Scrutiny Board in 6 months’ 
time.  
 
The Interim Head of Economic Development advised Members that the West Midlands 
Industrial Strategy was being phased out. Consideration was being given to 
developing Action Plans for the Borough Wide Economic Strategy. The Council was 
looking to engage a range of stakeholders, both regionally and across geographic 
areas with other partners. The Council will seek to fully utilise partnership and 
stakeholder arrangements in order to deliver economic benefits for Solihull. 
 
Councillor Courts noted that Solihull was not a transport authority and that it was 
important to join up across Cabinet portfolios to make cohesive policy links for 
transport and infrastructure. Transport policy required collaboration and Councillor 
Courts was mindful not to lose the functional economic geography brought about the 
Local Enterprise Partnership’s (LEPs) arrangements. A substantial part of the SMBC 
economic agenda was predicated on a regional basis for private and inward 
investment. 
 

Page 169



 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & MANAGED GROWTH SCRUTINY BOARD  

 
 13 June 2022 

 
 

 

 

Councillor McLoughlin stated that the role of scrutiny was to provide critical friend 
challenge, otherwise it was not helpful. Councillor McLoughlin stated that he 
understood the market of the Borough Wide Economic Strategy to attract inward 
investment into the borough, but also stated the Council must be cognoscente of the 
economic challenges present in the borough, for example child poverty.   
 
Councillor Courts noted that the role of scrutiny was to also provide alternative policy 
development and generally contributing towards Council wide policy development, 
which contributed towards offering solutions for some of the borough’s issues. 
 
Having considered the Borough Wide Economic Strategy report, the Economic 
Development and Managed Growth Scrutiny Board: 
 
RESOLVED:  
 
(i) To note the issues set out in the report regarding the preparation of a new 

Economic Strategy for the Borough; and, 
 

(ii) To note the methodological approach taken in the preparation of the strategy. 
 

8. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND MANAGED GROWTH SCRUTINY BOARD 
WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23  
 
The purpose of the report was to provide Members of the Economic Development and 
Managed Growth Scrutiny Board with reference to the Work Programme for the 
2022/23 municipal year. Members were invited to propose additional topics for 
scrutiny, remove topics and re-prioritise subjects detailed in the Work Programme for 
the 2022/23 municipal year. 
 
Members were informed that the following requests had been received from SCH and 
the Economy and Infrastructure Directorate for additional reports outside of the Work 
Programme 2022/23 to be considered. The requests for additional reports to be 
scrutinised by the Economic Development and Managed Growth Scrutiny Board were: 
 

 Housing Allocation Scheme Report: Request received from SCH to report to 
the Economic Development and Managed Growth Scrutiny Board meeting 
scheduled for 13th September 2022. 

 

 Council Housing Asset Management Strategy Report: Request received from 
SCH to report to the Economic Development and Managed Growth Scrutiny 
Board meeting scheduled for 17th November 2022. 

 

 Housing Strategy Report: Request received from the Economy and 
Infrastructure Directorate to report to the Economic Development and Managed 
Growth Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled for 17th January 2023. 

 
Having reviewed and discussed the Work Programme 2022/23, the Economic 
Development and Managed Growth Scrutiny Board: 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1.  To move 4 CIL Levy / Section 106 Arrangements Report originally  

Page 170



 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & MANAGED GROWTH SCRUTINY BOARD  

 
 13 June 2022 

 
 

 

 

scheduled for 13th September 2022 to 17th January 2023; 
 

2. To consider the Housing Allocation Scheme Report (SCH) on 13th  
September 2022; 

 
3. To consider the Borough Wide Economic Strategy Final Draft  

 Report on 13th September 2022; 
 

4. To receive a briefing via e-mail on 5 Town Centres Framework Update  
Report, originally scheduled for 13th September 2022 (with Members taking a 
view prior to the Board meeting as to whether they do take a formal report at 
the Board meeting on 13th September 2022); 

 
1.   To receive a report on 7 Net Zero Action Plan on 17th November 2022, with 

an e-mail update briefing on the Low Carbon Energy Network; 
 

2. To receive a Council Housing Asset Management Strategy 
Report (SCH) on 17th November 2022; and, 

 
3. To receive a Housing Strategy Report from the Economy and Infrastructure 

Directorate on 17th January 2023. 
 

 
 

The Economic Development and Managed Growth Scrutiny Board  
meeting closed at 8:13 p.m.  

 
 
 

Page 171



This page is intentionally left blank



Version 4.0_2022/23 
 

Appendix A 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND MANAGED GROWTH SCRUTINY BOARD  

WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23  

Topic /Issue 
 

Rationale Evidence Desired 
outcomes 

Resources Date to be 
Considered 

Cabinet Portfolio Solihull Council 
Plan Priorities 

2020-25 
1. Cabinet 
Portfolio Holders 
Priorities for the 
2022/23 
Municipal Year 
 
 

Cabinet Portfolio Holders will be 
invited to attend the Scrutiny 
Board meeting to detail their 
portfolio priorities for the 2022/23 
municipal year 

Cabinet 
Portfolio 
Holders 

Detail provided 
for each Cabinet 
Portfolio 
Holders 
priorities for the 
2022/23 
municipal year 

No 13/6/22 Economy Portfolio 
(Leader of the 
Council) 
& 
Environment & 
Infrastructure 
Delivery Portfolio  
(Cllr K Hawkins) 
& 
Climate Change, 
Planning & 
Housing Portfolio 
(Cllr A Mackiewicz) 

Increase the 
supply, quality & 
energy efficiency 
of housing, 
especially 
affordable and 
social housing/ 
Reduce Solihull’s 
net carbon 
emissions/ 
Enable 
communities to 
thrive/ Take 
action to 
improve life 
chances and 
health outcomes 
in our most 
disadvantaged 
communities / 
Revitalising our 
towns and local 
centres/ Deliver 
UK (Central) and 
maximise the 

P
age 173



Version 4.0_2022/23 
 

Topic /Issue 
 

Rationale Evidence Desired 
outcomes 

Resources Date to be 
Considered 

Cabinet Portfolio Solihull Council 
Plan Priorities 

2020-25 
opportunities of 
HS2 

2. Borough Wide 
Economic 
Strategy 
 
 

To review progress of 
implementation of the Borough 
Wide Economic Strategy 

Report and 
guests 

The Scrutiny 
Boards 
recommendatio
ns will 
contribute 
towards the 
ongoing 
implementation 
of the Strategy. 

Report, Leader of the 
Council and guests 

13/6/22 Economy Portfolio 
(Leader of the 
Council) 

Take action to 
improve life 
chances and 
health outcomes 
in our most 
disadvantaged 
communities / 
Revitalising our 
towns and local 
centres 

 

3. Borough Wide 
Economic 
Strategy – Final 
Draft 
 
 

To receive the final Draft version of 
the Borough Wide Economic 
Strategy for review and comment. 

Report and 
guests 

The Scrutiny 
Board 
recommendatio
ns contributing 
towards the on-
going 
implementation
of the Borough 
Wide Economic 
Strategy 

Report,  Leader of 
the Council and  
guests 

13/9/22 Economy Portfolio 
(Leader of the 
Council) 
 

Take action to 
improve life 
chances and 
health outcomes 
in our most 
disadvantaged 
communities / 
Revitalising our 
towns and local 
centres 

4. Draft 
Refreshed 
Solihull 
Connected 
Strategy 
 

Members of the Scrutiny Board will 
be provided the opportunity to 
review and comment on the draft 
refreshed Solihull Connect Strategy 

Report See rationale Officers, Cabinet 
Portfolio Holder & 
Stronger 
Communities and 
Neighborhood 
Services Scrutiny 
Board Members 
 

13/9/22 Environment & 
Infrastructure 
Delivery Portfolio  
(Cllr K Hawkins) 
 

Reduce Solihull’s 
net carbon 
emissions / 
Enable 
communities to 
thrive 

P
age 174

https://eservices.solihull.gov.uk/mgInternet/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=531
https://eservices.solihull.gov.uk/mgInternet/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=531
https://eservices.solihull.gov.uk/mgInternet/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=531
https://eservices.solihull.gov.uk/mgInternet/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=531
https://eservices.solihull.gov.uk/mgInternet/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=531


Version 4.0_2022/23 
 

Topic /Issue 
 

Rationale Evidence Desired 
outcomes 

Resources Date to be 
Considered 

Cabinet Portfolio Solihull Council 
Plan Priorities 

2020-25 
5. Housing 
Allocations 
Scheme 
 
 
 

It is a statutory requirement for 
local authorities to have a Housing 
Allocations Scheme, which sets out 
how Council homes are allocated. 
The Council’s current HAS is to be 
reviewed with a view to making 
recommendations leading to 
amendments in the HAS 

Cabinet 
Portfolio 
Holder / SCH 
report 
(Adrian 
Thomas) 

To review and 
input into the 
Council’s 
revised Housing 
Allocations 
Scheme policy 

No 13/9/22 Adult Social Care 
and Health 
Portfolio 
(Cllr T Dicicco) 

Increase the 
supply, quality & 
energy efficiency 
of housing, 
especially 
affordable and 
social housing 

  
6. Net Zero 
Action Plan 
Report 
 

To review progress and delivery of 
the NZAP. 

report See rationale Officers and Cabinet 
Portfolio Holder 

17/11/22 Climate Change, 
Planning & 
Housing Portfolio 
(Cllr A Mackiewicz) 

Reduce Solihull’s 
net carbon 
emissions 

7. Climate 
Change 
Supplementary 
Planning 
Document  
 
 

The report will provide the 
rationale for the Council’s Climate 
Change SPD and provide Members 
of the Scrutiny Board the 
opportunity to review and 
comment on the Councils policy 
document. The report will also 
address different uses and types of 
materials for housing construction 

report The Scrutiny 
Boards 
recommendatio
ns contributing 
to the SPD 
Planning 
Document 

Officers and Cabinet 
Portfolio Holder 

17/11/22 Climate Change, 
Planning & 
Housing Portfolio 
(Cllr A Mackiewicz) 

Reduce Solihull’s 
net carbon 
emissions 

8. Council 
Housing Asset 
Management 
Report 
 
 

Report from Fiona Hughes, Chief 
Executive SCH. 

report Review of 
Council Housing 
Asset 
Management 
arrangements 

SCH and Cabinet 
Portfolio Holder 

17/11/22 Climate Change, 
Planning & 
Housing Portfolio 
(Cllr A Mackiewicz) 

Increase the 
supply, quality & 
energy efficiency 
of housing, 
especially 
affordable and 
social housing 

  

 

P
age 175



Version 4.0_2022/23 
 

Topic /Issue 
 

Rationale Evidence Desired 
outcomes 

Resources Date to be 
Considered 

Cabinet Portfolio Solihull Council 
Plan Priorities 

2020-25 
9. Review of the 
Budget 
Framework for 
Portfolio’s 
pertinent to the 
Scrutiny Board 

To consider the 2022/23 budget 
proposals with relevant Cabinet 
Portfolio Holders in attendance 

 
 
 

report See rationale Yes – Internal – 
officers and Cabinet 
Portfolio Holders 

17/1/23 Economy Portfolio 
(Leader of the 
Council) 
& 
Environment & 
Infrastructure 
Portfolio  
(Cllr K Hawkins) 
& 
Climate Change, 
Planning & 
Housing Portfolio 
(Cllr A Mackiewicz) 

 

10. CIL Levy/ 
Section 106 
Arrangements 
(and Associated 
Changes in the 
Planning System) 
 
 
 

A formal report on Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
arrangements following completion 
of the national Planning Review and 
post Council Local Plan Enquiry, to 

incorporate the following issues:  
Uses of CIL for built development / 
infrastructure within the borough 
(e.g. provision of new schools, 

medical centres)  Comparison of 
CIL spend / allocation against 
allocated Community CIL fund 

spend in Wards  Outcomes of new 
CIL changes and impact on the 

borough  How is CIL funding spent 
across the borough / monitoring 
arrangements 

report See rationale Officers and Cabinet 
Portfolio Holder 

17/1/23 Climate Change, 
Planning & 
Housing Portfolio 
(Cllr A Mackiewicz) 

Enable 
communities to 
thrive 

11. Housing 
Strategy Report  

For the Scrutiny Board to consider 
any consultation responses and 

Report (john 
picher) 

See rationale Officers and Cabinet 
Portfolio Holder 

17/1/23 Climate Change, 
Planning & 

Increase the 
supply, quality & 

P
age 176



Version 4.0_2022/23 
 

Topic /Issue 
 

Rationale Evidence Desired 
outcomes 

Resources Date to be 
Considered 

Cabinet Portfolio Solihull Council 
Plan Priorities 

2020-25 
 
 

comment on the Draft Strategy 
prior to submission to Cabinet. 

Housing Portfolio 
(Cllr A Mackiewicz) 

energy efficiency 
of housing, 
especially 
affordable and 
social housing 

 

12. Delivering 
Inclusive Growth 
Strategy 
In Solihull  
 
 
 

To review delivery of the Council’s 
Inclusive Growth Strategy following 
the Scrutiny Boards initial 
consideration of the Strategy at the 
respective Scrutiny Board meetings 
held on 18/3/21 and 8/3/22 

See rationale See rationale To review delivery of 
the Inclusive Growth 
Strategy and related 
integrated growth 
strategies, social 
value and to input 
further policy 
recommendations 

13/3/23 Economy Portfolio 
(Leader of the 
Council) 

Take action to 
improve life 
chances and 
health outcomes 
in our most 
disadvantaged 
communities / 
Revitalising our 
towns and local 
centres / Enable 
communities to 
thrive 

13. UK Central 
(UKC) /Levelling 
Up National 
Agenda 
 
 

Review UK Central/HS2 
opportunities for the borough 
within the context of the national 
Levelling Up agenda 

report See rationale To review economic 
and growth 
opportunities 
presented by 
UKC/HS2 and the 
national Levelling Up 
agenda (and to 
recognise within the 
context of Inclusive 
Growth 
opportunities) 

13/3/23 Economy Portfolio 
(Leader of the 
Council) 

Deliver UK 
(Central) and 
maximise the 
opportunities of 
HS2 

14. Draft SCH 
Delivery Plan 
2023/24 

Review of the SCH draft Delivery 
Plan 2023/24 prior to its final 

report Scrutiny 
oversight 
undertaken and 

Yes – internal and 
SCH representation 

13/3/23 Adult Social Care 
and Health 
Portfolio 

Increase the 
supply, quality & 
energy efficiency 

P
age 177



Version 4.0_2022/23 
 

Topic /Issue 
 

Rationale Evidence Desired 
outcomes 

Resources Date to be 
Considered 

Cabinet Portfolio Solihull Council 
Plan Priorities 

2020-25 
 submission to the SCH Board for 

approval. 
contributions to 
the draft plan 
provided by the 
Scrutiny Board 

at the Scrutiny Board 
meeting 

(Cllr T Dicicco) of housing, 
especially 
affordable and 
social housing 

 
Agenda Items for Scheduling in 2022/23 

 

15. Air Quality 
Strategy Refresh  

Air Quality Strategy Refresh and supporting Engagement Plan at the pre-Cabinet decision, draft stage prior to 
submission to Full Cabinet (Assistant Director Public Health to advise the Scrutiny Board as regards timescales when confirmed for 
scheduling the report to the Scrutiny Board). 

Improve 
Solihull’s air 
quality 

16. Town 
Centres 
Framework 
Update Report 

To review progress, impact, and outcomes arising from the Town Centres Framework and for Members of the Scrutiny Board to 
contribute further to the on-going policy development for the Town Centres Framework. To Receive E-Mail Briefing  

Revitalising our 
towns and local 
centres  / Enable 
communities to 
thrive 

17. Low Carbon 
Energy Network  

To review progress. To Receive E-MAIL Briefing Reduce Solihull’s 
net carbon 
emissions 

 

 

 

P
age 178



 
AUDIT COMMITTEE 

 

 

20th JUNE 2022 
  

MINUTES 
 
Present 
 
 

Councillors: Mr T Beirne (Chairman), Mr M Burnett, Mr D Page, 
Councillor R Long 
 

 
Officers 
 
 
 
 
 

 
P Johnson: Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive 
J Robinson: Treasury and Corporate Accountant 
S Sparkes: Head of Audit 
M Wills: Health: Safety & Risk Manager 
A Patterson: Accountancy 
N Preece: External Auditor 
O Dodds: Audit Manager 
P Rogers: Democratic Services 
 
 

1.     CONFIRMATION OF ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN AND VICE CHAIRMAN 2022/23 

 
Mr T Beirne and Councillor R Long were confirmed unanimously as Chairman 
and Vice Chairman respectively for the Audit Committee for the 2022/23 
municipal year. 
 

2.      APOLOGIES 
 

No apologies were received. 
 

3.     DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY OR CONFLICTS OF INTEREST  
 

No questions or deputations were received. 
  

4.     QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS 
 

No questions or deputations were received. 
 

5. MINUTES  
 

The Audit Committee: 
 
RESOLVED: 
To agree the Minutes arising from the Audit Committee meeting held on 14 

March 2022 as a true record. 

      
6. VERBAL UPDATE FROM THE EXTERNAL AUDITOR  

 
The External Auditor reported the following matters: 
 

 Final accounts were due to be provided by the end of July 2022, but 
had already been provided. 

 The signing off of statutory requirements was required by the end of 
November 2022. 

Page 179

Agenda Item 13



 
AUDIT COMMITTEE 

 

 

 
Following receipt of the verbal update from the External Auditor, the Audit 
Committee:  
 
RESOLVED: 
To note the External Auditor’s verbal update. 

7.    INFORMING THE AUDIT RISK ASSESSMENT FOR SMBC 2021/22 
 

The report before the Audit Committee addressed important areas of the 
auditor risk assessment where the external auditors are required to make 
enquiries of the Council under auditing standards. 
 
The External Auditor stated that the exercise was helpful in contributing 
towards the Audit Plan.  The audit standards required questions to be asked to 
demonstrate the Council had appropriate control systems in place.  No 
significant concerns were raised by the external auditor as systems 
compliance had been generally assured and the responses were consistent 
with past years. 
 
The External Auditor highlighted the requirements of the risk assessment 
procedures undertaken, with specific regard to gaining an understanding of 
management processes and the Council’s oversight of the following areas: 
 

 General Enquiries of Management 

 Fraud 

 Laws and Regulations 

 Related Parties 

 Going Concern 

 Accounting Estimates 
 
The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive stated that the Annual 
Audit Risk Assessment Report was a useful means for identifying any 
potential key internal control gaps that needed to be addressed. 
 
Following questions raised by Members of the Audit Committee in relation to 
the report, the External Auditor confirmed that: 
 

 The Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) formed a key 
component of the Council’s Value for Money work.  The current rate of 
inflation could not have been predicted at the time the MTFS was 
drafted in December 2021 and, therefore, the role of the external 
auditor was to assess whether the projections made at that point in time 
were fair. 
 

 The range of the Council’s non-statutory services means that the 
statutory services are not currently at risk.  Non-statutory services 
would be looked at first for any budget reductions. 

 

 In respect of new procurement legislation following Brexit, the Council’s 
procurement strategy was embedded and appropriate. 

Page 180



 
AUDIT COMMITTEE 

 

 

 

 The Council’s facilitation of on-line learning and development 
opportunities for its employees over the past 2 years has proven to be 
beneficial, with all such training and development recorded and 
monitored. Since the advent of Covid-19, facilitation of on-line learning 
and training by employers has become a significant trend. 

 

 The External Auditors relationship to the Risk Register is one whereby 
the Risk Register is recognised as belonging to the Council, but is 
subject to review by the External Auditor. The Risk Register was also 
used to inform VfM work. 

 
Having considered the report, the Audit Committee:  
 
RESOLVED: 
 

(i) To note the External Auditor’s verbal update; and, 

 

(ii) To receive updates on the following matters at the Audit Committee 

meeting scheduled for 25th July 2022: 

 

 Serious Case Review (Children’s Services) 

 

 Liquid Logic Programme 

 

 Mell Square Development 

 
 

8. SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL AUDIT PLAN 
 
The External Auditor introduced the report, informing the Committee that it 
detailed the approach to delivering the audit of the Financial Statements for  
2021/22 and also key VFM risks. Key matters highlighted as having an impact 
on audit arrangements were MTFS risks, Children’s Services and Mell Square. 
 
The Committee was informed that the report reflected standard, professional 
auditing language. Presumed Significant Risks related to any fraudulent 
revenue transactions and fraudulent expenditure, with the terminology largely 
driven by the private sector. Although no such specific risks had been 
identified in the Council’s case, auditing guidelines require the External Auditor 
to assume that these risks exist. 
 
In respect of Management Over-Ride of Controls, this cannot be rebutted, with 
the onus on audit to prove that this was not the case, which was mainly done 
via reviewing Journals and the Ledger. Estimates made by Officers were also 
subject to audit review i.e. were they reasonable and appropriate estimates 
and judgements.  The Audit Committee was advised that historically, no such 
concerns had been found. 
 

Page 181



 
AUDIT COMMITTEE 

 

 

The Audit Committee was advised that Valuation of the Pension Fund Net 
Liability was a risk specific to all Local Authorities, which recognised the size 
of the pension fund liability and potential future swings in this area.  The audit 
opinion also took account of the work undertaken by the Actuaries and the 
WMCA Pension Fund in this field. Any changes can equate to hundreds of 
millions of pounds based on the Actuaries assumptions. 
 
Non-Current Assets related to land, equipment and buildings, which in the 
Council’s case amounted to over £500M.   
 
Investment Properties had a value of £17.5M, relating to properties held to 
generate income or for commercial reasons.  
 
Infrastructure Assets related to roads, buildings etc.  
 
Acquisition of Mell Square is a new category.   
 
Materiality in essence assessed how wrong the Council’s accounts would 
have to be before a reader of the accounts would form a different view on the 
accounts.  For the Council, this figure was £8M.  
 
In response to Audit Committee Members questions arising from the 
presentation, the Committee was informed that: 
 

 The External Auditors were informed directly by the Council of the 
impending purchase of Mell Square and had been provided with all of 
the reports submitted to Cabinet on the purchase details. It was not, 
however, the External Auditors role to pass judgement on Council 
policy decisions. 
 

 The purchase of Mell Square was approved in March 2021 and was 
acquired in April 2021.  It had been funded by borrowing at a fixed rate 
of 2.01%. 
 

 The External Auditors had reviewed the Council’s planned reserves and 
the MTFS over a 3-year period. 

 

 Contract management for the new Environmental Services Contract 
would be reviewed as part of the future Internal Audit Work Plan. 

 
The Audit Committee: 

 
RESOLVED: 
To note the report. 

 
 
 

9. TREASURY MANAGEMENT OUTTURN REPORT 2021/22 
  

Page 182



 
AUDIT COMMITTEE 

 

 

The report provided an annual report on the 2021/22 treasury management 
activities as required by the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management. 
 

The Audit Committee: 
 

RESOLVED: 
To Agree to RECOMMEND that Council approves the Treasury  

           Management Outturn Report 2021/22, attached at Appendix A to the      
           report. 
 
 

10.   RISK MANAGEMENT INFORMATION REPORT 
 

The Health, Safety & Risk Manager informed the Audit Committee that the 
Council operated a documented risk management policy, which monitored the 
effective development and operation of risk management and also considered 
compliance with Risk Management policy and procedure. 
 
Members attention was drawn to Appendix D: Corporate Risk Register. The 
format of the Risk Register had been reviewed and revised to include key risk 
categories as well as linking risks to the Council’s Corporate Priorities and 
detailing a designated Officer responsible for managing specific risks within 
their respective directorates. The Risk Register was regularly reviewed and 
updated. 
 
The Audit Committee: 
 
RESOLVED: 
To note the report. 
 
 

11.   EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 

The meeting was not open to the public during discussion of the following 
items because the report contained exempt information as defined in 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
 

12.   MINUTES 
 

The Audit Committee: 
 
RESOLVED: 
To agree the Private Minutes arising from the Audit Committee meeting held 
on 14th March 2022 as a true record. 
 

 
13.   RISK MANAGEMENT INFORMATION: APPENDIX D 

 
The Audit Committee: 

Page 183



 
AUDIT COMMITTEE 

 

 

 
RESOLVED: 
To note Appendix D: Corporate Risk Register.  
 

 
 
 

The Audit Committee meeting closed at 11:07 a.m. 

Page 184



  Appendix A 
 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT OUTTURN REPORT 2021/22 
 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 The Council is required through regulations issued under the Local Government Act 

2003 to produce an annual review of treasury management activities and the actual 
performance against prudential and treasury indicators for 2021/22.  This report meets 
the requirements of both the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management (the 
Code) and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the 
Prudential Code). 

 

1.2 During 2021/22 the minimum reporting requirements were that Full Council should 
receive the following reports: 

 

 an annual treasury strategy in advance of the year (Full Council 25/2/2021) 

 a mid-year treasury update report (Full Council 5/10/2021) 

 an annual report following the year describing the activity compared to the   
strategy (this report)  

 

1.3 In addition, quarterly treasury management update reports were received by Audit 
Committee. 

 

1.4 The regulatory environment places responsibility on Members for the review and 
scrutiny of treasury management policy and activities. This report is important in that 
respect, as it provides details of the outturn position for treasury activities and 
highlights compliance with the Council’s policies previously approved by Members.   

 

1.5 The Council also confirms that it has complied with the requirement under the Code to 
give prior scrutiny to all of the above treasury management reports. This role was 
performed by the Audit Committee before these reports were presented to Full Council.  

 
1.6 The Code also requires such information to allow the Audit Committee to monitor 

compliance with our approved Strategy and Policy Statement. 
 
1.7 Member training on treasury management was undertaken during the year in order to 

support members’ scrutiny role. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 185



2 Economic Background for 2021/22 (Source: Link Group) 
 

2.1 Over the last two years, the coronavirus outbreak has done huge economic damage 
to the UK and to economies around the world. After the Bank of England took 
emergency action in March 2020 to cut the official Bank Rate to 0.10%, it left this rate 
unchanged at its subsequent meetings until raising it to 0.25% at its meeting on 16th 
December 2021. This began a sequence of rate rises with the official Bank Rate 
increasing to 0.50% on the 4th of February 2022 and then to 0.75% in March 2022, 
with further rises expected during 2022/23. 

 

2.2 The UK economy has endured several false dawns through 2021/22, but with most of 
the economy now opened up and nearly back to business-as-usual, the Gross 
Domestic Product (GDP) numbers have been robust (9% year over year in Q1 2022) 
and sufficient for the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) to shift its focus to tackling the 
effects of inflation, now that the CPI measure has risen to record levels. 

 

2.3 Due to the record low Bank rate and continued market uncertainty, investment returns 
remained close to zero for much of 2021/22. The expectation for interest rates within 
the treasury management strategy for 2021/22 was that the Bank Rate would remain 
at 0.10% until it was clear to the Bank of England that the emergency level of rates 
introduced at the start of the Covid-19 pandemic were no longer necessitated. 

 

2.4 The Bank of England and the Government also maintained various monetary and fiscal 
measures, supplying the banking system and the economy with massive amounts of 
cheap credit so that banks could help cash-starved businesses to survive the various 
lockdowns/negative impact on their cashflow. The Government also supplied financial 
assistance to local authorities to pass on to businesses.  This meant that for most of 
the year there was much more liquidity in the financial markets than there was demand 
to borrow, with the consequent effect that investment earnings rates remained low until 
towards the turn of the year when inflation concerns indicated worldwide central banks, 
not just the Bank of England, would need to lift interest rates to combat the effects of 
growing levels of inflation. 

 

2.5 Gilt yields fell towards the back end of 2021, but despite inflation growth and global 
factors, gilt yields have risen quickly in early 2022. These rises have been part of a 
global trend as inflation concerns have risen and yields are likely to continue to rise 
through coming months as many central banks have suggested they will look to raise 
interest rates to contain inflation. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 186



 

 

 

 

3. Main Activities of the Treasury Management Function during 2021/22 
 
Overview 
 
3.1 The Council continues to adopt a cautious approach, which has been further 

strengthened by the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic, whereby investments continue 

to be dominated by low counterparty risk considerations, resulting in relatively low 
returns compared to borrowing rates. As a result of this the strategy for 2021/22 was 
to maintain an under borrowing position to avoid the cost of holding higher levels of 
investments and to reduce counterparty risk.   
 

3.2 The Council's investment policy and strategy enabled the authority to balance the 
overriding need for risk management and control with the desire to secure an 
acceptable return on its investments. Minimising risk is particularly pertinent and has 
been stated to be the prime objective by CIPFA in its Treasury Management Code of 
Practice. 

 
3.3 The Council engages Link Group as treasury consultants and part of their service is to 

advise on counterparties and credit ratings in formulating the approved investment list. 
Regular reviews of the list will ensure that it remains current, valid, and provides for a 
straightforward and workable limit structure. 

 
Borrowing and Debt Management Activity during 2021/22 
 
3.4 During April 2021, in the light of significant capital expenditure requirements, the 

Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive approved £40.000 million of 
borrowing through the Public Works Loans Board (PWLB). The Debt was taken at a 
rate of 2.01% (significantly lower than the Council’s average borrowing rate of 3.915% 
at the time) ensuring an affordable borrowing rate for key council capital schemes. 
  

3.5 In July 2021 £4.000 million of historic PWLB debt matured at a rate of 7.875%, this 
was taken into account at the time of the new borrowing detailed above and therefore 
no additional borrowing was taken to replace this debt. The saving made regarding the 
interest payments on this debt have been factored into the treasury management 
saving proposals.  

 
3.6 The average interest rate paid by the Council, for its borrowings, in 2021/22 was 

3.750%, a reduction of 0.165% from 2020/21. This reduction is due to the impact of 
the items referred to at 3.4 and 3.5 above. 

 
3.7 The maturity profile of the Council’s debt is shown in Appendix A1.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 187



 
 
 
4. Treasury Management Position Statement at 31st March 2022 

 
4.1 It should be noted that the accounting practice to be followed by the Council (CIPFA 

Code of Practice) requires financial instruments in the Statement of Accounts (debt 
and investments etc.) to be measured in a method compliant with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The figures in this report are based on the 
principal amounts borrowed and invested and so may differ from those in the Council’s 
Statement of Accounts by items such as accrued interest.  

 

Investments 
 

4.2 The value of all investments held by the Council are shown in the table below: 
 

                                                                
 

 31 March 
2021      

£m           

 31 March 
2022      

£m           

Council Shareholdings 
Birmingham Airport Holdings Ltd: 
Ordinary Shares 

 
 

9.870 

 
 

10.105 
Preference Shares 1.176 1.176 

 11.046 11.281 

   

Coventry & Solihull Waste Disposal Company Ltd 28.633 29.000 

   

Mell Square Ltd* 0.000 0.000 

   

Sherbourne Recycling Ltd** 0.000 0.146 

   

Total Shareholdings 39.679 40.427 

   
Treasury Management Investments   
Long Term Investments   
Fixed Term Investments (>365 Days): 0.000 0.000 

 0.000 0.000 

Short Term Investments 
Fixed Term Investments (<365 Days): 
Money Market and Call Accounts 

 
63.000 

8.518 

 
89.500 
12.700 

 71.518 102.200 

   

Total Treasury Management Investments 71.518 102.200 

   

* The 2021/22 valuation for Mell Square is still being finalised so cannot be included 
at the time of this report. 
** The 2021/22 valuation for Sherbourne Recycling Limited is draft only at the time of 
writing this report. 
Both companies were set up or acquired during 2021/22 

 

 
 

 

 

 
Page 188



 

4.3 Performance of investments during 2021/22 
 

4.4 The performance of investments (yield achieved) during 2021/22  is summarised 
below: 

 

Investment return  0.095% 

Average 2021/22 SONIA1 rate  0.142% 

 
4.5 Investment Policy - The Council’s investment policy is governed by the Department 

of Levelling Up, Housing & Communities (DLUHC) Guidance, which has been adopted 
in the Annual Investment Strategy approved by Full Council. This policy sets out the 
approach for choosing investment counterparties and is based on credit ratings 
provided by the three main credit rating agencies supplemented by additional market 
data (such as rating outlooks, credit default swaps, bank share prices etc.). The 
investment activity during the year conformed to the approved strategy, and the 
Council had no liquidity difficulties. 
 

4.6 Investments held by the Council - The Council maintained an average balance of 
£110.034 million of internally managed funds and received an average return of 
0.095%. The initial budget for 2021/22 assumed a return for in-house investments of 
0.100% in line with interest rate forecasts at the time. The impact of this decrease is 
approximately £6,000 less interest being received in 2021/22 compared to the original 
target. This reduction has been met within the overall treasury management position. 

 
 

 

Borrowings 

4.7 The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) shows the Council’s underlying need to 
borrow for a capital purpose, and this is a gauge for the Council’s debt position. The 
CFR results from the 2021/22 unfinanced capital activity and prior years’ net 
unfinanced capital expenditure which has not yet been paid for by revenue or other 
resources. 

4.8 Whilst under treasury management arrangements actual debt can be borrowed or 
repaid at any time within the confines of the annual treasury strategy, the Council is 
required to make an annual revenue charge to reduce the CFR – effectively   a 
repayment of the non-housing (HRA) borrowing need, or a repayment of principal 
amount.  

4.9 There is no statutory requirement to reduce the HRA CFR. This differs from the 
treasury management arrangements which ensure that cash is available to meet 
capital commitments.  

 

 

 

 

 

                                                 
1 SONIA is the weighted average deposit rate for overnight trades of counterparties with very high 

creditworthiness. This was used as the benchmark rate of return for 2021/22. Page 189



4.10 This statutory charge is called the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). The total CFR 
can also be reduced by: 

 

 the application of additional capital financing resources (such as unapplied 
capital receipts); or 

 charging more than the statutory revenue charge (MRP) each year through a 
Voluntary Revenue Provision (VRP). 

 

4.11 The Council's 2021/22 MRP Policy (as required by MHCLG Guidance) was approved 
as part of the Corporate Capital Strategy. 

4.12 The Council’s CFR for the year is shown below and represents a key prudential  
indicator. The CFR includes Private Finance Initiatives (PFI) and leasing schemes, 
which increase the Council’s borrowing needs. No borrowing is actually required 
against these schemes as a borrowing facility is included in the contract. 

 
 

 31 March 
2021 

£m  

31 March 
2022 

£m  

Opening Balance 436.957 439.193 

+  Unfinanced capital 
expenditure 

14.519 41.903 

-/+  net adjustments for PFI & 
Finance Lease  

(3.126) (3.438) 

- MRP/VRP/Other (9.157) (9.069) 

Closing Balance 439.193 468.589 
 

4.13 Borrowing activity is constrained by prudential indicators for net borrowing, the CFR, 
and the Authorised Limit. 

 

4.14 The Council had actual borrowings of:  
 
 

 31 March 
2021 

£m 

31 March 
2022 

£m 

Long Term Borrowing   

Public Works Loan Board (PWLB)           250.948 290.567 

Other Long Term Loans       25.000       25.000 

Dudley & Walsall (Former WMCC Debt) 4.747 3.732 

Total Long Term Borrowings 280.695 319.299 

   

Short Term Borrowing   

Public Works Loan Board (PWLB)           4.367 0.380 

Dudley & Walsall (Former WMCC Debt) 0.926 1.015 

Total Short Term Borrowing 5.293 1.395 
   

Total Borrowing                                                     285.988 320.694 

   
 

 

Page 190



4.15 The maturity profile of the Council's borrowing (excluding former WMCC debt) at 31 
March 2022 is shown below*: 

 
 £m % 

Under 12 months 15.380 4.9% 

12 months to 2 years 0.394 0.1% 

2 years to 5 years 5.273 1.7% 

5 years to 10 years 6.457 2.0% 

10 years to 20 years 16.179 5.1% 

20 years to 30 years 41.898 13.3% 

30 years to 40 years 142.566 45.1% 

40 years to 50 years 87.800 27.8% 

50 years and above 0.000 0.0% 
Total 315.947 100.0 

 
*This profile will differ from that on the Council’s Accounting Statement due to the 
Prudential Code’s requirement that Lender’s Option, Borrower’s Option (LOBO) loans 
are shown as maturing at their next call date in the above. 
 

4.16 Interest payments/receipts during 2021/22 can be identified over the following 
categories. 

 
 £m 

Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) 10.434    

Other Long Term Loans  1.137 

Dudley & Walsall (Former WMCC Debt) 0.286 

Other interest payments  0.020 

Total Interest Payments 11.877 

Less:  

Investment Receipts   (3.772) 
  

Net interest payable 8.105 

 

4.17 Total debt management costs incurred during 2021/22 amounted to £162,637 of which 
the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) paid £66,894. 

 

5 Prudential Indicators and Compliance Issues 
 

5.1 The Council is required by the Prudential Code to report the outturn prudential 
indicators after the year end. Appendix A2 provides a schedule of all the mandatory 
prudential indicators. Certain indicators provide either an overview or a limit on treasury 
activity, and these are shown below.  

 

5.2 Gross Borrowing and the CFR - In order to ensure that borrowing levels are prudent 
over the medium term and only for a capital purpose, the Council should ensure that 
its gross external borrowing does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of the 
capital financing requirement in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional 
capital financing requirement for the current and next two financial years.  This 
essentially means that the Council is not borrowing to support revenue expenditure. 
The table below highlights the Council’s gross borrowing position against the CFR. 
The Council has complied with this prudential indicator.  

 

 

 
 

Page 191



 2021/22 
Original 

Indicator  
£m 

2021/22 
Latest 

Indicator  
£m 

2021/22 
Outturn 

 £m 

Capital Financing Requirement 505.948 492.292 468.589 

Gross borrowing position 408.169 394.513 370.869 

Under/(Over) Borrowing   97.779 97.779   97.720 

 
5.3 Gross borrowing is made up of the sum of the Council’s actual long and short term 

PWLB & market debt, plus its outstanding liabilities in respect of PFI and lease 
contracts.  

 

5.4 The Authorised Limit -The Authorised Limit is the “affordable borrowing limit” required 
by s3 of the Local Government Act 2003. The Council does not have power to borrow 
above this level. The table demonstrates that during 2021/22 the Council has 
maintained gross borrowing within the Authorised Limit. 
 

5.5 The Operational Boundary -The Operational Boundary is the expected borrowing 
position of the Council during the year. Periods where the actual position is either 
below or over the boundary are acceptable subject to the Authorised Limit not being 
breached.  
 

 2021/22 
Original 

Indicator  
£m 

2021/22 
Latest 

Indicator  
£m 

2021/22 
Outturn 

 £m 

Authorised Limit 523.714 510.788 370.869 

Operational Boundary 450.000 440.000 370.869 

 

Page 192



Appendix A1 

 
Debt Maturity Profile as at 31st March 2022 
 
The graph below indicates the amount of Solihull’s long term debt that matures in each year 
over time. The portfolio is structured so that debt will be spread across a wide time span in 
order to minimise the Council’s refinancing risk. The CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital 
Finance in Local Authorities requires the Council’s variable market debts to be shown at 
their next ‘call’ date (the time at which the lender next has the option to alter the interest 
rate), rather than the actual maturity date. 

 
 

Page 193



Appendix A2 
 
Prudential Indicators and Limits for 2021/22 
 
The CIPFA Prudential Code requires Local Authorities to set a number of Prudential 
Indicators and limits as part of its annual Treasury Management Strategy to ensure that 
borrowing remains affordable. The following tables show the outturn position against the 
Prudential Indicators that were set as part of the 2021/22 Corporate Capital and Treasury 
Management Strategy as agreed by Full Council. Prudential Indicators give an indication of 
the expected position at the end of the year. Ordinarily, limits set should not be breached, 
and any breaches will be reported to Members. 
 
Treasury Management Prudential Indicators  
 
 2021/22 

Original 
Indicator £m 

2021/22 
Latest 

Indicator 
£m 

2021/22 
Outturn 

£m 

Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) 
Housing 

Non-Housing 
Other Long-Term Liabilities 

Total 

 
178.234 
277.539 

50.175 
505.948 

 

177.504 
264.613 

50.175 
492.292 

 
172.012 
246.402 
  50.175 
468.589 

Gross Debt 
Borrowing 

Other Long Term Liabilities 
Total Gross Debt  

 
357.994 

50.175 
408.169 

 
344.338 

50.175 
394.513 

 
320.694  

50.175 
370.869 

Capital Expenditure Plans 
Non Housing  

Housing 
Total 

 
Capital Receipts 

Capital Grants 
Contributions 

Revenue 
Net financing need for the year 

 
89.683 

   25.724  
   115.407  

 
(0.973) 

(26.695) 
(3.235) 

(20.734) 
63.770 

 
112.656 

25.094 
137.750 

 
(1.045) 

(42.214) 
(4.600) 

(21.304) 
68.587 

 
72.000 
21.568 
93.568 

 
(5.611) 

(24.312) 
(1.489) 

(20.253) 
41.903 

Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream 
Housing 

Non-Housing 

 
16.99% 
12.38% 

 
16.99% 
12.18% 

 
17.39% 
12.07% 

Incremental impact of capital investment 
decisions on Band D council tax (notional) 

 
£33.59 

 
£33.59 

 
£25.91 

Incremental impact of capital investment 
decisions on the housing rent levels (notional) 

 
£38.04 

 
£38.04 

 
£1.84 

 
In addition to the above, the Council is required as a prudential indicator to: 

   

 Adopt the CIPFA Code of Practice. 

 Ensure that over the medium term borrowing will only be for a capital purpose (i.e. 
net external borrowing is less than CFR). 

 
The Council is compliant with these indicators. 
 
 
 

Page 194



Treasury Management Limits 
 

 2021/22 
Latest 

Approved 
Limit 

£m 

2021/22 
Outturn  

£m 

Breaches 
of Limit 

Authorised Limit  (against outturn CFR) 510.788 370.869 None 

Operational Boundary (against outturn gross 
debt) 

440.000 370.869 None 

Upper limit on borrowing at fixed rates of interest None None None 

Upper limit on borrowing at variable rates of 
interest 

30% 4.75% None 

Maturity structure of fixed rate borrowing against 
maximum position  

   
 
None 
 
 

Under 12 months 20% 4.9% 
12 months to 2 years 20% 0.1% 

2 years to 5 years 50% 1.7% 
5years to 10 years 50% 2.0% 

10 years to 20 years 60% 5.1% 
20 years to 30 years 60% 13.3% 
30 years to 40 years 80% 45.1% 
40 years to 50 years 80% 27.8% 
50 years and above 80% 0.0% 

Maximum principal funds invested for longer than 
365 days 

15.000 0.000 None 

Housing Revenue Account Debt Limit (against 
HRA CFR) 

191.000 172.012 None 

 

Page 195



This page is intentionally left blank



 
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE - 23 June 2022 

 
 

 

 

MINUTES 
 
 
Present: Councillors: M Allen, S Ashraf MBE, R Grinsell, P Hogarth MBE (Chairman), 

Mrs D Holl-Allen MBE, J O'Nyons, W Qais and S Rymer 
 

Officers: Adrian Cattell, Head of Human Resources 
Helen Flinter, Policy Development and HR Business Manager 
Deborah Merry, Head of Legal and Democratic Services 
 

  
 

1. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN AND VICE-CHAIRMAN OF THE COMMITTEE FOR 
2022-23  
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That Councillor P Hogarth MBE be elected Chairman of the Committee and 
that Cllr R Grinsell be elected Vice-Chairman of the Committee for the 2022 - 
23 civic year. 

 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 

3. QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS  
 
There were no questions or deputations. 
 

4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

5. MINUTES  
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 29th March 2022 be approved as a 
correct record. 

 

6. APPOINTMENT PANEL FOR RECRUITMENT OF DIRECTOR OF CHILDRENS 
SERVICES  
 
The Head of Human Resources advised that in accordance with Standing Orders 48 
and 49 of the Council’s Constitutional Standing Orders, the Committee was required to 
establish an Appointment Panel to discharge the process of appointment of a new 
Director of Childrens Services.  
 

RESOLVED: 
 

i) That an Appointment Panel be established comprised of Councillors M 
Allen, I Courts, M Gough, K Grinsell, L McCarthy, M McLoughlin and R 
Sleigh; and 

 

Page 197



 
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE - 23 June 2022 

 
 

 

 

ii) The Panel be authorised to discharge the process of appointment of a 
Director of Childrens Services in accordance with Standing Orders 48 
and 49, subject to confirmation of the appointment by Full Council. 

 

7. CARERS POLICY  
 
The Policy Development & HR Business Manager presented a revised Carers Policy 
and supporting guidance notes, which had been reviewed in line with Smarter Ways of 
Working principles. 
 
She explained the main changes to the Policy, which were set out in paragraph 3.6 of 
the report, and she responded to questions from members. 
 
She confirmed that key stakeholders from Human Resources, Equality & Diversity, the 
Organisational Wellbeing Lead and the Employee Carer Network Forum had been 
consulted on the proposed changes, as well as the Trade Unions. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the revised Carers Policy be approved. 

 

8. LEAVE OF ABSENCE POLICY  
 
The Policy Development & HR Business Manager presented a revised Leave of 
Absence Policy, which had been reviewed to incorporate the additional flexibility 
offered to employees through working in a hybrid way.  The revised Policy also 
included updates that built on the Council’s Employee Wellbeing offer, one of the 
Council’s key business priorities. 
  
She explained the main changes to the Policy, which were set out in paragraphs 3.3 
and 3.4 of the report, and she responded to questions from members. 
 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the revised Leave of Absence Policy be approved. 

 

9. APPOINTMENT OF HONORARY ALDERMAN  
 
The Head of Legal and Democratic Services presented her report and advised that a 
nomination had been received proposing former Councillor Mr Stuart Davis for 
enrolment as an Honorary Alderman. 
 
She confirmed that the criteria in the Council’s scheme for appointment of Honorary 
Aldermen were met.  Members of the Committee were satisfied that the nominee had 
made a significant contribution to the Council and the people it represents and had an 
exemplary record as representative of the Council. 
 

RECOMMENDED: 
 
1.  That the nomination relating to Mr Stuart Davis be accepted, and 
 

Page 198



 
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE - 23 June 2022 

 
 

 

 

2. A Special meeting of the Council be convened immediately prior to the 
scheduled meeting on 11th October 2022 to confer on Mr Davis the title of 
Honorary Alderman of the Borough of Solihull. 

 
 
 

The meeting closed at 6.40 pm 

Page 199



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Meeting date: 5 July 2022 

 

Report to: Council 

Subject/report 
title: 

APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN'S SERVICES 

Report from: Nick Page 

Chief Executive 

npage@solihull.gov.uk 

Report 
author/lead 
contact officer: 

Deborah Merry 

Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

 

 
Wards affected:  

☒ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood | 

☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle | 

☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South | 

☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege 

Public/private 
report: 

Public 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

1.1 To seek Council approval to designate an officer as the statutory Director of Children’s 
Services.     

2. Decision(s) recommended 

2.1 That the recommendation of the Appointment Panel regarding an appointment to the 
position of Director of Children’s Services in accordance with Section 18 (1) of the 
Children Act 2004, be formally approved by Council. 

3. Matters for Consideration 

3.1 Section 18 (1) of the Children Act 2004 places a duty on all Children’s Services 
Authorities in England to appoint a Director for Children’s Services (DCS). The 
appointment of the Director of Children’s Services is not a function of the executive 
and therefore the decision must be made by full Council. 

3.2 The Council currently has an interim Director of Children’s Services in post and an 
Appointment Panel has been established by the Governance Committee to progress 
the recruitment of a permanent Director.  

3.3 The Appointment Panel is comprised of Councillors M Allen, I Courts, M Gough, K 
Grinsell, L McCarthy, M McLoughlin and R Sleigh OBE. 

Page 201

Agenda Item 15



 

 
 

3.4 The Appointment Panel will be interviewing candidates on 30th June 2022 and the 
Panel’s recommendation will be circulated at the Council meeting. 

4. Background papers used to compile this report 

4.1 None 

Page 202



 

 
 

 

 
Meeting date: 
 
Report to: 
 
Subject/report title:  
 
 
 
 
Report from: 
 
Report author/lead 
contact officer:   

5th July 2022 
 
Council 
 
Council Appointment – University Hospital  
Birmingham NHS Foundation Trust 
 
Chief Executive  
 
Deborah Merry, Head of Legal 
and Democratic Services and 
Monitoring Officer

 
Wards affected:  

☒ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood | 

☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle | 

☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South | 

☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege 

 
Public/private report:  Public  

1. Purpose of Report 

1.1 Council is asked to appoint one member as a stakeholder governor to the Council of 
Governors of the University Hospitals Birmingham NHS Foundation Trust. 

2. Decision(s) recommended 

2.1 That a member of the Council is nominated for appointment to the University Hospitals 
Birmingham NHS Foundation Trust. 

3. Matters for Consideration 

3.1 At the annual Council meeting in May 2022 Cllr Martin McCarthy was appointed as a 
stakeholder governor to the Council of Governors of University Hospitals Birmingham 
NHS Foundation Trust. 

3.2 Cllr McCarthy has subsequently been advised by the Trust’s Chief Legal Officer that 
the Trust’s constitution disqualifies a member from being a Governor of the Trust if 
they are a member of a local authority Scrutiny Committee concerned with health 
matters. 

3.3 As Cllr McCarthy is Chairman of the Council’s Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny 
Board he is ineligible to continue as a Governor and the Council is requested to 

Page 203



 

 
 

appoint a new stakeholder governor to replace Cllr McCarthy. 

 

4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 
them? 

4.1 The Council could choose not to make an appointment.   

5. Implications and Considerations 

5.1 State how the proposals in this report contribute to the priorities in the Council Plan: 

Priority: Contribution: 

Economy: 

1. Revitalising our towns and local 
centres. 

2. Deliver UK Central (UKC) and maximise 
the opportunities of HS2. 

3. Increase the supply, quality and energy 
efficiency of housing, especially 
affordable and social housing. 

      

Environment: 

4. Enhance Solihull’s natural and physical 
environment. 

5. Improve Solihull’s air quality. 
6. Reduce Solihull’s net carbon emissions. 

Click here to enter text. 

People and Communities: 

7. Take action to improve life chances and 
health outcomes in our most 
disadvantaged communities. 

8. Enable communities to thrive. 
9. Sustainable, quality care and support 

for adults & children with complex 
needs. 

Supports the health of our communities. 

10. Promote employee wellbeing Click here to enter text. 

5.2 Consultation and Scrutiny: 

5.2.1 None 

5.3 Financial implications: 

5.3.1 There are no direct costs arising from this decision.   

Page 204

https://www.solihull.gov.uk/About-the-Council/The-Council-plan


 

 
 

5.4 Legal implications: 

5.4.1 None 

5.5 Risk implications: 

5.5.1 None 

5.6 Equality implications: 

5.6.1 None 

5.6.2 None 

6. List of appendices referred to 

6.1 None 

7. Background papers used to compile this report 

7.1 None 

8. List of other relevant documents 

8.1 None 

Page 205



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 207

Agenda Item 19
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 211

Agenda Item 20
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Council Minutes
	Council minutes May

	11 Reports from Cabinet (7:10pm)
	1. council update regarding CABINET
	1.1 Purpose of Report
	1.2 Background
	1.2.1 This report highlights some of those decisions which have been made, but not all. Members wishing to view all decisions made can find these at http://eservices.solihull.gov.uk/mgInternet/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
	1.2.2 Attached to this report are the lists of decisions made.

	1.3 Decision – 19 May 2022
	1.3.1 Energy Rebate Discretionary Scheme – Cabinet reviewed and approved the Council’s Energy Bill Rebate Discretionary Scheme policy, intended to provide support to households not eligible for the main council tax rebate scheme. Eligibility criteria ...
	1.3.2 It was agreed that the Cabinet Member for Resources in conjunction with the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive be authorised to make any changes necessary to the policy to ensure all the funding for the discretionary scheme is allo...

	1.4 Decisions – 16 June 2022
	1.4.1 Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021/22 Final Outturn (31 March 2022) – Members were provided with the Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) financial position as at 31 March 2022 incorporating the revenue, capital, reserves and Covid-19 final ou...
	1.4.2 Approval was given to the 2020/21 General Fund Revenue Accounts final position, including the endorsement of budget movements undertaken in the final quarter. Members approved contributions to the Children’s Services Risk Reserve, the Severance ...
	1.4.3 Approval was also given to the creation of a new Hospital Discharge Reserve within the Adult Social Care and Health portfolio and the creation of a new Fairer Futures Fund Reserve as well as contributions to the Budget Strategy Reserve.
	1.4.4 The re-allocation of the Placemaking Fund Reserve to a Planting for the Future Reserve was approved and it was agreed for the annual budgeted contribution to the Recycling Projects Reserve to be removed.
	1.4.5 The continuation of the Budget Strategy Group for the 2023/24 Budget Framework and MTFS for 2023/24 to 2025/26 was endorsed.
	1.4.6 Risk Management Information Report – Cabinet was provided with an annual update on the Council’s corporate risk register. It was noted that the total number of corporate risks had dropped to 15, this included 3 corporate net red risks. Members n...


	CPH Leader's Economy  Report to Full Council_July 2022 FINAL
	DT Cabinet May
	DT Cabinet June
	Deputy Leader and HWBB Full Council Report 05 July 2022 - FINAL
	Health and Wellbeing Board minutes - 14th June 22 v3
	Cllr Sleigh - 5 July 22 Full Council
	DT CPH Res April
	CPH Report Communities   Leisure - FINAL
	CPH Climate Change Planning  Housing - 5th July 2022 Final draft sd (002) PW
	CPH Report Cllr Gough Full Council 5th July 2022
	CPH  EI FC Report FINAL
	DT CPH EN & Inf April
	DT CPH En&Inf June
	ASCH - CPH  Report for Full Council 5 July 2022 FINALtd
	CPH DT ASCH April 2022

	12 Minutes of Scrutiny Boards (7:40pm)
	Minutes
	RDVScrutiny Board_Minutes_ 060622_PJ_FINAL
	RDVSB_WorkProgramme_ 2022-23 _Post 5 June Scrutiny AND COUNCIL PLAN CHANGES
	Children's Services Education and Skills Scrutiny Board - minutes 6th April 22 v2
	CSESSB Minutes - 9th June 2022 v2
	Children Education  Skills Work Plan Template 2022-23 Appendix
	SCNSSB Scrutiny Board 7 June 2022 Public Minutes no private
	Stronger Communities and Neighbourhood Services Scrutiny Board Work Plan - 2022 2023 v5.1 Approved June 2022
	HASC SB 8 June
	HASCSB draft workplan 12.04.22 V2 (002)
	EconomicDevelopment&ManagedGrowthScrutinyBoard130622
	EconomicDevelopment&ManagedGrowthScrutinyBoard_Work Programme_2022-23_V4.0

	13 Minutes of Committees (7:40pm)
	Audit Appendix
	Governance Minutes 23 June 2022

	15 Chief Executive Reports (7:50pm)
	CE Report University Hospitals Birmingham NHS Foundation Trust

	19 Report from the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive
	20 Private Minutes

